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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)

™ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Commission File Number 001-33520

COMSCORE, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Chenjt

Delaware 54-1955550
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) Identification Number)

11950 Democracy Drive, Suite 600
Reston, Virginia 20190
(Address of Principal Executive Offices)
(703) 438-2000
(Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dhe Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tfie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 40%edBéturities Act.  YesM No O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yes[ No M

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Secti or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for suahrteh period that the registrant was requiredleoduch reports), and (2) has been subject to such
filing requirements for the past 90 days. YB&% No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant n@smstted electronically and posted on its corpokiiib site, if any, every Interactive Data F
required to be submitted and posted pursuant te 8 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapderjng the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was requireslitumit and post such files). Y&l No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinqulers pursuant to Item 405 of RegulatiorkS8229.405 of this chapter) is not contained hg
and will not be contained, to the best of regidtsaknowledge, in definitive proxy or informatiotesements incorporated by reference in Part lll of
this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlezge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer | Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer O (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Brgje Act). Yes[] No ™

The aggregate market value of the registrant'sngosind non-voting common equity held by non-affdgof the registrant on June 30, 2014, the
last business day of the registrant’s most recartttypleted second fiscal quarter, was approxim&#]210.9 million (based on the closing sales
price of the registrant’s common stock as repopiethe NASDAQ Global Select Market on that datdlai®s of the registrant's common stock held
by each officer and director and each person whasawore than 10% or more of the outstanding comstmek of the registrant have been excluded



in that such persons may be deemed to be affiliatds determination of affiliate status is not essarily a conclusive determination for other
purposes.

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of e&teaegistrant’s classes of common stock, ab®latest practicable date: As of February 19,
2015, there were 34,118,719 shares of the regi&reommon stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Specified portions of the registrant’'s Proxy Stagatrwith respect to its 2015 annual meeting ofldtolders, anticipated to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission no later th@dags following the registrant’s fiscal year endetember 31, 2014 , are incorporated by
reference in Part lll of this annual report on FArtaK.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT S

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the “Ma@ment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Gioord and Results of Operations”
section in Item 7 of this report, and other matkriaccompanying this Annual Report on Form 10-Ktainforward-looking statements within the
meaning of and safe harbor provided by Section @fiffie Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amemaetSection 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended. We attempt, whenever possilitieritify these forward- looking statements by wmdch as “intends,” “will,” “plans,”
“anticipates,” “expects,” “may,” “estimates,” “believes,” “should,” “projects,” or “continue,” or the negative of those words and other compai
words. Similarly, statements that describe our hess$ strategy, goals, prospects, opportunitiedpolit objectives, plans or intentions are also
forward-looking statements. These statements may relabeit@re not limited to, expectations of futureigiing results or financial performance,
benefits and expectations regarding strategic parghips and alliances, capital expenditures, intrctibn of new products, regulatory compliance,
plans for growth, expected economic conditions, famate operations, as well as assumptions relatmthe foregoing

”ou ”ou

These statements are based on current expectatimhassumptions regarding future events and busipegormance and involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors tialy cause actual events or results to be matgriifferent from any future events or results
expressed or implied by these statements. Thetedaaclude those set forth in the following dission and within Item 1A “Risk Factors” of this
Annual Report on Form -K and elsewhere within this report.

You should not place undue reliance on these fati@oking statements, which apply only as of thte d@é this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
You should carefully review the risk factors ddsed in other documents that we file from timenwetivith the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC. Except as required by applee&, including the rules and regulations of tleCSwe do not plan to publicly update or re\
any forward-looking statements, whether as a residtny new information, future events or otherwigber than through the filing of periodic
reports in accordance with the Securities Exchafigeof 1934, as amended.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We provide trusted, independent data, metrics,ymtsdand services to clients in the media, adwegtignd marketing industries. We deliver
digital media analytics that help content ownerd advertisers understand--and thus properly vah®eomposition of consumer media audiences,
and we help marketers understand the performarteféectiveness of advertising targeted at theskeaces.

We are a technology-driven company that measures pdgople do as they navigate the digital worldsemultiple technology platforms and
devices including smartphones, tablets, televisiand desktop computers. Our technology measuresiater interactions with digital media,
including Web sites, apps, video programming anegising.

We combine proprietary comScore data with our tfleown data and data from partners, to providejuely valuable digital media analytics.
We deliver on-demand and real-time products andcs through a scalable Software-as-Service dglivedel which supports both comScore
branded products and also partner products infagrabmScore data and services. During the yeazdBdcember 31, 2014ve provided service
approximately 2,550 customers worldwide with owdxt geographic base of employees located in 3Zidosain 24 countries.

Our Opportunity

comScore was founded on the thesis that digitanelogy would transform the interactions betweeopte, media, and brands and
subsequently generate demand for data and anafytas these interactions. Data about these consnteeactions has become a critical source of
business intelligence to a wide range of companigading content publishers, broadcasters, constmznds, network operators, and advertising
agencies. Continued growth in digital devices, comsr access and usage of digital content and ssnand spending on digital advertising and
marketing create the need for our products andcserv

We see three mega-trend drivers of the digital meadd advertising ecosystem’s evolution. Firstrépd emergence of the multi-platform,
crossmedia consumer who interacts with digital conterd advertising across multiple devices and platiimdifferent ways depending on the t
of device, their demographic characteristics, gaplgy, and time of day. Second, the ubiquity of @idad television reaching consumers through
digital channels demands that television audieneasurement account for all viewing across all des/iéd\s consumers consume media across
multiple platforms and television viewing also emga to digital, advertising to audiences becomesernomplex and fragmented. Brand marketers
and their agencies for hire, need trusted dateaaatytics to understand how best to reach targeiadumers in a fragmented digital landscape while
content owners such as publishers and broadcastedsdigital media analytics to understand howetst monetize their audience and assets. These
forces give rise to a third key trend, the autooratif advertising transactions and data-driven gprenmatic” buying and selling of digital
advertising.

As we pursue our mission of making audiences andréiding more valuable, our strategy has beendedwn leveraging the data assets,
partnerships, and client relationships which gisestrong competitive position at the intersectibthese trends. We have focused on expandin
cross-media services which combine digital andvisien measurement, extending the reach and diffext@on of our flagship advertising offering,
Validated Campaign Essentials (vVCE), and workedtegrate comScore data and services into a witlgeraf third-party platforms. These strategic
efforts have occurred in the context of continnakistment in research and development, corporgtgisaions, and strategic partnerships.

Our investments and innovation have been focusezhwerging digital media trends. In 2008, we acqlimobile-focused measurement
company M:Metrics, adding metered-smartphone paoedsir data collection assets. In 2009, we expauhdgond panel-based data collection and
began building the comScore Census NetworkTM afe¢dg/Neb sites and apps, providing a rich data cemght to our person-centric panels. We
accelerated the development and expanded the dlwdtakint of the comScore Census Network withdlkquisition of the Latin American analytics
firm Certifica in 2009 and European analytics fikedStat in 2010. In 2011, we acquired the ad aiiion company, AdXpose, to provide additic
technology and talent required to provide rémle advertising analytics. In 2014, we acquiredeatising technology company mDot Labs, to proy
technology and data science expertise to enhamadisimovery of non-human and fraudulent digitaffica

Strategic partnerships have been a key to our ss@& innovation. In 2012, in partnership withitkdm and ESPN, we initiated the first five-
platform measurement effort, “Project Bluepring”deliver digital media analytics across televisiamartphone, tablet, PC, and radio. In early 2014,
we entered into strategic agreements with GoogleYahoo to integrate our real-time advertising offg into their advertising management
platforms. Toward the end of 2014, we entered $igaificant
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partnerships with Pandora to ingest demographarimftion about mobile consumers to improve our petaland with Datalogix to incorporate their
consumer segmentation data into our advertisindymiosuite.

In February 2015, we announced that we would entengterm, global strategic partnership with Kantar, da¢éa investment management :
of WPP, to jointly deliver crossiedia audience and campaign measurement in marksisle the United States. Working together, weeekpe abl
to combine digital media and video with televisiata to deliver new cross-media capabilities andpets across the globe. This partnership is
subject to the completion of certain conditionslhusing that we expect resolved in early secondtqua015.

Digital Media Analytics

Traditional media research approaches have ofteuren “single source” data collected exclusivielym a panel of consumers under study-to
provide insight. The fragmentation of media deljwplatforms and consumer consumption of media éndigital age, requires a fundamentally
different approach that first and foremost musbneile and unify multiple data observations intooherent set of digital media analytics. Our digita
media analytics products and services are buittigital measurement and analytics platforms coreplrisf proprietary databases, internally
developed software, and a computational infrastinecthat measures, analyzes and reports on digitizity. With our technology, scale, analytical
software sophistication, access to digital censuig, dur panel data and big data and researchierpey we are positioned to identify critical trend
and provide actionable insights to our customers.

Data Collection

Data collected through a variety of sources andmm@aovides the inputs used to produce digital madalytics:
*  We collect data from consumer panels of PCetalind smartphone owners who have agreed tolipstdive metering software on
their devices and/or their home network.
*  We collect data from our census network produnedomScore software code content owners haveeimgahted on Web sites and in
mobile applications.
»  We collect data from digital advertising campagvhich have incorporated comScore software aogiiemented by advertisers and
agencies.
* We conduct consumer surveys to gather informatiat easily obtainable through passive behavibedsurement and to enumerate
populations under study.
*  Through partnershig
«  We integrate set-top-box and third party pamehdfor example television data from the ArbitRersonal People Meter
panel, and
* We integrate datasets with consumer demographmacteaistics, attitudes, lifestyles and offline heior.

Data Management

Integrating, managing, and analyzing very largentjtias of data is our core competency. The com&&ansus Network, just one of our data
sources, generates more than 10 terabytes of nevedeh day from more than 50 billion daily tagrésewhich is roughly twice the number of
internet page views each day in the United Stateshave built a Big Data platform that providesausignificant scale and cost advantage and have
architected our systems to protect consumer prieaclyprevent data leakage. Our systems providietkibility for innovation in both data science
and data delivery.

Data Science

Massive amounts of digital media data are useleless that data can be transformed into meanimgiitrusted digital media analytics.
Among our innovations was the development of ouifieth Digital Measurement™ methodology which allousto combine person-centric panel
data with machine-generated census data. Our fabtédechnological and data science expertise allewo “deduplicate” the multi-platform
audience using mathematical and statistical tectasigqvhich have been developed and tested in oguarig Data environment.

Product Delivery

Our flexible system architecture allows us to daligur data, products, and services through aldeal8oftware-as-&ervice, or SaaS, delive
model. Each day our clients run more than more Btathousand reports through our platforms. Albof products and services are hosted and
maintained by us, which significantly reduces thstand complexity for our customers and providgsificant operating efficiencies. We can
quickly deploy or update our products with minirted time, which significantly enhances our custangroductivity. Our Web-based analysis and
reporting systems are used by thousands of acthigue users to produce more than several milkports each year.

2
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In addition to delivery via our own Web-based sysewe also have the flexibility to provide our guats and services in different formats
depending on client needs. On request, we can makéata available via an application programmirtgriace (API) to integrate directly into client
systems. We also have integrated our productsemitss directly into partner systems, such as adagement and programmatic ad trading
platforms, to bring comScore data directly intoséirg client workflows.

Products, Services, and Solutions

Our digital media analytics products are aimed prity at content publishers, advertisers, adverjsigencies and network operators.
Although, we operate our business within one opegategment, we leverage our platforms to provigelpcts organized around three major lines of
business:

e Audience Measurement Products & Servmeasure the size, behavior and characteristicalofeoaudiences across multiple platforms
including PCs, tablets, smartphones, televisioasjgconsoles and other connected devices;

e Advertising Products & Servicprovide end-to-end solutions for planning, optiniima and evaluation of digital advertising perfomoa
and effectiveness;

« Enterprise Solutionenable customers to use digital media analyticgptonize their busines

Audience Measurement Products & Servic

Our audience measurement products provide indepérntieéd-party measurement of the size, behawvior éharacteristics of Internet users
across media types (video, mobile apps, Web sited)multiple devices (including TVs, PCs, smartm®and tablets). Our core product offerings
built around our Media Metrik product, available in 44 markets globally (knowrsame markets as MMX). Our audience measuremedtpts
also include Video MetriX', Mobile Metrix ™, Plan Metrix™ and Ad Metrix™.

Media Metrix® Multi-Platform (MMX MP) provides a comprehensiveewi of digital consumer behavior across desktop aderp,
smartphones and tablets and is available in theed8tates, the United Kingdom, Spain, Canadasawmen additional global markets. In early 2015,
Video Metrix ™ Multi-Platform (VMX MP) launched as a beta prodircthe United States, providing a program-levelwi the video/TV audience
across digital platforms including desktop, smaotpdy tablet and over-the-top devices. VMX MP igergquisite to the development of cross-media
measurement products which combine video/televigiewing measurement across both digital deviceksliaear television.

We typically deliver our audience analytics produglectronically in the form of weekly, monthly quarterly subscription-based reports.
Customers can access current and historical ddtarsalyze this data 24/7 through our online pohtisi Metrix.

Advertising Products & Service

Our advertising products combine the proprietafgrimation gathered from our comScore Census Netwittk the vertical industry expertise
of comScore analysts to deliver digital media atiedy including the measurement of online advertjsffectiveness, customized for specific
industries. Our advertising products include thé&fid ™ suite and Media Planner 2:Q which provide a solution for developing, execgtand
evaluating online advertising campaigns acrossiptelplatforms, including television, Web (displagd video) and mobile (smartphones and
tablets). These products are typically delivereéanonthly, quarterly or ad hoc basis.

Our flagship advertising service is Validated Camgpd&ssentials (vCE). comScore vCE provides digitatiia analytics about validated
impressions, ads that are actually seen, showaftncentent and delivered to the right target audievCE provides the option of real-time data
delivery to allow advertisers to adjust their caigpa "on the fly," something that's not possibléraditional advertising mediums. While vCE
provides key analytics about advertising campaigresl buyers, we also offer Validated Media Essén{vME) to advertising sellers, allowing them
to evaluate their advertising inventory and optiertizeir monetization strategy with metrics comphrab those used by ad buyers.

In 2015, we announced comScore Industry Trusiv.industrytrust.com) multi-part initiative that addresses a fundameptablem in todays
advertising ecosystem: the increasing lack of tbesiveen ad buyers and sellers resulting from femddnon-human traffic that has become a fixture
of programmatic advertising. Industry Trust actesakey comScore metrics-Non human traffic data,iMdtetrix rankings, vCE viewability metrics,
and demographics-directly in programmatic tradifegfprms. Industry Trust allows media buyers théitglio conduct traditional and programmatic
buys based on the same set of trusted metricsstiydiirust also supports the needs of ad selleosjging a mechanism for premium publishers to
distinguish themselves on programmatic platformsugh the quality of their inventory, certified bgmScore.

3
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Enterprise Solutions
Our enterprise solutions center on Digital AnalytigDAx), our SaaS-based product for digital mediaihesses.

Digital Analytix ™ integrates a cliend’ digital media data from multiple sources inclypiveb, mobile, video and social media interactiand is
further enhanced by comScore audience measurermentAlkey advantage of DAX is its ability to lezge our data science methods to provide a
unified view of multi-platform consumers acrosdiant’s digital media channels. Our data architeeforovides clients with a flexible business
intelligence tool for digital media analytics whichn also be integrated with additional data frbirdtparty providers and internal systems used for
tasks such as customer relationship management JORMtomers can access DAx data sets and rep@ty dime via a secure online interface.

Customers

As of December 31, 2014 , we had approximately@@istomers, including approximately 90 Fortune &@@panies. Our customers include
Internet-based companies such as Microsoft, AOlggioand Yahoo!, as well as market leading comzainia variety of industries, including
Internet service providers, investment banks, oreahedia agencies, consumer banks, wireless carpgkarmaceutical manufacturers, credit card
issuers and consumer packaged goods companies.

Selling and Marketing

We sell the majority of our products through a dirgales force organized in teams focused on (@)mesiness development, (2) care, renewal,
and new sales to existing clients, and (3) versSgaicialists focused on selling into the consunaekaged goods, entertainment, financial services,
media, pharmaceutical, retail, technology, telecamications and travel industries. Our sales andwaticrepresentatives receive a base salary and
are eligible for bonuses or commissions based donpeance.

Our marketing organization is composed of teamgamsible for (1) corporate marketing and suppardiuding digital marketing, marketing
automation, brand and communication, (2) produaketing specialists with domain expertise aboutaudience, advertising, and enterprise
offerings, and (3) regional marketers with resploitisy for specific geographical markets. This niegd organization allows us to both scale our
efforts and retain flexibility to respond to markigivelopments and new opportunities. A componentioinarketing strategy focuses on driving
comScore data and market insights into both gemedindustry-specific media outlets, building lsta@wareness on top of reporting about
technology and media trends.

Technology and Infrastructure

Our technology and infrastructure is a competitigeet, as digital media analytics requires operai@ scale unprecedented in the media
analytics industry. We operate one of the worldigést data collection platforms, gathering infdiorafrom a diverse set of sources including our
opt-in panels, our census network consisting ofalls from our tagging partners, and from thirdtypaources such as mobile operators. Our
operation leverages several distributed procedsictgnologies, proprietary software and methodolegyl operational control systems to process and
publish our services in near-real time. Our tecbgyplinfrastructure is operated in multiple, thirary Tier-1 co-location facilities (located in the
United States and Europe). Our systems have naiftgglundancies and are structured to ensure thimgation of business operations in the ever
network failure or if one of our data centers hasrbrendered inoperable. As of December 31, 2014 technology team (excluding employees
devoted to research and development) was compofsgpproximately 326 full-time employees workingdifferent geographic locations, who
design, develop, maintain and operate our techydfdfgastructure. In addition, we may outsourcectite responsibilities to third parties who have
undergone a comprehensive vetting and trainingga®and are subject to confidentiality and intéliakcproperty restrictions.

Research and Development

Our research and development efforts focus on didigrcore capabilities in data collection acrossligfital platforms, driving efficiency into
data processing at scale, and developing and deplogw research methodologies. These efforts drdth new product offerings and the extension
of existing products to evolve with the digital nethndscape and our customers’ digital media gicalpeeds. As of December 31, 2014 , we had
approximately 314 full-time employees working osgarch and development activities (excluding eng#geyon our technology team cited under
“Technology and Infrastructure” ). In addition, w&olve management and operations personnel imema@arch and development efforts. In 2014 ,
2013, and 2012, we incurred $60.4 million , $41ibion and $34.0 million, respectively, on reseaestd development.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, cighy and trade secret laws in the United Statesadiner jurisdictions together with
confidentiality procedures and contractual provisito protect our proprietary technology and oanbdr We
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seek patent protection on inventions that we camsidportant to the development of our businesd,vem have also acquired patent portfolios
covering various aspects of our business. We cbateess to our proprietary technology and enteréonfidentiality and invention assignment
agreements with our employees and consultants @rfitlentiality agreements with other third parties.

Our success depends in part on our ability to dgwphtentable products and obtain, maintain anoreefpatent and trade secret protection for
our products, including successfully defending ¢heatents against any third-party challenges, ibotihe United States and in other countries. We
may be able to protect our technologies from uraizhd use by third parties to the extent that wa or have licensed valid and enforceable patents
or trade secrets that cover them. However, theedegf future protection of our proprietary rigrgsuncertain because legal means afford only limited
protection and may not adequately protect our sightpermit us to gain or keep our competitive athvge.

Our intellectual property portfolio currently inclas approximately 32 U.S. patents and 29 intematipatents. In addition, we also currently
have approximately 70 U.S. and international paapplications pending. However, patents may nasfged for any pending or future pending
patent applications owned by or licensed to us,caichs allowed under any issued patent or futssaeed patent owned or licensed by us may be
declared invalid or may not be sufficiently broadototect our technologies. Any issued patents ovinyeor licensed to us now or in the future may
be challenged, invalidated, held unenforceabldéronmvented, and the rights under such patentsmoaprovide us with the expected benefits. In
addition, competitors may design around our teabmobr develop competing technologies. Intellecpraberty rights may also be unavailable or
limited in some foreign countries, which could makeasier for competitors to capture or increasértmarket share with respect to related
technologies.

Under current U.S. law, the statutory term for gepais 20 years from its earliest effective filidgte. Various circumstances, such as the
provisions under U.S. patent law for patent terjustchent and patent term extension, may extenduh&tion of patents. Similarly, various
circumstances may shorten the duration of patents) as a change in U.S. law or a need or deaisiaur part to terminally disclaim a portion of
statutory term of any of these patents.

In addition to patent and trade secret protectimalso rely on several trademarks and service srtargrotect our intellectual property assets.
We are the owner of numerous trademarks and seméecks and have applied for registration of ouleraarks and service marks in the United
States and in certain other countries to estahlishprotect our brand names as part of our intelléproperty strategy. Some of our registered mark
include comScore, Media Metrix, MyMetrix, and vCE.

For additional, important information related ta @utellectual property, please review the inforimatset forth in Part I, Item 1A of this Annt
Report on Form 10-K, “Risk Factors - Risks Relate@ur Business and Our Technologies.”

Competition

The market for digital marketing products is hightympetitive and is evolving rapidly. We competinarily with providers of digital media
intelligence and related analytical products anglises. We also compete with providers of marketagvices and solutions, with full-service survey
providers and with internal solutions developedbgtomers and potential customers. Our principadp=titors include:

« online advertising companies that provide meament of online ad effectiveness and ad deliveeg dsr billing purposes, including
Nielsen, DoubleClick (owned by Google), Atlas (owri® Facebook), and certain divisions and prodwitsin Kantar (owned by WPP

» full-service market research firms and surveyvjgters that may measure online behavior and dégtpincluding Harris Interactive, Ipsos,
Synnovate, GFK, certain divisions and products wifantar (owned by WPP) and Nielsen;

« companies that provide advertising technology psahtitions, including DoubleVerify, Integral Ad 8cice, MOAT, and WhiteOr.

e companies that provide behavioral, attitudirral gualitative advertising effectiveness, includirgjuna/Nurago, DatalLogix (being acquired
by Oracle), Context Web's Aperture, Ipsos OTX, DyiaLogic, Insight Express and Marketing Evolution;

e companies that provide audience ratings for TViaratid other media that have extended or may exteidcurrent services, particularly
certain international markets, to the measuremedigital media, including Nielsen, Arbitron (ownég Nielsen), certain divisions and
products within Kantar, Rentrak and Taylor Nelsafr& (owned by WPP);

« large and small companies that create propyietara and analysis of consumers' online behawiciyding Nielsen, Effective Measures,
Gemius, Compete Inc. (owned by WPP), Google, Hitwise (owned by Experian), Quantcast, and VisMkasures;

e analytical services companies that provide custs with detailed information of behavior on thmivn data, content, or web traffic,
including Omniture (owned by Adobe), Coremetricaifed by IBM), and WebTrends; and systems provigelsiding Accenture, HP,
Pivotal, HortonWorks, Cloudera and Terradata; and
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e specialty information providers for certain irsthies that we serve, including Manhattan Rese@rehlthcare) and The Now Factory
(telecommunications).

Some of our current competitors have longer opagdtistories, access to larger customer basesudrstiasitially greater resources than we do.
As a result, these competitors may be able to dey@ater resources to marketing and promotiomapaigns, panel retention, panel development or
development of systems and technologies than welcaddition, some of our competitors may adopteraggressive pricing policies and some
have started to provide some services at no cagthérmore, large software companies, Interneigioend database management companies may
enter our market or enhance their current offeriegher by developing competing services or byuaatg our competitors, and could leverage their
significant resources and pre-existing relationshigth our current and potential customers.

We believe the principal competitive factors in ouarkets include the following:

« the ability to provide analytics across multiplgitil media platform

< the ability to provide actual and perceived highality, accurate and reliable data regardingrivdeand other digital media audience
behavior and activity in a timely manner, includihg ability to maintain a large and statisticatipresentative sample panel;

» the ability to provide reliable and objective thpdrty evidence that is widely accepted in the reglace

« the ability to adapt product offerings to emergdtigital media technologies and stande

« the breadth and depth of products and their flé&itand ease of us

« the availability of data across various industeyticals and geographic areas and expertise @these verticals and in these geographic
areas;

« the ability to offer surveypased information combined with digital media usaggommerce data and other online information cték fron
panelists;

« the ability to offer highguality analytical services based on Internet ahéradigital media audience measurement informg

< the ability to offer products that meet the dfiag needs of customers and provide higiality service; ar

« the prices that are charged for products baseti@pdrceived value deliver

We believe that we compete favorably with our cotitpes on the basis of these factors. However dfake unable to compete successfully
against our current and future competitors, we nmybe able to acquire and retain customers, anahaeconsequently experience a decline in
revenues, reduced operating margins, loss of mahat and diminished value from our products.

Government Regulation

Although we do not believe that significant exigtiaws or government regulations adversely impagcbur business could be affected by
different interpretations or applications of exigtiaws or regulations, future laws or regulati@mrsactions by domestic or foreign regulatory
agencies. For example, privacy concerns couldtedehislative, judicial and regulatory limitatioos our ability to collect, maintain and use
information about Internet users in the United &atnd abroad. The costs of compliance with, amdther burdens imposed by, these and other
or regulatory actions may prevent us from selling groducts or increase the costs associated fiihg our products, and may affect our ability to
invest in or jointly develop products in the Unit8thtes and in foreign jurisdictions. In additiéailure to comply with these and other laws and
regulations may result in, among other things, aistrative enforcement actions and fines, classmatawsuits and civil and criminal liability. Seat
attorneys general, governmental and nongovernmentiies and private persons may bring legal ast@sserting that our methods of collecting,
using and distributing Web site visitor informatiare illegal or improper, which could require usgend significant time and resources defending
these claims. The impact of any of these curreffiitore laws or regulations could make it moreidifft or expensive to attract or maintain panelists
particularly in affected jurisdictions, and couldvarsely affect our business and results of operati

Privacy

Since the founding of our company, we have endeavtor undertake such data collection and analgsigonsibly and only with consumer
permission. Participation in our research paneblantary. Our policies require that participantmsent to our privacy and data security practices
before our software collects information on therissenline activity. In addition, we provide pars§ with multiple opportunities and methods to
remove themselves from our panel. We strive totlthe type of information that we collect by idéyitig and filtering certain personal information
from the data collected. The collected data is i=etusing multiple layers of physical and digi@tsrity mechanisms. Moreover, we maintain a <
policy of not sharing comScore panelists’ persgniakentifiable information with our customers. Ws@provide, and require that our partners
provide, opt-out opportunities, for data collectitbnough our tagging partners. We believe thatdfadions and policies are consistent with the
AICPA/CICA WebTrust criteria for online privacy.
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Additionally, the adoption, modification or integtation of laws or regulations relating to the in&t or our customers’ digital operations could
negatively affect the businesses of our customadgeduce their demand for our products. For aoithti important information related to
government regulation of our business, please wnethe information set forth in Part I, Iltem 1A &ig Annual Report on Form 10-K, “Risk Factors -
Risks Related to Our Business and Our Technoldgies.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
The following table sets forth the names and agesiocurrent executive officers:

Name Age Position

Serge Matta 40  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Magid M. Abraham, Ph.D. 56  Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors
Gian M. Fulgoni 67  Chairman Emeritus and Director

Melvin Wesley Il 43  Chief Financial Officer

Christiana L. Lin 45  EVP, General Counsel and Chief Privacy Officer
Cameron Meierhoefer 43  Chief Operating Officer

Serge Mattéas served as our Chief Executive Officer sinced&014 and as our President since June 2013. Mamch 2012 to June 2013,
Mr. Matta served as President, Commercial SolutiBnigr to that, he served in various senior posgiat the Company, including as President,
Mobile and Operator Solutions and as Executive Viesident, overseeing the Company's worldwidecbatenunications and Mobile practice. Pi
to joining the Company in 2000, Mr. Matta held piosis at MicroStrategy within the consulting groiyr. Matta holds a B.S. degree in Finance f
George Mason University and a M.B.A. from Ameri¢amiversity.

Magid M. Abraham, Ph.Done of our co-founders, served as our PresidenChief Executive Officer from September 1999 to the2014,
when he assumed his current role as Executive @haiof the Board of Directors. Dr. Abraham has eéras a member of our Board of Directors
since September 1999. In 1995, Dr. Abraham fourBedgren Technologies, Inc., which specializeckiivdring large scale Customer Relationship
Marketing systems for strategic and target marketimd served as its Chief Executive Officer frd®®3.to 1999. Prior to founding Paragren,

Dr. Abraham was employed by Information Resourbres,from 1985 to 1995, where he was PresidentGhidf Operating Officer from 1993 to
1994 and Vice Chairman of the Board of Directomfr1994 to 1995. Dr. Abraham received a Ph.D. irr@jons Research and a M.B.A. from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology. He alsosatiEngineering degree from the Ecole PolyteckmniguFrance.

Gian M. Fulgoni, one of our co-founders, has served as our Chaitngeritus since March 2014 and as a member oBoard of Directors
since September 1999. He served as Executive Chaiafnour Board of Directors from September 199M#&ych 2014. Prior to co-founding
comScore, Mr. Fulgoni was employed by Informatia@s8urces, Inc., where he served as President 8@ tb 1989, Chief Executive Officer from
1986 to 1998 and Chairman of the Board of Directiam 1991 to 1995. Mr. Fulgoni has served on tbart of directors of PetMed Express, Inc., a
NASDAQ-listed online retailer, since 2002 and previows#yed on its board from August 1999 to Novemb@&02®r. Fulgoni has also served on
the board of directors of the Advertising Resedfohndation, an industry research organization esg@8; on the board of directors of InXpo, Inc.,
a provider of technology for virtual events, si¥5, on the board of Dynamic Signal, Inc., anrimé marketing services company since 2010; and
on the board of directors of Prophet, Inc., a brandl marketing consulting company, since May 2040.Fulgoni holds a M.A. in Marketing from
the University of Lancaster and a B.Sc. in PhyBias the University of Manchester.

Melvin Wesley llwas appointed as our Chief Financial Officer in Asig2014. From January 2013 to December 2013,ieedsas Chief
Financial Officer of Mandiant Corporation, a proeidbf advanced endpoint security products and ggdéocident response management solutions.
He stayed on as CFO, Global Services and CloudiSntuat FireEye after the company acquired MaridiaBecember 2013. From December 2004
to January 2013, Mr. Wesley was Senior Vice Presidad Chief Financial Officer of OPNET Technolagia publicly traded company that provi
application and network performance solutions. el@ed as Corporate Controller for OPNET from Jud@42to November 2004. Previously, Mr.
Wesley served as Corporate Controller for Steel@linc. and as Assistant Controller for Learningél international, Inc. He
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holds a B.S. in Accounting and a MBA from Georgesiia University and is licensed as a Certified RuBticountant in Virginia.

Christiana L. Linhas served as our EVP, General Counsel and ChiefdyrOfficer since August 2009. Prior to that, skeved as our Deputy
General Counsel from February 2001 until March 2@83our Corporate Counsel and Chief Privacy Officean March 2003 until January 2006 and
as our General Counsel and Chief Privacy Officemfdanuary 2006 until August 2009. Ms. Lin holds. from the Georgetown University Law
Center and a B.A. in Political Science from Yaleugnsity.

Cameron Meierhoefdras served as our Chief Operating Officer sinceci&r, 2012. Previously, he held various seniortfwos at comScore,
most recently as Executive Vice President of Custoralytics from January 2009 to March 2012 andexsi® Vice President of Custom Analytics
from January 2006 to January 2009. Prior to joirdamScore in 2001, he helped build PC Data Onérdiyision of the market research firm PC
Data Inc. Mr. Meierhoefer holds a B.S. from Columbiniversity and a M.S. from the Georgia Institotd echnology.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014 , we had 1,292 employeeseNf our employees are represented by a labonuwe have experienced no work
stoppages and believe that our employee relatiengaod.

Geographic Areas

Our primary geographic markets are the United Statanada, Europe, Latin America and Asia. Forinédion with respect to our geographic
markets, see Note 14 to our Consolidated Finagtakments in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Remort~orm 10-K.

Company Information

We incorporated in August 1999 in Delaware. Oungipal offices are located at 11950 Democracy Dr8te 600, Reston, Virginia 20190.
Our telephone number is (703) 438-2000.

Available Information

We make our periodic and current reports along aitiendments to such reports available, free ofgehan our website as soon as reasonably
practicable after such material is electronicailgdf with the Securities and Exchange Commissiai. Website address is www.comscore.com and
such reports are filed under “SEC Filings” on thedstor Relations portion of our website. Inforraatcontained on our Web site is not part of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K and is not incorporatethis Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.

You can read our SEC filings, including this anmeglort as well as our other periodic and currepbrts, over the internet at the SE@/ebsit:
at www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any mect we file with the SEC at its public referenaeilities at100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580,
Washington, D.C. 20549. You may also obtain copfaébe documents at prescribed rates by writinthéoPublic Reference Section of the SEC at
100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C420®Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for duiithformation on the operation of the
public reference facilities.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves a sobataisk of loss. You should carefully consideede risk factors, together with all of the
other information included herewith, before youidedo purchase shares of our common stock. Thergawce of any of the following risks could
materially adversely affect our business, financiahdition or operating results. In that case, treding price of our common stock could decline,
and you may lose part or all of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Our Technologies

We derive a significant portion of our revenues frosales of our subscription-based digital media &nis products. If our customers terminate
or fail to renew their subscriptions, our businessuld suffer.

We currently derive a significant portion of ouveaues from our subscription-based digital medalydits products. Subscription-based
products accounted for 90% , 87%, and 87% of ogmees in the years ended December 31, 2014 ,&012012, respectively. If our customers
terminate their subscriptions for our productsndbrenew their subscriptions, delay renewals efrtbubscriptions or renew on terms less favorable
to us, our revenues could decline and our busioasisl suffer.

Our customers have no obligation to renew afteettpration of their initial subscription periodhigh is typically one year, and we cannot be
assured that current subscriptions will be reneatdtie same or higher dollar amounts, if at alm8®f our customers have elected not to renew
subscription agreements with us in the past. Iewgerience a change of control, as defined in agchements, some of our customers also have the
right to terminate their subscriptions. Moreovemne of our major customers have the right to catiet subscription agreements without cause at
any time. Furthermore, our new subscription praosiucr which revenue is recognized based on imjmessised, may be subject to higher
fluctuations in revenue.

Given unpredictable economic conditions, our limhitéstorical data with respect to rates of custosubascription renewals, and the usage
volumes for our impression based products, we naag ldifficulty accurately predicting future custamenewal rates. Our customer renewal rates
may decline or fluctuate as a result of a numbéadators, including customer satisfaction or dis$acttion with our products, the costs or
functionality of our products, the prices or fuoctility of products offered by our competitors, bealth of the digital advertising marketplace,
mergers and acquisitions affecting our customee bgsneral economic conditions or reductions inaustomers’ spending levels.

Our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate the future. As a result, we may fail to meet oroeed the expectations of securities analysts or
investors, which could cause our stock price to litez.

Our quarterly results of operations may fluctuat@aesult of a variety of factors, many of whicé autside of our control. If our quarterly
revenues or results of operations do not meet cgexkthe expectations of securities analysts @siavs, the price of our common stock could
decline substantially. In addition to the othekfiiactors set forth in this “Risk Factors” sectiéactors that may cause fluctuations in our quirter
revenues or results of operations include:

e our ability to increase sales to existing custonagers attract new custome
e the potential loss or reduction in spending by isicemt customer:
e changes in our customers' subscription renewahbetsaand spending on projec

« the impact on our contract renewal rates, fahlmur subscription and project-based productssediby our customers’ budgetary
constraints, competition, customer dissatisfacttmstomer corporate restructuring or change inrogrdr our customersictual or perceive
lack of need for our products;

< the timing of contract renewals, delivery of guats and duration of contracts and the correspgriitining of revenue recognition as well as
the effects of revenue derived from recently-aapicompanies;

e variations in the demand for our products and tp@lémentation cycles of our products by our custst
- the challenges of persuading customers to switmh fncumbent service provide

» the timing of revenue recognition for usage-blaseimpressiorbased product

* the mix of subscription-based versus projegsed revenue

< the effect of revenues generated from significaretime projects or the loss of such proje

» the timing and success of new product introductlmnsis or our competitol

e changes in our pricing and discounting policiethoise of our competitol

« the impact of our decision to discontinue certaimdpicts

» our failure to accurately estimate or contradtso— including those incurred as a result of ihwests, other business or product
development initiatives, litigation, and the intatipn of acquisitions;
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< the amount and timing of capital expenditured @perating costs related to the maintenance apansion of our operations and
infrastructure;

« our ability to estimate revenues and cash flowe@ated with business operations acquired b

» the uncertainties associated with the integnatibacquired new lines of business, and operafionsuntries in which we may have little or
no previous experience;

« the cost and timing of organizational restructuriimgparticular in international jurisdictiot
e service outages, other technical difficulties ans#y breache:
« limitations relating to the capacity of our netwsyrkystems and proces:

e maintaining appropriate staffing levels and ddlitges relative to projected growth, or retainikgy personnel as a result of the integration of
recent acquisitions;

e adverse judgments or settlements in legal disf

« the extent to which certain expenses are motesgrdeductible for tax purposes, such as shaedb@mpensation that fluctuates based on
the timing of vesting and our stock price;

e the timing of any additional reversal of our deéertax valuation allowanc
e adoption of new accounting pronouncements
< general economic, political, industry and marketditions and those conditions specific to Inteusge and online busines:

We believe that our quarterly revenues and restiligerations on a year-over-year and sequenteitguover-quarter basis may vary
significantly in the future and that period-to-meficomparisons of our operating results may nahbaningful. Investors are cautioned not to rely on
the results of prior quarters as an indicationutdife performance.

Our business may be harmed if we deliver, or aregeéved to deliver, inaccurate information to ouustomers, to the media or to the public
generally.

If the information that we provide to our customéosthe media, or to the public is inaccuratep@nceived to be inaccurate, whether due to
methodological approaches, errors, bias towardsaioesvailable data sources or partners, our bnaayl be harmed. The information that we collect
or that is included in our databases and the Statiprojections that we provide to our customérthe media or to the public may contain or be
perceived to contain inaccuracies. These projestinay be viewed as an important measure for theesa®f certain businesses, especially those
businesses with a large online presence. Any imacglor perceived inaccuracy in the data reporfedsbabout such businesses may potentially
affect the market perception of such businessesesdt in claims or litigation around the accurafyur data, or the appropriateness of our
methodology, may encourage aggressive action opateof our competitors, and could harm our bram; dissatisfaction by our customers or the
media with our digital media analytics, measurenoerata collection and statistical projection noefthlogies, whether as a result of inaccuracies,
perceived inaccuracies, or otherwise, could havadwerse effect on our ability to retain existingtomers and attract new customers and could
our brand. Additionally, we could be contractualbguired to pay damages, which could be substatdiakrtain of our customers if the information
we provide to them is found to be inaccurate. Aayility that we incur or any harm to our brandtthe suffer because of actual or perceived
irregularities or inaccuracies in the data we aglio our customers could harm our business.

Material defects or errors in our data collectiomd analysis systems could damage our reputatiosutein significant costs to us and impair ot
ability to sell our products.

Our data collection and analysis systems are coogsid may contain material defects or errors. iitazh, the large amount of data that we
collect may make our data collection and analygi$esns more susceptible to defects or errors. M@mre@s technology evolves across digital
platforms, we may not be able to continue collectid certain data, due to technological, privacpther reasons.

Furthermore, we may become increasingly dependsort third-party data provided by strategic partrierkey elements of our data sets. If
our partners do not apply rigorous standards tio tiza collection methodology and actions, notstitinding our best efforts, we may receive third-
party data that is inaccurate or defective.

Our customers rely on our data collection and asigoftware and systems to gain business intaliger to gain a better understanding of
their internal operations or performance. Any defeour panelist data collection software, ourszencollection systems, our data collection
capabilities, our enterprise focused software gstess, network systems, statistical projectionstioer methodologies could lead to consequences
that could adversely impact operating results uidicig:

e loss of customer
e damage to our brar
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e interruptions in the availability of our produc

« sales credits, refunds or liability to our custos;

* lost or delayed market acceptance and sales giroducts

« diversion of development resourc

« the incurrence of substantial costs to correctraaterial defect or error; a
e increased warranty and insurance ¢

Our insurance policies may not cover any claimrgais for loss of data, unauthorized use of diaiaroper access to data, inaccuracies in
or other indirect or consequential damages anchdéfg a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, coulccbstly and divert management’s attention.
Adequate insurance coverage may not be availaliteifuture on acceptable terms, or at all. Anyhsdevelopments could adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

We may lose customers or be liable to certain costes if we provide poor service or if our produate not comply with our customer agreements.

Certain customers choose to purchase our servazEsibe of the client service that we provide, dsasehe scope of information and
functionality of the products that we provide. Qaiture to meet these expectations could resuhénloss of customers or a reduction in their
purchase of our products. In addition, we may &leldi to certain of our customers for damages they imcur resulting from these events, such as
loss of business, loss of future revenues, brekchrdract or loss of goodwill to their business.

If we are unable to provide cro-media analytics, or if our cross-media analyticeeancomplete or inaccurate, our ability to grow onaintain our
business may be harmed.

As the media and advertising industry looks to eatd advertising campaigns across various fornnseafia, such as television, radio, online,
and mobile, the ability to measure the combined aizd composition of audiences across platforrimeigasingly important and demanded.

Because a significant proportion of advertisingatslare spent on television, access to televidata is a critical component to cross-media
analytics, and companies who have historically laettbminant market position measuring televisiaichsas Nielsen in the U.S., Kantar in certain
countries outside the U.S., or providers selectepbibpt industry committees in countries outsidelod U.S., may need to be relied on to produce
industry-accepted measurement across a combingftimedia platforms. We have entered into an agreeteacquire and to license certain Nielsen
Audio panel data and technology in the U.S., wipigtvides us with access to both television andorddia to support our cross-media services,
however, if such panel data and technology is afficeently maintained, we may suffer a reductiortiie quality of our metrics. In addition, in 2015,
we entered into a strategic alliance with Kantacdtbaborate on certain cross-media analysticsdudicg television, outside the U.S. If we are ueabl
to secure licenses to data from industry-accepteddgers of television measurement outside of th®. bur cross media analytics may be
incomplete, and our ability to grow and maintaim business may be harmed.

If we are unable to accurately measure or gainsscteinformation or technology measuring a medimamonent or type at all or on
commercially reasonable terms, our ability to nmetcustomers' demands and our business and falgreformance may be harmed. Furthermore,
even if we do have access to cross-media data Have insufficient technology, methodology or seunaterials to parse the information across
such media components to avoid duplications airat a cost-effective manner, our products majnberior to other offerings, and we may be
unable to meet our customers' demands. In whidak, cas business and financial performance may badt In particular as mobile devices and
technology continue to proliferate, gaining cogeetive access to mobile data will become incregigiaritical, and the difficulty in accessing these
forms of data will continue to grow.

Our business may be harmed if we change our metHodis or the scope of information we collect.

We have in the past and may in the future changenethodologies, the methodologies of companiesaggiire, or the scope of information
we collect. Such changes may result from identitieiciencies in current methodologies, developneémbore advanced methodologies, changes in
our business plans, changes in technology usedebgites, browsers, applications, servers, or medimeasure, integration of acquired companies
or expressed or perceived needs of our customgrstential customers. Any such changes or percaitiadges, or our inability to accurately or
adequately communicate to our customers and théamsadh changes and the potential implicationsiohshanges on the data we have publish
will publish in the future, may result in custongissatisfaction, particularly if certain informatics no longer

11




Table of Contents

collected or information collected in future persad not comparable with information collected ifopperiods. As a result of future methodology
changes, some of our existing customers or cus®ofecquired entities may refuse to participatgasticipate only in a limited fashion, and other
customers may become dissatisfied as a resultasfggs in our methodology and decide not to contuehasing their subscriptions or may decide
to discontinue providing us with their web beacowiher server-side information. Such customers atagt to publicly air their dissatisfaction with
the methodological changes made by us, therebygiamaur brand and harming our reputation. Addiityy we expect that we will need to further
integrate new capabilities with our existing methlogies if we develop or acquire additional produmt lines of business in the future. The resulting
future changes to our methodologies, the infornmatie collect, or the strategy we implement to @ilend analyze information, such as the
movement away from pure panel-centric measurenoesnttybrid of panel- and site-centric measurenmaat; cause additional customer
dissatisfaction and result in loss of customers.

If we are not able to maintain panels of sufficiestze and scope, or if the costs of establishingl amaintaining our panels materially increase, o
business could be harmed.

We believe that the quality, size and scope ofletarnet, mobile and cross-media user panels #@featto our business. There can be no
assurance, however, that we will be able to mairpanels of sufficient size and scope to provideghality of marketing intelligence that our
customers demand from our products. We anticipetethe cost of panel recruitment will increasehwfite proliferation of proprietary and secure
digital media platforms (whether they be PC, mqglidélet, or connected devices), and that theddiltfy in collecting these forms of data will
continue to grow which may require significant haatde and software investments, as well as incraasasr panel incentive and panel management
costs.

We may be required to establish new panels thatavable of providing us with information in theas of mobile, tablets, and other emerging
technologies on which people are consuming mediecantent. We anticipate that this may requireificant hardware and software investments,
and significant increases to our panel incentiwe @@nel management costs. We have historicallyisetjnew panels, and were able to capitalize the
cost of such acquisition. If we are unable to tigesame accounting approach in reporting the essisciated with establishing new panels needed,
our panel costs may significantly increase our obsévenues in the future. To the extent that aadditional expenses are not accompanied by
increased revenues, our operating margins maydueee and our financial results could be adverafgcted.

Moreover, if we fail to maintain our existing orwlg established panels of sufficient size and scap#uding coverage of international mark
and users of various forms of digital platformsstomers might decline to purchase our productemew their subscriptions, our reputation could be
damaged and our business could be materially avetsely affected. We expect that our panel costsin@ease and may comprise a greater po
of our cost of revenues in the future. The costeaated with maintaining and improving the qualgize and scope of our panel are dependent on
many factors, many of which are beyond our contnaluding the participation rate of potential pamembers, the turnover among existing panel
members and requirements for active participatiopanel members, such as completing survey questioes.

Concerns over privacy and the potential unauthdréisclosure of personal information, or the clissiion of our research software as
"spyware" or "adware" may cause greater attritidthiw our existing research panel or may discouagential panel members from patrticipating in
our research panels. As we seek to enforce ouagyipolicies, we may be required to terminate i@tahips with service providers whose practices
we believe may not comply with our privacy policiasad have removed and may in the future removelpaambers obtained through such service
providers. In addition, Finally, we are currentiibgect to privacy and data security related cldimsertain panel members in a pending class action
lawsuit, and we may be so again in the future. diiteome of this litigation or the negative pubkaction to the details of the litigation may matke i
difficult for us to attract and retain panel mengber

To the extent we experience greater attrition inganel than we have historically experienced,ahmssts would increase more rapidly. Such
actions may result in increased costs, or makdessesuccessful in retaining existing panel memaedsrecruiting additional panel members.

If we fail to respond to technological developmentsir products may become obsolete or less comnipet

Our future success will depend in part on our ghit modify or enhance our products to meet customeeds, to add functionality and to
address technological advancements. For exammlertéin handheld mobile devices become the primarge of receiving content and conducting
transactions on the Internet, and we are unaldeapt to collect information from such devicesntie would not be able to report on online
activity. To remain competitive, we will need tovééop new products that address these evolvingitdobies and standards across the universe of
digital media — including television, Internet, @@énd mobile usage. However, we may be unsucdeaasfientifying new product opportunities or
in developing or marketing new products in a timalycost-effective manner. In addition, our prodaciovations may not achieve the market
penetration or price levels necessary for profitigbif we are unable to develop enhancementanal, new features for, our existing methodologie
products or if we are unable to develop new prasltiwt keep pace with rapid technological
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developments or changing industry standards, amdymts may become obsolete, less marketable aniddespetitive, and our business will be
harmed.

Difficulties entering into arrangements with websitowners, wireless communications operators andeoténtities supporting serv- and census-
based methodologies may negatively affect our mdtiogies and harm our business.

We believe that our methodologies are enhancetéwglility to collect information using server-béseeb beacon information and other
census-level approaches. There can be no assubaweeyer, that we will be able to maintain relasibips with a sufficient number and scope of
websites in order to provide the quality of mankgtintelligence that our customers demand frompoaducts. If we fail to continue to expand the
scope of our server-based data collection appreachistomers might decline to purchase our produratsnew their subscriptions, our reputation
could be damaged and our business could be adyeffetted.

If we are unable to sell additional products to oexkisting customers or attract new customers, oavenue growth will be adversely affectt

To increase our revenues, we believe we must dditianal products to existing customers, includigsting customers of acquired
businesses, and regularly add new customers. ¥xiating and prospective customers do not peraaivgroducts to be of sufficient value and
quality, we may not be able to increase salesi&iirg customers and attract new customers, or @ fmve difficulty retaining existing customers,
and our operating results will be adversely affécte

If we are unable to effectively persuade prospeetoustomers to buy our services in substitution fbose of an incumbent service provider, ¢
revenue growth may suffer.

Some of our newer products and initiatives reqthie¢ we persuade prospective customers, or cussoofi@ur existing products, to buy our
newer products in substitution for those of an mbent service provider. In some instances, thepgai/e customer may have built their systems
and processes around the incumbent's productsideling such prospective customers to switch sepriceiders may be difficult and require longer
sales cycles, which will affect our ability to iease revenue in these areas. Moreover, the incuredesice provider may have the ability to
significantly discount its services or enter imod-term agreements, which would further impedeadility to increase our revenues.

We may expand through investments in, acquisitimfsor the development of new products with assista from other companies, any of which
may not be successful and may divert our managerseattention.

In recent years, we completed several strategiaisitigns. We also expect to continue to evaluatenter into discussions regarding a wide
array of potential strategic transactions, inclgdcquiring complementary products, technologidsusinesses. We also have entered into
relationships with other businesses such as Ka@tawgle, Yahoo and Acxiom, in order to expand aoudpct offerings. These relationships or
transactions could involve preferred or exclusigerises, discount pricing or investments in othesiresses to expand our sales capabilities. These
transactions could be material to our financialditan and results of operations, and though thesesactions may provide additional benefits, they
may not be profitable immediately or in the longrieNegotiating any such transactions could be-oesuming, difficult and expensive, and our
ability to close these transactions may be sulijecgulatory or other approvals and other condgtithat are beyond our control. Consequently, we
can make no assurances that any such transaétivastments or relationships, if undertaken andanoed, would be completed.

An acquisition, investment or business relationshgy result in unforeseen operating difficultiesl @xpenditures. In particular, we may
encounter difficulties assimilating or integratitige businesses, technologies, products, personogenations of the acquired companies, particy
if the key personnel of the acquired company chomseo be employed by us, and we may have ditfjadtaining the customers of any acquired
business due to changes in management and ownefglgjpisitions may also disrupt our ongoing businekvert our resources and require
significant management attention that would othsewie available for ongoing development of ourress. Moreover, we cannot assure you the
anticipated benefits of any acquisition, investrmmmusiness relationship would be realized or Wetvould not be exposed to unknown liabilities.
In connection with any such transaction, we may:

» encounter difficulties retaining key employeesh# aicquired company or integrating diverse busioekares

» incur large charges or substantial liabilitie]uding without limitation, liabilities associatevith products or technologies accused or found
to infringe third party intellectual property;

» issue shares of our capital stock as part of theideration, which may be dilutive to existing $toalders
e become subject to adverse tax consequences, stidistiapreciation or deferred compensation cha
e use cash that we may need in the future to opetatbusines:
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» enter new geographic markets that subject us ferdift laws and regulations that may have an adverpact on our busine
« experience difficulties effectively utilizing acqad asset

* encounter difficulties integrating the informatiand financial reporting systems of acquiredifpréusinesses, particularly those that
operated under accounting principles other thasettgenerally accepted in the United States pritre¢@cquisition by us; and

e incur debt on terms unfavorable to us or that veeusmable to repa

The impact of any one or more of these factorsccadlersely affect our business or results of djmersor cause the price of our common
stock to decline substantially.

Following an acquisition of another business, we @lao be required to defer the recognition of rexethat we receive from the sale of
products that we acquired, or from the sale of kemthat include products that we acquired. Farimse, if we acquire a business and are not able tc
establish vendor specific objective evidence, oO¥Sfor any undelivered elements in the arrangenvemimay be required to defer substantial
portions of revenue and delay recognition of thesenues. This may result in fluctuations in ouveraping results and may adversely affect both
revenues and operating margins in a given periqutaods.

In addition, we may be required to disclose audiiteghcial statements of acquired businesses wihiscribed time after the completion of
acquisition pursuant to SEC reporting requiremdntse encounter unforeseen difficulties in obtamithese audited financial statements on a timely
basis and cannot obtain relief from the SEC, we losg our eligibility to register future offerings Form S-3, which may limit our ability to access
the capital markets quickly or effectively.

Future acquisitions or dispositions could also ltéawdilutive issuances of our equity securitige incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities,
amortization expenses, or write-offs of goodwitlyaf which could harm our financial condition.dddition, acquisitions will generally result in us
recognizing significant amounts of intangible assdtwe experience significant declines in opergitiesults associated with past, or future,
acquisitions, and the anticipated benefits of ajuisition are not expected to materialize, we maydguired to perform impairment testing of our
long-lived assets, and ultimately may be requicecktord an impairment charge.

Our financial condition and results of operationsoald suffer if there is an additional impairment ajoodwill or other intangible assets with
indefinite lives.

We are required to test intangible assets withfinde lives, including goodwill, annually and on &terim basis if an event occurs or there
change in circumstance that would more likely thahreduce the fair value of reporting units antdngible assets below their carrying values. W
the carrying value of a reporting usitjoodwill exceeds its implied fair value of gootiva charge to operations is recorded. If theyiag amount ¢
an intangible asset with an indefinite life exceisl$air value, a charge to operations is recagphiEither event would result in incremental expsns
for that quarter, which would reduce any earningscorease any loss for the period in which theainpent was determined to have occurred.

In connection with the preparation of our finanatdtements for the year ended December 31, 2@®4determined it was necessary to rect
$9.7 million non-cash impairment charge relatethtangible assets associated with our mobile opetatsiness line. The impairment was based
primarily on an analysis of estimated future cdstv$ expected to be generated from those asseish ate classified as held for sale. In determining
the impairment loss, we recorded an amount equhkt@xcess of the assets’ carrying amount ovéaiity¥alue as determined by an analysis of
discounted future cash flows.

Our goodwill impairment analysis is sensitive t@obes in key assumptions used in our analysis, asietxpected future cash flows, the degree
of volatility in equity and debt markets, and otack price. If the assumptions used in our analgsésnot realized, it is possible that an impairtmen
charge may need to be recorded in the future. \Waataaccurately predict the amount and timing of iampairment of goodwill or other intangible
assets. However, any such impairment would hawedaarse effect on our results of operations.

Concern over spyware, data breaches and privacgluding any violations of privacy laws, perceivedsmse of personal information, or failure to
adhere to the privacy commitments that we make,ldatause public relations problems, regulatory stiny, and potential class action lawsuits
and could impair our ability to recruit panelistsranaintain panels of sufficient size and scope, whiin turn could adversely affect our ability to
provide our products

Any perception of our practices as an invasionrigey, whether legal or illegal, may subject ugtdolic criticism, regulatory scrutiny, and
potential class action lawsuits. Media coveragemnlic discourse initiated by lawmakers and
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regulators have increased the sensitivity of coresarto the collection, storage or use of persarfatination and online usage information, and the
possibility of an unauthorized use or disclosuréhed information may create negative public reattielated to our business practices. A shift in
public acceptance of measurement technologiesasuthird party cookies may have a chilling effettaisinesses that collect or use online usage
information generally or substantially increase ¢hst of maintaining a business that collects esumline usage information, increase regulatory
scrutiny and increase the potential of class addasuits. In response to marketplace concernstdhewsage of third party cookies and web bee

to track user behaviors, the major browsers haabled features that allow the user to limit thdemtlon of certain data. We actively seek to preven
the inclusion of our cookies and beacons on the éifcompanies whose activities are automatidatigked without prior individual review of those
cookies and beacons by the end user.

A rise in data breaches has also led to an incdemsareness of data security issues and may iesuitincrease in legislative or regulatory
requirements, which could in turn substantiallyr@ase the cost of businesses that maintain datdnerease the potential of class action lawsuits.
We actively seek outside audits and reviews ofdatia protection policies to assure we are impleimgitest practices; however, these precautions
may not prevent the occurrence of a data breach.

Additionally, there is continuing public concermyaeding certain kinds of downloadable software kn@s “spyware” and “adware.” These
concerns might cause users to refrain from dowmhggsioftware from the Internet, including our priepary technology, if they inaccurately believe
our software is “spyware” or “adware.” This coulcke it difficult to recruit additional panelists wraintain a panel of sufficient size and scope to
provide meaningful marketing intelligence. In respe to general spyware and adware concerns indhieetplace, numerous programs are available,
many of which are available for free, and thatrolé® identify, remove or block such software oiafst. Some anti-spyware programs have in the
past identified, and may in the future identifyr software as spyware or potential spyware apjiinat We actively seek to prevent the inclusion of
our software on lists of spyware applications aeeptial spyware applications and apply best ingustactices for obtaining appropriate consent f
panelists, protect the privacy and confidentiadityur panelist data, and comply with existing pdy laws. However, to the extent that we are not
successful, and angpyware programs classify our software as spyveapstential spyware application, or third partysar providers fail to compl
with our privacy or data security requirements, loand may be harmed and users may refrain frorntb@asling these programs, may uninstall our
software or pursue actions against us for damages.

For example, on August 23, 2011, we received natiaeMike Harris and Jeff Dunstan, individuallydaon behalf of a class of similarly
situated individuals, filed a lawsuit against com®cin the United States District Court for the tiern District of lllinois, Eastern Division, alli,
among other things, violations by comScore of ttere®l Communications Act, the Electronic Commuridcet Privacy Act, Computer Fraud and
Abuse Act and the lllinois Consumer Fraud and DaeegPractices Act as well as unjust enrichment Tbmplaint sought unspecified damages,
including statutory damages per violation and puaitiamages, injunctive relief and reasonable raggs’ fees of the plaintiffs. In October 2012, the
plaintiffs filed an amended complaint which, amatlger things, removed the claim relating to allegiedations of the lllinois Consumer Fraud and
Deceptive Practices Act. On April 2, 2013, the BistCourt issued an order certifying a class fiolydhree of the four claims, refusing to certify a
class for unjust enrichment. On May 30, 2014, ne the plaintiffs proposed a tentative settlemebfext to approval by the District Court, and on
October 1, 2014, the Court issued its final appro¥¢hose terms. comScore was required to estallisettlement fund from which class member
claims, attorneys’ fees and incentive awards, ¢astd administrative expenses will be paid. We@mdnsurers contributed $14 million to the fund.
The settlement also requires us to alter certaitiqms of our privacy policy and implement certapiditional protocols to ensure that our privacy
practices remain consistent with our disclosuresttsumers. For the year ended December 31, 20&4ecorded a loss of $3.5 million related tc
settlement. Any resulting reputational harm, patémiaims asserted against us or decrease inzbesscope of our panel could reduce the demand
for our products, increase the cost of recruitingglists, adversely affect our ability to provide products to our customers or result in additiona
costs in the form of settlement, judgments, retstnics on our business or diversion of resourceglttress and defend the claims. Any of these ad
effects could harm our business and our operaésglts.

Domestic or foreign laws, regulations or enforcenteactions may limit our ability to collect and useformation about Internet users or restrict ¢
prohibit our product offerings, causing a decreasethe value of our products and an adverse impactthe sales of our product:

Our business could be adversely impacted by egistirfuture laws or regulations of, or actions dgmestic or foreign regulatory agencies.
example, privacy concerns could lead to legislatiweicial and regulatory limitations on our ahjlio collect, maintain and use information about
Internet users in the United States and abroadoWastate legislatures have enacted legislatigigded to protect Internet users’ privacy, for
example, by prohibiting spyware. In recent yearsjlar legislation has been proposed in other statel at the federal level and has been enacted in
foreign countries, most notably by tthe Europeaimbwhich adopted a privacy directive regulatihg tollection of personally identifiable
information online and more recently, restrictihg uise of cookies without opt-in consent by the,esed preserving an individual's right to be
forgotten. The U.S. Congress and regulators hapgeesged concern over the collection of Internegesaformation, which
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started as part of a larger initiative to regulaténe behavioral advertising, but which has expahith scope to a general concern over online tnax
and measurement. A similar concern has been rhigseglgulatory agencies in Europe. In addition, @u81 European lawmakers and regulators have
expressed concern over the use of third party esaoli web beacons to understand Internet usagétidxddly, the European Commission has issued
a directive requiring the regulation of cookiesotighout the European Union, which may lead to tit@duction of additional regulations that may
vary from country to country. Furthermore, the UF8deral and Trade Commission updated its regylatiterpretation related to the Children's
Online Privacy Protection Act, which applies newtrietions to the online advertising market. Thieses and regulations, if drafted or interpreted
broadly, could be deemed to apply to the technolegyise, and could restrict our information coll@timethods, and the collection methods of third
parties from whom we may obtain data, or decrdaseamount and utility of the information that weulbbe permitted to collect. Even if such laws
and regulations are not enacted, lawmakers andategsi may publicly call into question the collectiand use of Internet or mobile usage data and
may affect vendors and customers’ willingness ttdsiness with us. In addition, our ability to cantlbusiness in certain foreign jurisdictions, such
as China, is restricted by the laws, regulatiordsagency actions of those jurisdictions. The cobtompliance with, and the other burdens imposed
by, these and other laws or regulatory actions prayent us from selling our products or increagecibsts associated with selling our products, and
may affect our ability to invest in or jointly ddee products in the United States and in foreigisglictions.

In addition, failure to comply with these and othexs and regulations may result in, among othieig) administrative enforcement actions
and fines, class action lawsuits and civil and orahliability. State attorneys general, governnaéand non-governmental entities and private
persons may bring legal actions asserting thatrmthods of collecting, using and distributing Wb sisitor information are illegal or improper,
which could require us to spend significant timd aesources defending these claims. For exampiee sompanies that collect, use and distribute
Web site visitor information have been the subfggovernmental investigations and class-actiorsiats. Any such regulatory or civil action that is
brought against us, even if unsuccessful, mayadisbbur management’s attention, divert our res@jnoegatively affect our public image or
reputation among our panelists and customers amad bar business.

The impact of any of these current or future laweegulations could make it more difficult or exger to attract or maintain panelists,
particularly in affected jurisdictions, and couldvarsely affect our business and results of operati

Any unauthorized disclosure or theft of private imfmation we gather could harm our busines

Unauthorized disclosure of personally identifiaipfrmation regarding Web site visitors, whethawotigh breach of our secure network by an
unauthorized party, employee theft or misuse, bewtise, could harm our business. If there wermadvertent disclosure of personally identifiable
information, or customer confidential informatian,if a third party were to gain unauthorized asdesthe personally identifiable or customer
confidential information we possess, our operatimmdd be seriously disrupted and we could be stiltjeclaims or litigation arising from damages
suffered by panel members or pursuant to the agretsmvith our customers. In addition, we could mgignificant costs in complying with the
multitude of state, federal and foreign laws regaydhe unauthorized disclosure of personal infaroma Finally, any perceived or actual
unauthorized disclosure of the information we agliould harm our reputation, substantially impair ability to attract and retain panelists ande
an adverse impact on our business.

The success of our business depends in large parbor ability to protect and enforce our intellecali property rights.

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, s@nmark, trademark and trade secret laws, asasatbnfidentiality procedures and
contractual restrictions, to establish and prodeectproprietary rights, all of which provide oniynited protection. In addition, where we determine
necessary, we pursue enforcement of our intellepragerty rights. Such enforcement action may eaussto incur costs, distract the attention of
management, and result in unfavorable public opimiooutcomes that are not in our favor, each dgtlwbould adversely affect our brand, business
and results of operations. While we have filed mber of patent applications and own approximatélys8ued patents worldwide, we cannot assure
you that any additional patents will be issued wébpect to any of our pending or future patentiegions, nor can we assure you that any pe
issued to us will provide adequate protectionhat tiny patents issued to us will not be challenge@lidated, circumvented, or held to be
unenforceable in actions against alleged infring&lso, we cannot assure you that any future trad&rar service mark registrations will be issued
with respect to pending or future applicationshattany of our registered trademarks and servig&smaill be enforceable or provide adequate
protection of our proprietary rights. Furthermaadequate (or any) patent, trademark, service neagyright and trade secret protection may not be
available in every country in which our services available.

We endeavor to enter into agreements with our eyegl® and contractors and with parties with whondwéusiness in order to limit access to
and disclosure of our proprietary information. WWamot be certain that the steps we have takerprelient unauthorized use of our technology o
reverse engineering of our technology. Moreoveérdtharties might
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independently develop technologies that are cortiyetio ours or that infringe upon our intellectpabperty. In addition, the legal standards retatin
to the validity, enforceability and scope of pratec of intellectual property rights in Internetated industries are uncertain and still evolvingth

in the United States and in other countries. Tioégation of our intellectual property rights maypdad on our legal actions against any infringers
being successful. We cannot be sure any such aatitibe successful, and any such action may Ipemesive and divert considerable attention of
management team from the normal operation of osiness.

An assertion from a third party that we are infrinigg its intellectual property, whether such assenis are valid or not, could subject us to cos
and time-consuming litigation or expensive licenses

The Internet, mobile media, software and technoiagystries are characterized by the existencelafge number of patents, copyrights,
trademarks and trade secrets and by frequenttidiydased on allegations of infringement or othietations of intellectual property rights,
domestically or internationally. As we grow anddancreasing competition, the probability that enenore third parties will make intellectual
property rights claims against us increases. lh sases, our technologies may be found to infrovgéhe intellectual property rights of others.
Additionally, many of our subscription agreemengsymequire us to indemnify our customers for ttpatty intellectual property infringement
claims, which would increase our costs if we havddfend such claims and may require that we pmadas and provide alternative services if tl
were an adverse ruling in any such claims. Intali@lcproperty claims could harm our relationshipthwur customers, deter future customers from
subscribing to our products or expose us to litigatwhich could be expensive and divert consideraliention of our management team from the
normal operation of our business. Even if we atearyarty to any litigation between a customer auidird party, an adverse outcome in any such
litigation could make it more difficult for us taefend against intellectual property claims by thiedtparty in any subsequent litigation in which we
are a named party. Any of these results could agleraffect our brand, business and results ofatjwers.

With respect to any intellectual property rightsici against us or our customers, we may have ta@pmages or stop using technology found
to be in violation of a third party’s rights. We ynhave to seek a license for the technology, whiely not be available on reasonable terms or at all,
may significantly increase our operating expensenay significantly restrict our business acti\gtia one or more respects. We may also be req
to develop alternative nonfringing technology, which could require signéiat effort and expense. Any of these outcomes cauNersely affect ot
business and results of operations. Even if wegemecessful in defending ourselves against s@itms] we may incur substantial expenses and the
active defense of such claims may divert considerattention of our management team from the nooparation of our business.

The market for digital media analytics is develoginand if it does not develop further, or develapsre slowly than expected, our business will be
harmed.

The market for digital media analytics productstifl developing, and it is uncertain whether thpsaducts will maintain high levels of deme
and increased market acceptance. Our successapiéindl to a substantial extent on the willingnessoaipanies to increase their use of such pro
and to continue use of such products on a long-bersis. Factors that may affect market acceptaratede:

e the reliability of digital media analytics produy
e public concern regarding privacy and data seci

» decisions of our customers and potential custsritedevelop digital media analytics internallthex than purchasing such products from
third-party suppliers like us;

» decisions by industry associations in the Unf¢ates or in other countries that result in asdimri-directed awards, on behalf of their
members, of digital measurement contracts to orgelionited number of competitive vendors;

< the ability to maintain high levels of customerisfaiction; an
e the rate of growth in eCommerce, online advertisind digital medi:

The market for our products may not develop furtbemay develop more slowly than we expect or eagn contract, all of which could
adversely affect our business and operating results

We depend on third parties for data that is critida our business, and our business could suffemni&é cannot continue to obtain data from these
suppliers.

We rely on third-party data sources for informatiegarding certain activities such as televisiwing and mobile usage, as well as for
information about offline activities of and demoginéc information regarding our panelists. The aaility and accuracy of this data is important to
the continuation and development of our cross-mprdiducts, products that use server- or censusdbaiemation as part of the research
methodology, and products that link online andiéfl
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activity. We may be required to enter into vendsationships, strategic alliances, or even joimtuees with some third-parties in order to obtain
access to the data sources that we need. If floismation is not available to us at commerciallggenable terms, or is found to be inaccurate,itct
harm our reputation, business and financial peréorce.

If the digitally-based or cross-platform focused advertising ande@nerce markets develop more slowly than we expaatpusiness will suffer.

Our future success will depend on continued grawthe use of digital advertising, a cross-platfdoous to buying advertising campaigns, a
continued increase in eCommerce spending and thiéepation of the Internet across platforms, irdihg mobile and connected devices, for a wide
variety of consumer activities. These markets aodving rapidly, and it is not certain that theurreent growth trends will continue.

The adoption of advertising across digital platfsyiparticularly by advertisers that have histohcedlied on traditional offline media, requires
the acceptance of new approaches to conductingdsssand a willingness to invest in such new amghes Moreover the decision to adopt a cross-
platform approach to buying advertisement campaigpiires a change to buying approaches and iagvi#ss to adopt new data analytics to assist
in evaluating such approaches, by advertisemergrisuyho traditionally focus on buying advertisirgmpaigns through one medium. Advertisers
may perceive such new approaches to advertisingaerstanding advertising to be less effective thaditional methods for marketing their
products. They may also be unwilling to pay premiaes for advertising that is targeted at spes#igments of validated users based on their
demographic profile or Internet behavior acrosstalignedia platforms. The digital media advertisamgd eCommerce markets may also be adversely
affected by privacy issues relating to such tajetdvertising, including advertising that makes ofspersonalized information or online behavioral
information. Furthermore, merchants using new digredia platforms may not be able to establisitaligpmmerce models that are cost effective
and may not learn how to effectively compete witleo established websites or offline merchantgaddition, consumers may not continue to shift
their spending on goods and services from offlinébets to other forms of digital media. As a resgiowth in the use of digital media for eCommie
may not continue at a rapid rate, or digital meday not be adopted as a medium of commerce byaallirase of customers or companies
worldwide. Because of the foregoing factors, ameotigrs, the market for cross-platform-focused digitedia advertising and eCommerce, may not
continue to grow at significant rates. If these keés do not continue to develop, or if they devetoge slowly than expected, our business may
suffer.

Because our lon-term success depends, in part, on our ability kpand the sales of our products to customers lodatetside of the United
States, our business will become increasingly sysitee to risks associated with international opéiens.

In recent years, we acquired various businesséssulistantial presence or clientele in multiplar.american, European, Asian and Middle
Eastern countries. Prior to these acquisitionsptluerwise had limited experience operating in marbeatside of the United States. Our inexperience
in operating our business outside of the UnitedeStmay increase the risk that the internationphasion efforts in which we are engaged will no
successful. In addition, conducting internationagm@tions subjects us to risks that we have natrgdlg faced in the United States. These risks
include:

* recruitment and maintenance of a sufficiently lamgd representative panel both globally and iragertountries

« difficulties and expenses associated with tailpour products to local markets as may be reduiselocal customers and joint industry
committees or similar industry organizations;

- difficulties in expanding the adoption of ounger- or census-based web beacon data collectioriémational countries or obtaining access
to other necessary data sources;

- differences in customer buying behavi
« the burdens and expense of complying with a wideetyaof foreign laws and regulatiol

« difficulties in staffing and managing internata operations — including complex and costly fgridisciplinary, and termination
requirements;

« the complexities of foreign valiedded taxes and restrictions on the repatriaticaafings
* reduced or varied protection for intellectual pnapeights in some countries; a
» political, social and economic instability abrogatrorist attacks and security conce
« fluctuations in currency exchange rates;
* increased accounting and reporting burdens and leoitips;
Additionally, operating in international market texgs significant management attention and findmesources. We cannot be certain that the
investments and additional resources requiredtebksh and maintain operations in other countwiishold their value or produce desired levels of

revenues or profitability. We cannot be certairt tha will be able to maintain and increase the sizéhe Internet user panel that we currently ha
various countries, that we will be able to recauit
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representative sample for our audience measurgonedticts, or that we will be able to enter intmagements with a sufficient number of website
owners to allow us to collect server-based inforomator inclusion in our digital media analyticsogucts. In addition, there can be no assurance that
Internet usage and eCommerce will continue to grointernational markets. In addition, governmertathorities in various countries have different
views regarding regulatory oversight of the Intérne

The impact of any one or more of these risks coelglatively affect or delay our plans to expandintarnational business and, consequently,
our future operating results.

Our growth depends upon our ability to retain exiglj large customers and add new large customersyiBwer, to the extent we are not successful
in doing so, our ability to maintain profitabilityand positive cash flow may be impaired.

Our success depends in part on our ability toaellproducts to large customers and on the renefithk subscriptions of those customers in
subsequent years. For the years ended Decemb20B4., 2013 and 2012 , we derived approximately 22%% and 22% , respectively, of our total
revenues from our top 10 customers. Uncertain anamoonditions or other factors, such as the failor consolidation of large customer companies,
or internal reorganization or changes in focus, weyse certain large customers to terminate orceetheir subscriptions. Moreover, certain recently
acquired companies, have revenues highly concedtiata few large customers. The loss of any omaaye of those customers could decrease our
revenues and harm our current and future operatsiglts. The addition of new large customers oreiases in sales to existing large customers may
require particularly long implementation periodsl ather significant upfront costs, which may adegraffect our profitability. To compete
effectively, we have in the past been, and mahénftiture be, forced to offer significant discoutatsnaintain existing customers or acquire other
large customers. In addition, we may be forcecettuce or withdraw from our relationships with certaxisting customers or refrain from acquiring
certain new customers in order to acquire or maintationships with important large customers.ad®sult, new large customers or increased |
of our products by large customers may cause afitpto decline and our ability to sell our protkito other customers could be adversely affected.

As our international operations grow, changes inrfagn currencies could have an increased effect@ur operating results

We operate in several countries in South Ameritepding Brazil, Chile and Argentina as well as iwies in Europe and the United Kingdc
As such, a portion of our revenues and expenses ffiusiness operations in foreign countries aresddrfrom transactions denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of our operaionthose countries. As such, we have exposuaeyerse changes in exchange rates associated
with revenues and operating expenses of our forgpgmations, but we do not currently enter into heglging instruments that hedge foreign curr
exchange rate risk. As we grow our internationarapions, and acquire companies with establishethbss in international regions, our exposure to
foreign currency risk could become more significdur example, at the beginning of 2014 , the D@lar to euro exchange rate was approximately
$1.00 to €0.73 . However, during 2014 , the U.Sldd@o euro exchange rate dropped as low as $0.80.72 and rose as high as $1.00 to €0.82 .
During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the geddaS. Dollar to euro exchange rate was approxiyn&tl.00 to €0.75 . There can be no
guarantee that exchange rates will remain constatthe long-term. In addition to the impact fréme U.S. Dollar to euro exchange rate
movements, we are also impacted by movements iaxtigange rates between the U.S. Dollar and vaBoush American currencies as well as the
Pound Sterling. In addition, cash held overseadavioe subject to income tax withholding paymenis\ifas repatriated to the United States. As of
December 31, 2014 , $14.5 million of the $43.0imilin cash on hand is held by foreign subsidiarieswwuld be subject to income tax withhold
payments if it was repatriated to the United Stdfese were to repatriate these funds to the Wh@eates, they would be subject to income tax
payments ranging from 5% to 45% of the amount regiatl.

The market for digital marketing products is highlgompetitive, and if we cannot compete effectivelyr revenues will decline and our business
will be harmed.

The market for digital marketing products is highympetitive and is evolving rapidly. We competirarily with providers of digital media
intelligence and related analytical products anglises. We also compete with providers of marketagvices and solutions, with full-service survey
providers and with internal solutions developedbgtomers and potential customers. Our principadp=titors include:

» online advertising companies that provide meament of online ad effectiveness and ad deliveegdsr billing purposes, including
Nielsen, DoubleClick (owned by Google), Atlas (owri® Facebook), and certain divisions and prodwitsin Kantar (owned by WPP

» full-service market research firms and surveyvjgters that may measure online behavior and dégtpincluding Harris Interactive, Ipsos,
Synnovate, GFK, certain divisions and products witantar (owned by WPP) and Nielsen;

« companies that provide advertising technology psahtitions, including DoubleVerify, Integral Ad 8cice, MOAT, and WhiteOr.
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» companies that provide behavioral, attitudimal gualitative advertising effectiveness, includirgjuna/Nurago, Datal ogix (being acquired
by Oracle), Context Web's Aperture, Ipsos OTX, DyiaLogic, Insight Express and Marketing Evolution;

e companies that provide audience ratings for TVioratid other media that have extended or may exteidcurrent services, particularly
certain international markets, to the measuremedigital media, including Nielsen, Arbitron (ownég Nielsen), certain divisions and
products within Kantar, Rentrak and Taylor Nelsafr& (owned by WPP);

« large and small companies that create propyietara and analysis of consumers' online behawiciyding Nielsen, Effective Measures,
Gemius, Compete Inc. (owned by WPP), Google, Hitwise (owned by Experian), Quantcast, and VisMkasures;

e analytical services companies that provide custs with detailed information of behavior on thmivn data, content, or web traffic,
including Omniture (owned by Adobe), Coremetricafed by IBM), and WebTrends; and systems provigersiding Accenture, HP,
Pivotal, HortonWorks, Cloudera and Terradata; and

*  specialty information providers for certain istiies that we serve, including Manhattan Resegrealthcare) and The Now Factory
(telecommunications).

Some of our current competitors have longer opagdtistories, access to larger customer basesudrstiasitially greater resources than we do.
As a result, these competitors may be able to deyater resources to marketing and promotiomapa&gns, panel retention, panel development or
development of systems and technologies than welcaudition, some of our competitors may adopteraggressive pricing policies or have ste
to provide some services at no cost. Furthermargelsoftware companies, Internet portals and dagimanagement companies may enter our
market or enhance their current offerings, eithedéveloping competing services or by acquiring@ampetitors, and could leverage their signifi
resources and pre-existing relationships with aurant and potential customers. Finally, consolaabf our competitors could make it difficult for
us to compete effectively.

If we are unable to compete successfully againstourent and future competitors, we may not be ébletain and acquire customers, and we
may consequently experience a decline in revemadaced operating margins, loss of market sharelanuhished value from our products.

We may encounter difficulties managing our growtma costs, which could adversely affect our resufoperations.

We have experienced significant growth over the pegeral years in the U.S. and internationally. Mdee substantially expanded our overall
business, customer base, headcount, data colletprocessing infrastructure and operating praeesdas our business has grown through both
organic growth and acquisitions. From time to timea result of acquisition integration initiatives through efforts to streamline our operational
performance, we may reduce the workforce or reagsgsonnel. Such actions may expose us to disrupii dissatisfied employees or employee-
related claims, including without limitation, clasnby terminated employees that believe they aralon@e compensation than we believe these
employees are due under our compensation and bplefs, or claims maintained internationally inigdictions whose laws and procedures differ
from those in the United States. .

We believe that we will need to continue to effeely manage and expand our organization, operadinddacilities in order to accommodate
potential future growth or acquisitions and to ssstully integrate acquired businesses. If we ooetito grow, either organically or through acquired
businesses, our current systems and facilitiesmoaipe adequate. Our need to effectively manageperations and cost structure requires that we
continue to assess and improve our operationanéial and management controls, reporting systemgeocedures. For example, we may be
required to enter into leases for additional fdedi or commit to significant investments in théldbout of current or new facilities to support our
growth. If we are unable to effectively forecast tacilities needs or if we are unable to sublearserminate leases for unused space, we may
experience increased unexpected costs. If we drahteto efficiently and effectively manage ouststructure or are unable to find appropriate
space to support our needs, our business may karadp

Failure to effectively expand our sales and markedicapabilities could harm our ability to increas®ir customer base and achieve broader
market acceptance of our products.

Increasing our customer base and achieving braadeket acceptance of our products will dependdigaificant extent on our ability to
expand our sales and marketing operations. We expeontinue to rely on our direct sales forceltain new customers. We may expand or
enhance our direct sales force both domesticallyimternationally. We believe that there is sigrafit competition for direct sales personnel with th
sales skills and technical knowledge that we req@ur ability to achieve significant growth in eexwes in the future will depend, in large part, on
our success in recruiting, training and retaininffisient numbers of direct sales personnel, andatuility to cross train our existing sales forcighw
the sales forces of acquired businesses so thaatee personnel have the necessary informatiomlitity to sell or develop sales prospects fohbot
our products and the products of recently-acquitedpanies. In general, new hires require signifiteaining and
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substantial experience before becoming productve.recent hires and planned hires may not becenpecaluctive as we require, and we may be
unable to hire or retain sufficient numbers of diead individuals in the future in the markets wleave currently operate or where we seek to conduct
business. Our business will be seriously harméukifefforts to expand our sales and marketing dijiedare not successful or if they do not
generate a sufficient increase in revenues.

If we fail to develop our brand, our business mayffer.

We believe that building and maintaining awarergsomScore and our portfolio of products in a ezféctive manner is critical to achieving
widespread acceptance of our current and futuréyats and is an important element in attracting nestomers. We will also need to carefully
manage the brands used by recently acquired bgsin@s we integrate such businesses into our oemel)}on our relationships with the media
the exposure we receive from numerous citatiormuoflata by media outlets to build brand awareaadscredibility among our customers and the
marketplace. Furthermore, we believe that brandgmeition will become more important for us as cotitfwa in our market increases. Our brand’s
success will depend on the effectiveness of ouketig efforts and on our ability to provide relialand valuable products to our customers at
competitive prices. Our brand marketing activitiegy not yield increased revenues, and even if tlegyany increased revenues may not offset the
expenses we incur in attempting to build our brdihwe fail to successfully market our brand, weynfiail to attract new customers, retain existing
customers or attract media coverage to the exexgssary to realize a sufficient return on our @amilding efforts, and our business and results of
operations could suffer.

We have a history of significant net losses, magun significant net losses in the future and may tnachieve profitability.

We incurred net losses of $9.9 million , $2.3 roiili, and $11.8 million for the years ended Decer8tie2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.
As such we cannot assure you that we will be ab&ehieve, sustain or increase profitability in fin@re, particularly if we engage in additional
acquisition activity as we did in 2014, 2011 and@0As of December 31, 2014 , we had an accumutiédit of $93.1 million . Because a large
portion of our costs are fixed, we may not be ableeduce our expenses in response to any dedreaserevenues, which would adversely affect
our operating results. In addition, we expect ofilegeexpenses to increase as we implement certaimtly initiatives, which include, among other
things, the development of new products, expansiaur infrastructure, plans for international emp@an and general and administrative expenses
associated with being a public company. If our neass do not increase to offset these expectedasesan costs and operating expenses, our
operating results would be materially and adveraéfigcted. If we continue to incur significant hefses, we may not be able to realize certain
deferred tax assets associated with our net opgrkss carryforwards. As of December 31, 2004 estimate our federal and state net operatiss
carryforwards for tax purposes are approximately.&2nillion and $34.1 million respectively. You should not consider our revegnasvth in recen
periods as indicative of our future performancep@soperating results for future periods are stthife numerous uncertainties.

We have limited experience with respect to our precmodel, and if the fees we charge for our prodsi@are unacceptable to our customers, our
revenues and operating results will be harmed.

We have limited experience in determining the tbes our existing and potential customers will facteptable for our products, the products
of companies that we recently acquired, and angmiat products that are developed as a resulteiritegration of our company with acquired
companies. The majority of our customers purchpeeifically tailored subscription packages thatgnieed in the aggregate. Due to the level of
customization of such subscription packages, thengrof contracts or individual product componeofsuch packages may not be readily
comparable across customers or periods. Existidgpatential customers may have difficulty assestiegvalue of our products and services when
comparing it to competing products and servicesth&smarket for our products matures, or as newpeditors introduce new products or services
that compete with ours, we may be unable to renavwagreements with existing customers or attrast ciestomers with the fees we have historic
charged. As a result, it is possible that futummpetitive dynamics in our market as well as glaminomic pressures may require us to reduce our
fees, which could have an adverse effect on owemess, profitability and operating results.

System failures or delays in the operation of ownsputer and communications systems may harm ouribass.

Our success depends on the efficient and uninteriugperation of our computer and communicatiossesys and the third-party data centers
we use. Our ability to collect and report accudsta may be interrupted by a number of factorduding our inability to access the Internet, the
failure of our network or software systems, computauses, security breaches or variability in usaffic on customer Web sites. A failure of our
network or data gathering procedures could impkdetocessing of data, cause the corruption ordbdata or prevent the timely delivery of our
products.

In the future, we may need to expand our netwotksystems at a more rapid pace than we have ipatste Our network or systems may no
capable of meeting the demand for increased capacitve may incur additional unanticipated expsrteeaccommodate these capacity demands. In
addition, we may lose valuable data, be unablétaio or provide data
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on a timely basis or our network may temporarilytsfown if we fail to adequately expand or maintaim network capabilities to meet future
requirements. Any lapse in our ability to collectimnsmit data may decrease the value of our mtecand prevent us from providing the data
requested by our customers. Any disruption in @iwork processing or loss of Internet user data dzagage our reputation and result in the loss of
customers, and our business and results of opesatiould be adversely affected.

We rely on a small number of third-party servicegwiders to host and deliver our products, and angeirruptions or delays in services from these
third parties could impair the delivery of our pragts and harm our business.

We host our products and serve all of our custorfners data center facilities located throughoutltheted States and Europe. While we
operate our equipment inside these facilities, waat control the operation of these facilities] aslepending on service level requirements, we may
not continue to operate or maintain redundant dader facilities for all of our products or fot af our data, which could increase our vulneraili
These facilities are vulnerable to damage or ingion from earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fipesyer loss, telecommunications failures and
similar events. They are also subject to brigeli-computer viruses, sabotage, intentional dotamdalism and other misconduct. A natural digast
an act of terrorism, a decision to close the faediwithout adequate notice or other unanticipatetlems could result in lengthy interruptions in
availability of our products. We may also encourmtgpacity limitations at our third-party data cestédditionally, our data center facility
agreements are of limited durations, and our datéec facilities have no obligation to renew ttegreements with us on commercially reasonable
terms, if at all. Our agreements for our variousdznter facilities expire at various dates thfo8gptember 2018. We believe that we have good
relationships with our data center facility vendarsl believe that we will be able to renew, or fali@rnative data center facilities, at commergiall
reasonable terms. Although we are not substantiglhendent on our data center facilities becaupéaahed redundancies, and although we
currently are able to migrate to alternative datiaters, such a migration may result in an interompor delay in service. If we are unable to reroei
agreements with the owners of the facilities on carcially reasonable terms, or if we migrate teeev wlata center, we may experience delays in
delivering our products until an agreement withtheodata center facility can be arranged or thgration to a new facility is completed.

If we or the third-party data centers that we useeno experience a major power outage, we would karely on back-up generators, which
may not function properly, and their supply mayitedequate. Such a power outage could result idigraption of our business. Additionally, if our
current facilities fail to have sufficient coolirmgpacity or availability of electrical power, we wd need to find alternative facilities.

We currently leverage a large content delivery nekwor CDN, to provide services that allow us ffeoa more efficient tagging methodology
for certain subscription based measurement angtisproduct offerings. If that service faced wpied outage or the service became immediately
unavailable, an alternate CDN provider or additia@gacity in our data centers would need to batdished to support the large volume of tag
requests that we currently manage which would eitbguire additional investments in equipment adlities or a transition plan. This could
unexpectedly raise the costs and could contritoutietays or losses in tag data that could affextthality and reputation of our Media Metrix, vCE,
and other data products that involve the measureafenlarge amount of digitally transmitted adiwvacross multiple providers.

Further, we depend on access to the Internet thrthigd-party bandwidth providers to operate owsibass. If we lose the services of one or
more of our bandwidth providers for any reasoncewald experience disruption in the delivery of puvducts or be required to retain the services of
a replacement bandwidth provider. It may be diffiéor us to replace any lost bandwidth on commadlgireasonable terms, or at all, due to the large
amount of bandwidth our operations require.

Any errors, defects, disruptions or other perforogaproblems with our products caused by third partould harm our reputation and may
damage our business. Interruptions in the avaitalf our products may reduce our revenues dued@ased turnaround time to complete projects,
cause us to issue credits to customers, causenoeisi®o terminate their subscription and projece@gents or adversely affect our renewal rates
business would be harmed if our customers or piadenistomers believe our products are unreliable.

Laws related to the regulation of the Internet cabadversely affect our busines

Laws and regulations that apply to communicatiars @mmerce over the Internet are becoming moneajeet. In particular, the growth and
development of the market for eCommerce has praga#s for more stringent tax, consumer protectéind privacy laws in the United States and
abroad that may impose additional burdens on cormapanducting business online. The adoption, neatibn or interpretation of laws or
regulations relating to the Internet or our custmshéigital operations could negatively affect the besises of our customers and reduce their de
for our products. Even if such laws and regulatiaresnot enacted, lawmakers and regulators maygbuball into question the collection and use of
Internet or mobile usage data and may affect vendod customers’ willingness to do business with us
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Taxing authorities may successfully assert that sfeould have collected or in the future should caltesales and use, value added or similar taxes,
and we could be subject to liability with respeetgast or future sales, which could adversely affear results of operations.

We do not collect sales and use, value added amthstaxes in all jurisdictions in which we hawades. Sales and use, value added and similar
tax laws and rates vary greatly by jurisdictionrt@ia jurisdictions in which we do not collect suetxes may assert that such taxes are applicable,
which could result in tax assessments, penaltiddraarest, and we may be required to collect $agbs in the future. Such tax assessments, pes
and interest or future requirements may adverdédgiathe results of our operations.

If we fail to respond to evolving industry standagdour products may become obsolete or less cortiyest

The market for our products is characterized bydrégrhnological advances, changes in customeinggents, changes in protocols and
evolving industry standards. For example, induasgociations such as the Advertising Research Fiond the Council of American Survey
Research Organizations, the Internet AdvertisingeBu, or I1AB, and the Media Rating Council haveeipehdently initiated efforts to either review
online market research methodologies or to developmum standards for online market research. Inl&R®11, comScore Direct was accredited by
the Media Rating Council. Any standards adoptetlt&y or internationally based industry associatioay lead to costly changes to our procedures
and methodologies. As a result, the cost of dewedppur digital media analytics products could &ase. If we do not adhere to standards prescribed
by the IAB or other industry associations, our oostrs could choose to purchase products from congpedmpanies that meet such standards.
Furthermore, industry associations based in camtutside of the United States often endorseioargdors or methodologies. If our
methodologies fail to receive an endorsement frarmgportant industry association located in a fgmeiountry, advertising agencies, media
companies and advertisers in that country may aath@ase our products. As a result, our effortaitther expand internationally could be adversely
affected.

The success of our business depends on the condrgrewth of the Internet as a medium for commerocentent, advertising and
communications.

Expansion in the sales of our products dependbh®udntinued acceptance of the digital media datéopm for commerce, content, advertis
and communications. The use of the digital media medium for commerce, content, advertising amdroanications could be adversely impacted
by delays in the development or adoption of newdsiads and protocols to handle increased demardigitdl media activity, security, reliability,
cost, ease-of-use, accessibility and quality-ofiser The performance of the Internet and its atzoege as a medium for commerce, content,
advertising and communications has been harmedrbyes, worms, and similar malicious programs, thednternet has experienced a variety of
outages and other delays as a result of damagetions of its infrastructure. If for any reasowittl media does not remain a medium for
widespread commerce, content, advertising and cariwations, the demand for our products would baeiaantly reduced, which would harm our
business.

We rely on our management team and may need addé#lgersonnel to grow our business; the loss of aremore key employees or the inability
to attract and retain qualified personnel could harour business.

Our success and future growth depends to a signifidegree on the skills and continued servicegipfnanagement team. Our future success
also depends on our ability to retain, attract mmadivate highly skilled technical, managerial, netikg and customer service personnel, including
members of our management team. All of our empleyesrk for us on an at-will basis. We plan to Fdglitional personnel in all areas of our
business, particularly for our sales, marketing utinology development areas, both domesticalliyimtiernationally, which will likely increase our
recruiting and hiring costs. Competition for thégees of personnel is intense, particularly inlifternet and software industries. As a result, veg m
be unable to successfully attract or retain quadifpersonnel. Our inability to retain and attraetmecessary personnel could adversely affect our
business.

Investors could lose confidence in our financialperts, and our business and stock price may be askly affected, if our internal control ove
financial reporting is found by management or by oindependent registered public accounting firm ntat be adequate or if we disclo
significant deficiencies or material weaknessestiose controls

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 meguiis to include a report on our internal corarar financial reporting in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K. That report includes managéimassessment of the effectiveness of our intesoatrol over financial reporting as of the end
the fiscal year. Additionally, our independent stgied public accounting firm is required to isaueport on their evaluation of the operating
effectiveness of our internal control over finahc&porting.

We continue to evaluate our existing internal colstagainst the standards adopted by the Publicpg@oynAccounting Oversight Board, or
PCAOB. During the course of our ongoing evaluatbour internal controls, we have in the past
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identified, and may in the future identify, areaguiring improvement, and may have to design ergtpcocesses and controls to address issues
identified through this review. Remedying any sigaint deficiencies or material weaknesses thabmeur independent registered public accounting
firm may identify could require us to incur sigeiint costs and expend significant time and managerasources. We cannot assure you that any of
the measures we may implement to remedy any sdidietheies will effectively mitigate or remedy sudkficiencies. Further, if we are not able to
complete the assessment under Section 404 in &timenner or to remedy any identified material wesdses, we and our independent registered
public accounting firm would be unable to concldidat our internal control over financial reportiisgeffective at the required reporting deadlinés. |
our internal control over financial reporting isifal by management or by our independent regisfarblic accountant to not be adequate or if we
disclose significant existing or potential defiai@s or material weaknesses in those controlsstove could lose confidence in our financial report
we could be subject to sanctions or investigatpn$he NASDAQ Global Market, the Securities and liattge Commission or other regulatory
authorities and our stock price could be adveratficted.

In future periods, we may upgrade our financiabrépg systems and implement new information tedtgysystems to better manage our
business, streamline our financial reporting arfthece our existing internal controls. We may expee difficulties if we transition to new or
upgraded systems, including loss of data and deesda productivity as our personnel become familith new systems. In addition, we expect that
our existing management information systems mayiregnodification and refinement as we grow andmusiness needs change. Any modificat
could prolong difficulties we experience with systetransitions, and we may not always employ thetrefficient or effective systems for our
purposes. If upgrades cost more or take longerweanticipate, our operating results could be eshhg affected. Moreover, if we experience
difficulties in implementing new or upgraded infation systems or experience system failures, weifire unable to successfully modify our
management information systems to respond to clsangair business needs, our ability to timely affdctively process analyze and prepare
financial statements could be adversely affected.

A determination that there is a significant defimy or material weakness in the effectiveness ofrtternal control over financial reporting
could also reduce our ability to obtain financimgcould increase the cost of any financing we obéeid require additional expenditures to comply
with applicable requirements.

Our net operating loss carryforwards may expire uilized or underutilized, which could prevent usdim offsetting future taxable income.

We have previously experienced “changes in conti@t have triggered the limitations of Section 88#he Internal Revenue Code on a
portion of our net operating loss carryforwards.ad®sult, we may be limited in the amount of rnegrating loss carryforwards that we can use in the
future to offset taxable income for U.S. Federabime tax purposes.

As of December 31, 2014 , we estimate our fedemdlistate net operating loss carryforwards for iappses are approximately $27.8 million
and $34.1 million , respectively. These net oprgalbss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2028 federal income tax reporting purposes and in
2015 for state income tax reporting purposes.

In addition, at December 31, 2014 we estimate ggregate net operating loss carryforwards for tappses related to our foreign subsidiaries
are $15.0 million , which will begin to expire i®27.

We apply a valuation allowance to certain defeteedassets when management does not believe thahdre-likely-than-not that they will be
realized. In assessing the need for any valuatiowances, we consider the reversal of existingprary differences associated with deferred tax
assets and liabilities, future taxable income,piaxning strategies and historical and future prektook income (as adjusted for permanent
differences between financial and tax accountieqg) in order to determine if it is more likely thaot that the deferred tax asset will be realized.
For example, we have had several recent yearsedépiosses, and further losses may present evidbateur net operating loss carryforwards r
not be realized in future periods.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had a valuation allmeaelated to the deferred tax assets (primaetyoperating loss carryforwards) of our
foreign subsidiary in Spain that is a loss compdmy deferred tax asset related to our U.S. cdpsal carryforwards, and the deferred tax asset
related to certain state net operating loss candods. Management will continue to evaluate therded tax position of our U.S. and foreign
companies to determine the appropriate level afatédn allowance required against our deferrechtsets.

Restrictive covenants in the agreements governing current and future indebtedness could restriaiooperating flexibility.

The agreements governing our existing debt, antlwlelmay incur in the future, contain, or may camtaffirmative and negative covenants
that materially limit our ability to take certaisteons, including our ability to incur debt, payidiends

24




Table of Contents

and repurchase stock, make certain investmentstaed payments, enter into certain mergers andatidiasions, and encumber and dispose of as
Credit market turmoil, adverse events affectinglmusiness or industry, the tightening of lendirangards or other factors could negatively impact
our ability to obtain future financing or to refimze our outstanding indebtedness on terms acceptabk or at all.

We may require additional capital to support busgsegrowth, and this capital may not be available arceptable terms or at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to supparbusiness growth and may require additionadifuto respond to business challenges,
including the need to develop new products or echaur existing products, enhance our operatimgstfucture and acquire complementary
businesses and technologies.

Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity ortdielncings to secure additional funds. If we eagslditional funds through further
issuances of equity or convertible debt securites existing stockholders could suffer significdiltition, and any new equity securities we issue
could have rights, preferences and privileges sop&r those of holders of our common stock. Anptdénancing secured by us in the future could
include restrictive covenants relating to our capiising activities and other financial and opieraal matters, which may make it more difficult fo
us to obtain additional capital and to pursue essropportunities, including potential acquisitidnsaddition, we may not be able to obtain
additional financing on terms favorable to us oalatlf we are unable to obtain adequate finan@ng§inancing on terms satisfactory to us when we
require it, our ability to continue to support daursiness growth and to respond to business chakecmuld be significantly limited. In addition, the
terms of any additional equity or debt issuanceg attversely affect the value and price of our comstock.

Risks Related to the Securities Market and Ownershpi of our Common Stock

The trading price of our common stock may be subjexsignificant fluctuations and volatility, and ar new stockholders may be unable to resell
their shares at a profit.

The stock markets, in general, and the markettefdmology stocks in particular, have experiendgtl fevels of volatility. The market for
technology stocks has been extremely volatile asgufently reaches levels that bear no relationghipe past or present operating performance of
those companies. These broad market fluctuationysaneersely affect the trading price of our commstwck. In addition, the trading price of our
common stock has been subject to significant flatbms and may continue to fluctuate or decline.

The price of our common stock in the market maypilgber or lower than the price you pay, dependimgnany factors, some of which are
beyond our control and may not be related to oerang performance. It is possible that, in futguarters, our operating results may be below the
expectations of analysts or investors. As a resfithese and other factors, the price of our comstook may decline, possibly materially. These
fluctuations could cause you to lose all or payaidir investment in our common stock. Factors tloatd cause fluctuations in the trading price af
common stock include the following:

e price and volume fluctuations in the overall stot&rket from time to timu

< volatility in the market price and trading volumietechnology companies and of companies in ourstrgt
e actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations inaperating result

e actual or anticipated changes in expectations dagguwour performance by investors or securitiedysits
« the failure of securities analysts to cover our g@n stock or changes in financial estimates byyaies

e actual or anticipated developments in our coitgrst businesses or the competitive landsc

e actual or perceived inaccuracies in, or dissatigfaavith, information we provide to our customershe medic
e litigation involving us, our industry or bo

e regulatory developmen

e privacy and security concerns, including publicgegtion of our practices as an invasion of priv

* general economic conditions and trei

e major catastrophic even

« sales of large blocks of our sto

e the timing and success of new product introductmmgpgrades by us or our competit

e changes in our pricing policies or payment termghose of our competito

» concerns relating to the security of our networtét aystem:
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» our ability to expand our operations, domesticatiyl internationally, and the amount and timing>gfenditures related to this expansior
e departures of key personr

In the past, following periods of volatility in thearket price of a company’s securities, securitlass action litigation has often been brought
against that company. If our stock price is vodatiwe may become the target of securities litigatwhich could result in substantial costs and dive
our management’s attention and resources from wsinbess. In addition, volatility, lack of positiperformance in our stock price or changes to our
overall compensation program, including our eqiritentive program, may adversely affect our abtiityetain key employees.

If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch or reports about our business or if thesuie an adverse or misleading opinion regardi
our stock, our stock price and trading volume coudécline.

The trading market for our common stock will bduehced by the research and reports that industsgaurities analysts publish about us or
our business. If any of the analysts who covessigé an adverse or misleading opinion regardingtogk, our stock price would likely decline. If
one or more of these analysts cease coverage abaysany or fail to publish reports on us regulang could lose visibility in the financial marke
which in turn could cause our stock price or trgdmlume to decline.

We have incurred and will continue to incur incread costs and demands upon management as a resabwifplying with the laws and
regulations affecting a public company, which couédiversely affect our operating results.

As a public company, we have incurred and will gare to incur significant legal, accounting andestbxpenses that we would not otherwise
incur if we were a private company. In additiore ®arbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the Dodd-FranK Btaetet Reform and Consumer Protection
Act, as well as rules implemented by the Securdieds Exchange Commission and The NASDAQ Stock Markgquires certain corporate
governance practices for public companies. Our gamant and other personnel devote a substantial@mbtime to public reporting requirements
and corporate governance. These rules and reguddt@ave significantly increased our legal and farancompliance costs and made some activities
more time-consuming and costly. We also have irchiadditional costs associated with our public camypreporting requirements. If these costs do
not continue to be offset by increased revenuesraptbved financial performance, our operating lsswould be adversely affected. These rules
regulations also make it more difficult and mor@ensive for us to obtain director and officer llapinsurance, and we may be required to accept
reduced policy limits and coverage or incur sult&dn higher costs to obtain the same or similaverage if these costs continue to rise. As atesul
it may be more difficult for us to attract and iatqualified people to serve on our board of divesior as executive officers.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation antlylaws and under Delaware law might discourage,alebr prevent a change of control of o
company or changes in our management and, therefatepress the trading price of our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws containvisions that could depress the trading priceuwwfcommon stock by acting to discourage,
delay or prevent a change of control of our compamnghanges in our management that the stockhotdengr company may deem advantageous.
These provisions:

» provide for a classified board of directors so thattall members of our board of directors aretelat one tim

« authorize “blank check” preferred stock that board of directors could issue to increase thelrarof outstanding shares to discourage a
takeover attempt;

« prohibit stockholder action by written consent, ethmeans that all stockholder actions must be takenmeeting of our stockholde

«  prohibit stockholders from calling a special megtaf our stockholder

« provide that the board of directors is expressthanized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws;

< provide for advance notice requirements for noniimat for elections to our board of directors orfooposing matters that can be acted 1
by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

Additionally, we are subject to Section 203 of belaware General Corporation Law, which prohibiBedaware corporation from engaging in
any of a broad range of business combinations avith“interested” stockholder for a period of thyears following the date on which the
stockholder became an “interested” stockholdenamidh may discourage, delay or prevent a changewtrol of our company.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters and executive office$oaated in Reston, Virginia, where we occupy agipnately 96,000 square feet of office
space under a lease that initially expires in 2@&Rpugh we have an option to extend until 208Bjext to certain conditions. We also lease space i
various locations throughout the United StatestiNAmerica, South America, Europe, and Asia foesand other personnel. If we require
additional space, we believe that we would be @btEbtain such space on commercially reasonaliester

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In addition to the following matter, we are, andynb@come, a party to a variety of legal proceedthgsarise in the normal course of our
business. While the results of such legal procegdimnnot be predicted with certainty, managemeligJes that, based on current knowledge, the
final outcome of the current pending matters wilt have a material adverse effect on our finarmmaition, results of operations or cash flows. We
are otherwise not presently a party to any penfgiggl proceedings the outcome of which we beliéwagtermined adversely to us, would
individually or in the aggregate have a materialexde impact on our consolidated results of opamaticash flows or financial position. Regardless
of the outcome, legal proceedings can have an se\edfect on us because of defense costs, dives§imanagement resources and other factors.

Privacy Class Action Litigatio

On August 23, 2011, we received notice that Mikeridand Jeff Dunstan, individually and on behdlaalass of similarly situated individue
filed a lawsuit against us in the United StatedrisCourt for the Northern District of lllinoi€astern Division, alleging, among other things,
violations by us of the Stored Communications Awg, Electronic Communications Privacy Act, Compireaud and Abuse Act and the lllinois
Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Practices Act asaselhjust enrichment. The complaint seeks unspdaifamages, including statutory damage:
violation and punitive damages, injunctive reliaflaeasonable attorneys’ fees of the plaintiffSObtober 2012, the plaintiffs filed an amended
complaint which, among other things, removed tlaéntirelating to alleged violations of the Illind@nsumer Fraud and Deceptive Practices Act
April 2, 2013, the District Court issued an ordertifying a class for only three of the four claimsfusing to certify a class for unjust enrichme@tr
May 30, 2014, we and the plaintiffs proposed adtivet settlement subject to approval by the Distiourt, and on October 1, 2014, the Court issued
its final approval of those terms. We were reqlibl@establish a $14 million settlement fund frofiniet class member claims, attorneys’ fees and
incentive awards, costs, and administrative expendébe paid. We and our insurers contributethi fund, of which our share was $3.5 million.
The settlement also requires us to alter certaitigms of our privacy policy and implement certauditional protocols to ensure that our privacy
practices remain consistent with its disclosuresotisumers. For additional details, see FootnatetBe consolidated financial statements include
Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ dldlarket under the symbol “SCOR” since our inifiaiblic offering in June 2007.
The following table sets forth the high and lowesaprices of our common stock for each period mtdit and are as reported by the NASDAQ Gl
Market.

2014 2013
Fiscal Period High Low High Low
First Quarter $ 336z $ 26.5¢ $ 1742 $ 13.9¢
Second Quarter $ 359t $ 28.0: $ 24.3¢ % 15.67
Third Quarter $ 39.4: $ 36.1¢ $ 29.7¢ $ 24.6:
Fourth Quarter $ 476C $ 35.66 $ 29.0¢ $ 25.8:

HOLDERS

As of February 19, 2015 there were 80 stockhold&rscord of our common stock, although we belithat there may be a significantly larger
number of beneficial owners of our common stock. dgved the number of stockholders by reviewirglisting of outstanding common stock
recorded by our transfer agent as of February 095 2

STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the cumulative totatkholder return on our common stock between Déegr@1, 2009 and December 31,
2014 to the cumulative total returns of the NASDEAQmposite Index and NASDAQ Computer Index overddume period. This graph assumes the
investment of $100 at the closing price of the retglon December 31, 2009 in our common stock, h8MAQ Composite Index and the NASD/
Computer Index, and assumes the reinvestment afadids, if any. We have never paid dividends oncommmon stock and have no present plans to
do so.

The comparisons shown in the following graph amgebaupon historical data. We caution that the spoie performance shown in the graph
below is not necessarily indicative of, nor isitended to forecast, the potential future perforreast our common stock.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
among comScore, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index
and The NASDAQ Computer Index
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=$=comScore, Inc. === N ASDAQ Com posite Index = NASDAQ Com puter index
* $100 invested upon market close of the NASDA@®HaI Market on December 31, 2009, including reitmesit of dividends.
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The preceding Stock Performance Graph is not dedifeeldvith the Securities and Exchange Commissind shall not be incorporated by
reference in any of our filings under the Secwitdet of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exgihdwt of 1934, as amended, whether made
before or after the date hereof and irrespectivengfgeneral incorporation language in any suatngfil

DIVIDEND POLICY

Since our inception, we have not declared or paydcash dividends. We currently expect to retashagenerated from operations for use ir
operation and expansion of our business and therdfonot anticipate paying any cash dividendsénforeseeable future. There is no restriction
against paying dividends under our current cregliéement.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The information required by this item regarding iggonompensation plans is set forth in Part lignit 12 “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stdd&hMatters” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
(a) Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities durittge Three Months Ended December 31, 2014
None.

(b) Use of Proceeds from Sale of Registered EqSiggcurities
None.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS
During the three months ended December 31, 20Eirepurchased the following shares of common stock:

Maximum
Number (or
Approximate
Total Dollar
Number of Value) of
Shares (or Shares (or
Units) Units) that
Purchased as May
Part Yet Be
of Publicly Purchased
Total Number of Average Price Announced Under the
Shares (or Units) Paid Per Plans or Plans or
Purchased (1) Share (or Unit) Programs (2) Programs
October 1 - October 31, 2014 23,80¢ $ 31.1¢ 7,76¢ 49.1
November 1 - November 30, 2014 19,20( $ 41.62 — 49.1
December 1 - December 31, 2014 — % — — 491
Total 43,00¢ 7,76 49.1

(1) The shares included in the table above wererobjased either in connection with (i) our exeradbthe repurchase right afforded to us in
connection with certain employee restricted stoghras (ii) the forfeiture of shares by an emplogsgayment of the minimum statutory withholc
taxes due upon the vesting of certain employeeictd stock and restricted stock unit awardsigrursuant to our share repurchase programs
described in further detail in footnote (2) to ttable.

(i) For the three months ended December 31, 2@i€ shares repurchased in connection with our eseeof the repurchase right afforded to us
upon the cessation of employment consisted ofdahewing:

Total Number of Average Price
Shares Purchased Per Share
October 1 - October 31, 2014 414 $ —
November 1 - November 30, 2014 68C $ —
December 1 - December 31, 2014 — % —
Total 4,82¢
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(ii) The shares we repurchased in connection vighpayment of minimum statutory withholding taxeg dipon the vesting of certain restric
stock and restricted stock unit awards were re@seth at the then current fair market value of Heges. For the three months ended December 31,
2014 , these shares consisted of the following:

Total Number of Average Price
Shares Purchased Per Share
October 1 - October 31, 2014 11,89¢ $ 38.3¢
November 1 - November 30, 2014 1852( % 43.1°F
December 1 - December 31, 2014 —  $ —
Total 30,41¢

(2) During the three months ended December 31, ,20&4onducted one share repurchase program amtjdboe year ended December 31, 2014
conducted two share repurchase programs.

June 2013 Share Repurchase Prog!

On June 3, 2013 we announced that our board aftdiehad approved the repurchase of up to $50l@mof our common stock. This
repurchase program concluded on May 29, 2014 andteel in the repurchase of $49.4 million of shdessmeasured at the time of repurchase).

As part of this share repurchase program, shares pegchased in open market transactions or putrsaantrading plan adopted in accordance
with Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act. The timinggrmer, price and amount of any repurchases weeendigied at our discretion. Shares
repurchased were classified as Treasury StockilDefahe share repurchases during the year ebdegmber 31, 2014 under the June 2013 share
repurchase program were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014
(Amounts in millions, except share and per shata)da
Total number of shares repurchased 1,237,572
Average price paid per share $29.33
Total value of shares repurchased (as measuredeabf repurchase) $36.3

June 2014 Share Repurchase Progi

On June 5, 2014 we announced that our board aftdnrehad approved the repurchase of up to aniaddit$50.0 million of our common
stock. Such repurchases may be made from timentogiibject to pre-determined price and volume djuiee established by our board of directors
and commenced on June 6, 2014. As of December034, 2here is $49.1 million remaining under tharstrepurchase program.

As part of the share repurchase program, sharedmpyrchased in open market transactions or potrso@ny trading plan that may be
adopted in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 of the EmghaAct. The timing, manner, price and amount gf @purchases will be determined at our
discretion, and the share repurchase program maysdpended, terminated or modified at any timefgrreason. Shares repurchased are classified
as Treasury Stock. Details of the share repurchsdisg the year ended December 31, 2014 undeluhe 2014 share repurchase program were as
follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014
(Amounts in millions, except share and per shata)da
Total number of shares repurchased 23,865
Average price paid per share $37.71
Total value of shares repurchased (as measuredeabf repurchase) $0.9
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial dsttauld be read in conjunction with our consoliddtedncial statements and the
accompanying notes and “Management’s DiscussiorAaradlsis of Financial Condition and Results of @gens”included elsewhere in this repc
The selected data in this section is not intendeéplace the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated statements of operations datahendonsolidated statements of cash flows dataedoh of the three years ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 as well as theotidated balance sheet data as of December 34,&@ 2013 are derived from and should be
read together with our audited consolidated finalngtiatements and related notes appearing ingpit. The consolidated statements of operations
data and the consolidated statements of cash flatesfor the years ended December 31, 2011 and&20d@Il as the consolidated balance sheel
as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 are defiisedour audited consolidated financial statemewtsincluded in this report. Our historical
results are not necessarily indicative of resualtse expected for future periods.

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Consolidated Statement of
Operations Data:

Revenues $ 329,15. % 286,86( $ 255,19! $ 232,39 $ 174,99¢
Cost of revenues (1) 97,467 89,96 86,37¢ 75,10: 51,95:
Selling and marketing (1) 103,52! 99,947 91,84¢ 78,28¢ 59,64:
Research and development (1) 60,36¢ 41,02¢ 33,99¢ 34,05( 26,37
General and administrative (1) 62,92 46,44¢ 38,13¢ 48,51« 33,95
Amortization of intangible assets 7,23( 7,957 9,28¢ 9,301 4 53¢
Impairment of intangible assets 9,72 — 3,34¢ — —
Gain on asset disposition — (219 — — —
Settlement of litigation 2,70( (1,360 — 5,17¢ —
Total expenses from operations 343,93: 283,76 262,99 250,43. 176,45¢
Income (loss) from operations (14,780 3,09: (7,807 (18,040 (1,459
Interest and other (expense) income, ne (1,247 (93¢ (870 (52%) 53
Gain (loss) from foreign currency
transactions 80¢ (62 (744 (410 (347)
Gain on sale of marketable securities — — — 211 —
(Loss) income before income taxes (15,219 2,09: (9,415 (18,769 (1,759
Benefit (provision) for income taxes 5,31t (4,426 (2,379 2,97 177
Net loss $ (9,909 $ (2,33) $ (11,789 $ (15,790 $ (1,57¢)
Net loss per common share:

Basic $ 029 % (0.09) $ 035 $ 0.49 $ (0.0%)

Diluted $ 0.29 ¢ (0.09) $ (0.35) $ (049 $ (0.0%)

Weighted-average number of shares used
in per share calculations:

Basic 33,689,66 34,443,12 33,244,79 32,289,87 31,070,01
Diluted 33,689,66 34,443,12 33,244,79 32,289,87 31,070,01

(1) Amortization of stock-based compensatioimétuded in the line items above as follows

Cost of revenues $ 4001 $ 3,34¢ $ 2,481 $ 1,97¢ $ 1,49¢
Selling and marketing $ 10,77¢  $ 11,06: $ 12,28:  $ 851: $ 6,217
Research and development $ 4,61C $ 3,021 % 191¢ $ 1,98t $ 1,86¢
General and administrative $ 2257¢  $ 9,60¢ $ 8,21: $ 8,78 $ 8,19t
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December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

(In thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 43,01 $ 67,79° $ 61,76¢ $ 38,07: $ 33,73¢
Total current assets $ 178,88: $ 178,79¢ % 148,92¢ $ 126,50¢ $ 103,09'
Total assets $ 353,95. $ 363,41 $ 336,48 $ 320,05 $ 283,07¢
Total current liabilities $ 151,61( $ 134,97 $ 121,30t $ 112,39( $ 97,22¢
Equipment loan and capital lease obligations, lterg: $ 13,07 $ 13,33( $ 6,47¢ $ 6,67¢ $ 7,95¢
Stockholders’ equity $ 175,26 $ 198,80: $ 195,64: $ 190,560 $ 165,83:
Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Data:

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 49,497 $ 4457: % 44.87. $ 26,75( % 25,41(
Depreciation and amortization $ 25,21 $ 2473 % 23,44¢ $ 22,65 $ 12,95¢
Capital expenditures $ 7,64¢ % 4597 $ 7590 $ 7,23t % 5,11¢

Please see “Critical Accounting Policies and Estasaunder Part I, Item 7 of this Annual Reportleorm 10-K for further discussion of key
accounting changes which occurred during the yearsred in the above table. Additional informatifegarding business combinations and
dispositions for the relevant periods above mafobed in the notes accompanying our consolidateahitial statements included in Part Il, Item !
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIALCONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and the related notes to tlstastements included elsewhere in Part Il Item ghisf Annual Report on Form -K. In addition to
historical financial information, the following disssion and analysis contains forward-looking steats that involve risks, uncertainties and
assumptions. Our actual results and timing of felevents may differ materially from those anétdgl in these forward-looking statements as a
result of many factors, including those discussedien Item 1A, “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in thisnual Report on Form 10-K. See also
“Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Lookingt8taents” at the beginning of this Form 10-K.

Overview

We provide trusted, independent data, metrics,ymtsdand services to clients in the media, adwegtignd marketing industries. We deliver
digital media analytics that help content ownerd advertisers understand--and thus properly vah®eomposition of consumer media audiences,
and we help marketers understand the performarteféectiveness of advertising targeted at theskeaces.

We are a technology-driven company that measures pdgople do as they navigate the digital worldsemultiple technology platforms and
devices including smartphones, tablets, televisiand desktop computers. Our technology measuresiater interactions with digital media,
including Web sites, apps, video programming anegising.

We combine proprietary comScore data with our tdieown data and data from partners, to providguely valuable digital media analytics.
We deliver on-demand and real-time products andaes through a scalable Software-as-Service dglinedel which supports both comScore
branded products and also partner products iniagrabmScore data and services. During the yeaezcbécember 31, 2014, we provided service to
approximately 2,550 customers worldwide with owdat geographic base of employees located in 3Zidosain 24 countries.

Our company was founded in August 1999, and we baea publicly traded since our initial public affeg in 2007. As we have grown as a
public company, we have continued to evolve. Fangxle, from 2008 to 2011, we completed targetediaitipns of several businesses with
complementary research and analytics capabiliidsbaisinesses with an established presence in EamgLatin America to expand our global
footprint. Our revenues and expenses grew throbighperiod, driven primarily by growth in our pradwfferings, increased sales to existing
customers, and the resulting expansion of our custdase outside the United States following oguisitions and increased international sales
efforts. Since 2010, we have increasingly focusatt@chnology, research, and data science asseexpertise on developing new products and
services that report on advertising performanceedfattiveness, most notably our flagship ValidaBzinpaign Essentials product. We have also
made large investments in multi-platform and cnoestia solutions measuring digital content consuompgicross smartphone, tablet and desktop
platforms, and also linking digital video consuroptiwith metrics measuring traditional linear tegon viewing. In recent years, our strategy hag
involved a series of strategic partnerships alev@dimensions: Product development and productibligion. Product development has been
enhanced through partnerships which provide us laftfe volumes of consumer demographics and segt@mtiata which improves the accuracy
and granularity of our products and services. Pebdistribution has been significantly widened tigh partnerships which integrate our metrics and
services into the third party platforms used bgrmis. We believe these investments in advertisiegsurement and multi-platform/cross-media
measurement are poised to converge and offer gigntfrevenue potential in the years ahead as waipwur mission of making audiences and
advertising more valuable.

Key Metrics
Year ended December,
2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)
Revenuéd® $ 325,15( $ 27492, $ 239,57¢
Adjusted EBITDA*®® $ 75,85¢ $ 61,25: $ 50,17¢
Adjusted EBITDA Margin* 23% 22% 21%

* Adjusted EBITDA is not calculated in accordaneith generally accepted accounting principles, &AB. A reconciliation of this non-GAAP measure ke tmost directly comparable GAAP-based measure
along with a summary of the definition and its mitdimitation are included in the section titl“-Non-GAAP Financial Measure”

®we divested our Non-Health Copy Testing and Coméiian Manager products in March 2013. Amountstfieryear ended December 31, 2013 and Decembef32,iclude adjustments to exclude Non-
Health Copy Testing and Configuration Manager potsland are based on management's estimates fwbeue and results of
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operations of such products.
@ comScore classified its mobile operator analytiggsibn CSWS as held for sale in the fourth quaoie2014. 2014, 2013 and 2012 amounts include adjrsts to exclude the mobile operator analyticgsitin
and are based on management'’s estimates of theuasd results of operations of the division.

We monitor the key financial and operating metsesforth in the preceding table to help us evaltiinds and measure the effectiveness and
efficiency of our operations. We discuss our reeimuthe section titled “Our Revenues” and “Resoft©perations” and Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA margin in the section titled “NonABP Financial Measures.”

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To provide investors with additional informatiorgeeding our financial results, we have disclosgdsidd EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA
margin, which are both non-GAAP financial measures.

We present these non-GAAP financial measures bedaay are key measures used by our managemebband of directors to
understand and evaluate our core operating perfarenand trends. We believe that these non-GAARilahmeasures provide useful information
to investors and others in understanding and etiatliaur operating results in the same manner asnanagement and board of directors.

We define adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) ;phunsortization of intangible assets, impairmenintdingible assets, stock-based
compensation, costs related to acquisitions, resstring and other infrequently occurring items{lsetent of litigation, gain on ARS disposition,
pro-forma adjustment to exclude the non-Health Gdpsting and Configuration Manager products anémefl tax provision, current cash tax
provision, depreciation, and interest expense (im&o net. Adjusted EBITDA margin is the quotientafjusted EBITDA divided by total revenue.

Our use of these non-GAAP financial measures haigaliions as an analytical tool, and you shouldawetsider them in isolation or as a
substitute for analysis of our results as repouteder GAAP. These limitations are:

» although depreciation and amortization are nashaharges, the assets being depreciated maydbeeaeplaced in the future, and
adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital exiitene requirements for such replacements or far c&pital expenditure requirements;

» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, ohaasgjuirements for, our working capital ne:

» adjusted EBITDA does not consider the impaatafity-based compensatic

» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect tax payments thay represent a reduction in cash available tauoc

« other companies, including companies in our &gy may calculate adjusted EBITDA differently, islhreduces its usefulness as a
comparative measure.

Because of these and other limitations, you shoolider adjusted EBITDA alongside other GAB&sed financial performance meast
including various cash flow metrics, net incomesglpand our other GAAP financial results. Manageraddresses the inherent limitations
associated with using adjusted EBITDA through disate of such limitations, presentation of our fiicial statements in accordance with GAAP
reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to the most ditgcomparable GAAP measure, net income (loss)tHeny management also reviews GAAP
measures, and evaluates individual measures thaiaincluded in adjusted EBITDA such as our lefatapital expenditures and interest expense,
among other items.
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The following table presents a reconciliation ofuated EBITDA to net loss, the most comparable GAA&asure, for each of the periods
identified:

Year ended December,

2014 2013 2012
(dollars in thousands)

Net loss $ (9,909 % (2,33) % (11,789
Amortization of intangible assets 7,23( 7,957 9,28¢
Impairment of intangible assets 9,72 — 3,34¢
Stock-based compensation 41,97: 27,03t 24,89¢
Costs related to acquisitions, restructuring ameiohon-
recurring items 5,58¢ 7,01F 1,437
Settlement of litigation 2,70C (1,360 —
Gain on asset disposition — (219 —
Adjustment to exclude non-Health Copy-Testing and
Configuration Manager products — (270 (1,572
Adjustment to exclude Mobile Operator Analytics
Division 4,63 1,181 7,37¢
Non-cash portion of current tax provision relateexcess
tax benefits from stock based compensation (2) 5,757 —
Deferred tax (benefit) provision (13,069 2,381 89¢
Current cash tax provision(2) 1,992 2,04t 1,47¢
Depreciation 17,98: 16,77 14,15¢
Interest and other expense, net 1,247 93¢ 65¢
Adjusted EBITDA (1) $ 75,85¢ % 61,25: % 50,17¢
Adjusted EBITDA margin(1) 23% 22% 21%

(1) Management estimates pro forma revenues of $4§101938 and $15,615 in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respdctand total pro forma expense:
$8,638, $12,949 and $21,421 in 2014, 2013 and 2@%pectively, related to the non-Health Cdmsting and Configuration Manager produ
which we disposed of in March 2013 and the Mobife@tor Analytics Division, which we have clasgifigs held for sale as of December 31,
2014, in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Calingebased on revenues excluding those amountsstadj EBITDA margin would have been
23%, 22% and 21% during the years ended Decemh@034, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

(2) Included in the tax provision for the year eddecember 31, 2014 was $5.8 million of non-casheat tax expense related to excess tax
benefits from stock based compensation.

Our Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from the fees thatcharge for subscription-based products, cugetnprojects, and software licenses. We
define subscription-based revenues as revenuewéhgénerate from products that we deliver to @aotasr on a recurring basis, as well as
arrangements where a customer is committindraipt to purchase a series of deliverables ovee tiwhich includes revenue from software licens:
further discussed below. We define project revemsagvenues that we generate from customizedgisdjeat are performed for a specific customer
on an infrequently occurring basis. A significahticacteristic of our SaaS-based business modal ii@e percentage of subscription-based
contracts. Subscription-based revenues accounté&®® , 87% and 85% of total revenues in the yeaded December 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 ,
respectively. Many of our customers who initiallyrphased a customized project have subsequenitha@sed one of our subscription-based
products. Similarly, many of our subscription-basadtomers have subsequently purchased additiastdroized projects.

Historically, we have generated most of our reverfuem the sale and delivery of our products to panies and organizations located within
the United States. We will continue to expand oternational revenues by selling our products apulaying our direct sales force model in
additional international markets in the future. B year ended December 31, 2014 , our interratr@venues were $97.1 million , an increase of
$13.0 million , or 15% over international revenoé$84.1 million for the year ended December 31,20International revenues comprised
approximately 29% , 29% and 28% of our total rexeenior the fiscal years ended December 31, 20043 and 2012 , respectively.
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We anticipate that revenues from our U.S. customélgontinue to constitute a substantial port@frour revenues in future periods, but we
expect that revenues from customers outside dfitBe will increase as a percentage of total revemsenve build greater international recognition of
our brand and expand our sales operations globally.

Subscription Revenue

We generate a significant portion of our subsasipfbased revenues from our Media Mefrproduct suite. Products within the Media Metftix
suite include: Video MetriX', Mobile Metrix™, Plan Metrix™, Ad Metrix ™ and Media MetriX® Multi- Platform (MMX MP). These product offerin
provide subscribers with intelligence on digitaldizeusage, audience characteristics, audience deptugs and online and offline purchasing
behavior. Customers who subscribe to our Media iMenoducts are provided with login IDs to our waite, have access to our database and can
generate reports at any time.

In recent years, we began generating additionalaigiion revenues from our flagship advertisingyse, Validated Campaign Essentials
(vCE). In January 2014, we entered into a partig@greement with Google to integrate vCE diretttp the DoubleClick ad management platform,
allowing DoubleClick customers to add vCE to theircampaigns with a single click. While vCE progdey analytics about advertising campaigns
to ad buyers, we also offer Validated Media Ess¢én{vME) to advertising sellers, allowing themetaluate their advertising inventory and optirr
their monetization strategy with metrics comparablthose used by ad buyers. As of December 34,201 strategic partnerships with Google and
Yahoo were live and generating revenues.

We also generate subscription-based revenues feotairc reports and analyses provided through ostiocter research product, if that work is
procured by customers on a recurring basis. Thraugltustomer research products, we deliver digitdiia analytics relating to specific industries,
such as automotive, consumer packaged goods, anteent, financial services, media, pharmaceutiedjl, technology, telecommunications and
travel. This marketing intelligence leverages dobgl consumer panel and extensive database teed@liformation unique to a particular custorser’
needs on a recurring schedule, as well as on @éncaMaccess basis. Our Marketing Solutions cust@geeements typically include a fixed fee with
an initial term of at least one year. We also ptevthese products on a non-subscription basisszsided under “Project Revenues”.

In addition, we generate subscription-based rev&froen survey products that we sell to our cust@mier conducting our surveys, we
generally use our global Internet user panel. Ajtestionnaires are distributed to the panel mesnéned completed, we compile their responses and
then deliver our findings to the customer, who dlas ongoing access to the survey response ddtayare compiled and updated over time. This
data include responses and information collecteah fthe actual survey questionnaires and can atdoede behavioral information that we passively
collect from our panelists. If a customer has #ohysof purchasing survey products in each of #st four quarters, then we believe this indicdtes t
surveys are being conducted on a recurring basiswe classify the revenues generated from suakegyaroducts as subscription-based revenues.
Our contracts for survey services typically includfixed fee with terms that range from two mortthene year.

Our acquisition of Nedstat resulted in additiorlanue sources, including software subscripticarses calls, and professional services. Our
arrangements generally contain multiple elemenmtssisting of the various service offerings. Foistheevenue streams, revenue is recognized on a
usage basis when the impression is delivered gmaitesl via the AdXpose service portal.

Project Revenue

We generate project revenues by providing custatmie@ports to our customers on a nonrecurring liasisigh comScore Marketing Solutions.
For example, a customer in the media industry mightiest a custom report that profiles the behafitihe customer’s active online users and
contrasts their market share and loyalty with simihetrics for a competit@’online user base. If this customer continuesdqoest the report beyo
an initial project term of at least nine months antkrs into an agreement to purchase the repatreourring basis, we begin to classify theseréutu
revenues as subscription-based.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caadiand results of operations are based on oumtidased financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. generallgmed accounting principles. The preparation odéHénancial statements requires us to make
estimates, assumptions and judgments that affearntounts reported in our consolidated financiatkestents and the accompanying notes. We base
our estimates on historical experience and on vargher assumptions that we believe to be reaooaler the circumstances. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
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While our significant accounting policies are désed in more detail in the notes to our consoliddteancial statements included in Part I,
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form X)-we believe the following accounting policiesite the most critical to the judgments and estimasesl ir
the preparation of our consolidated financial stegmsts.

Revenue Recognitio

We recognize revenues when the following fundanmemnitzria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of aargement exists, (ii) delivery has
occurred or the services have been renderedih@ijee is fixed or determinable, and (iv) collentdf the resulting receivable is reasonably assure

We generate revenues by providing access to ourendatabase or delivering information obtainednfrmur database, usually in the form of
periodic reports. Revenues are typically recognaed straight-line basis over the period in whdchess to data or reports is provided, which
generally ranges from three to twenty four mon8ades taxes remitted to government authoritiesearerded on a net basis.

We also generate revenues through survey servicdsr contracts ranging in term from two monthsrie gear. Our survey services consist of
survey and questionnaire design with subsequeatatdiection, analysis and reporting. At the outdetn arrangement, we allocate total arrangel
consideration between the development of the suguegtionnaire and subsequent data collectionysisand reporting services based on relative
selling price. We recognize revenue allocated ¢ostirvey questionnaire when it is delivered andegegnize revenue allocated to the data
collection, analysis and reporting services onagit-line basis over the estimated data collegtieriod once the survey or questionnaire design ha
been delivered. Any change in the estimated ddtaation period results in an adjustment to revemézognized in future periods.

Certain of our arrangements contain multiple elesyezonsisting of the various services we offerlthdle element arrangements typically
consist of either subscriptions to multiple onlpreduct solutions or a subscription to our onlia¢atbase combined with customized services. We
recognize revenue under these arrangements indarw® with Financial Accounting Standards Board\8B”) Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU”) 2009-13,Multiple Deliverable Revenue Arrangementghich requires us to allocate arrangement coraiid® at the inception of an
arrangement to all deliverables, if they represesgparate unit of accounting, based on theirivelatlling prices. The guidance establishes a
hierarchy to determine the selling price to be usedllocating arrangement consideration to deéées: (i) vendor-specific objective evidence of
fair value (“VSOE"), (ii) third-party evidence o€Bing price (“TPE”) if VSOE is not available, aiiif an estimated selling price (“ESP”) if neither
VSOE nor TPE are available. VSOE generally existy when we sell the deliverable separately artlésprice actually charged by us for that
deliverable on a stand-alone basis. ESP reflectestimate of what the selling price of a delivéealsould be if it was sold regularly on a staaldne
basis.

We have concluded that we do not have VSOE, faetgpes of arrangements, and TPE is generallgvalable because our service offeri
are highly differentiated and we are unable to iohtaliable information on the products and pricprgctices of our competitors. As such, ESP is
used to allocate the total arrangement consideratiche arrangement inception based on each etemelative selling price.

Our process for determining ESP involves managempriigments based on multiple factors that may d@pending upon the unique facts
and circumstances related to each product suitelelincerable. We determine ESP by considering sgexternal and internal factors including, but
not limited to, current pricing practices, priciogncentrations (such as industry, channel, custafass or geography), internal costs and market
penetration of a product or service. The totalragegement consideration is allocated to each of ldments based on the relative selling price. If the
ESP is determined as a range of selling pricesnidepoint of the range is used in the relativeisgiprice method. Once the total arrangement
consideration has been allocated to each delivetzdded on the relative allocation of the arrangeifiee, we commence revenue recognition for
each deliverable on a stand-alone basis as theodatvice is delivered. In the future, as oucipg strategies and market conditions change,
modifications may occur in the determination of E8Peflect these changes. As a result, the futewenue recognized for these arrangements could
differ from the results in the current period.

Generally, our contracts are non-refundable andaaorcelable. In the event a portion of a contracefundable, revenue recognition is delayed
until the refund provisions lapse. A limited numbé&customers have the right to cancel their cattry providing us with written notice of
cancellation. In the event that a customer cantetontract, it is not entitled to a refund forgurservices, and it will be charged for costs imed
plus services performed up to the cancellation.date

In connection with our acquisition of Nexius, Ineg acquired additional revenue sources, includofgvare licenses, professional services
(including software customization implementatioajriing and consulting services), and maintenandetechnical support contracts. Our
arrangements generally contain multiple elememtssisting of the various service offerings. We ggire software license arrangements that inc
significant modification and customization of thafte/are in accordance with ASC 985-6@mftware Recognitioand ASC 605-35Revenue
Recognitio-Construction-Type and Certain
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Productior-Type Contractsjsing either the percentage-of-completion or thagleted-contract method. Under the percentagesoipletion methoc
we use the input method to measure progress, vidhizhsed on the ratio of costs incurred to datettd estimated costs at completion. The
percentage-of-completion method is used when feliestimates of progress and completion underdh&a&ct can be made. Under the completed-
contract method, billings and costs (to the extieey are recoverable) are accumulated on the balkstmeet, but no profit or income is recorded be
user acceptance of the software license. The cdetpontract method is used when reliable estinaaot be made or other terms under the
contract require it. To the extent estimated castsexpected to exceed revenue, we accrue foricostsdiately. completed contract method. During
the quarter ended June 30, 2011, we establishedEMBir value for post contract support servif@sa group of certain Nexius customers. For
these specific arrangements, we allocate the ¢otadideration to the various elements in the aeamant based on VSOE of fair value and recognize
revenue when the fundamental revenue recognititerierabove are met. For the remainder of the biegustomers, we currently do not have VSOE
for the multiple deliverables and account for &heents in these arrangements as a single undoofuating, recognizing the entire arrangement fee
as revenue over the service period of the lastelad element.

We account for nonmonetary transactions under A& 8onmonetary TransactiondNonmonetary transactions with commercial subgtanc
are recorded at the estimated fair value of assetendered including cash, if cash is less th&a 8bthe fair value of the overall exchange, unless
the fair value of the assets received is more lgleaident, in which case the fair value of theeageceived is used to estimate fair value for the
exchange.

In 2013, the Company entered into an agreementdiaaemge certain data assets with a corporationefbber of the Company's Board of
Directors also serves as a member of the boardextdrs of that corporation and therefore, the @any has considered the corporation to be a
related party. Such member of the Company's BoBBirectors does not hold a control position witle tounterparty. The transaction was
considered to have commercial substance undenidamce in ASC 845 and we estimated the fair vafube services delivered based on similar
monetary transactions with third parties. No caslk ®xchanged in this transaction. We also considbeeguidance in ASC 85Belated Party
Disclosures

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Coynprognized $16.3 million in revenue related @amonetary transactions of which
$10.7 million is attributable to this related patitgnsaction. Due to timing differences in the d&ty and receipt of the respective nonmonetarytasse
exchanged, the expense recognized in each per@fiésent from the amount of revenue recognizesl.a/result, during the year endeecember 31
2014 , we recognized $16.3 million in expense eelab nonmonetary transactions of which $14.3 arilis attributable to the related party
transaction.

Business Combination

On August 4, 2014, we completed the acquisitioMdfabs, Inc. ("MdotLabs"), a company that provideSaaS security platform designed to
combat invalid activity in web and mobile adverii such as non-human traffic. The aggregate anafuhe consideration paid by the Company
upon the closing of the transaction was $4.5 nmillilwhich was comprised entirely of cash. See "Nt our accompanying consolidated financial
statements for additional information on the Mdditacquisition.

We recognize all of the assets acquired, liabdiitesumed, contractual contingencies, and contimgeisideration at their fair value on the
acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs aregmized separately from the acquisition and expeasdancurred. Generally, restructuring costs
incurred in periods subsequent to the acquisitate dre expensed when incurred. All subsequengeisaio an income tax valuation allowance or
uncertain tax position that relate to the acquaeehpany and existed at the acquisition date thairdaoth within the measurement period and as a
result of facts and circumstances that existetlettquisition date are recognized as an adjustimgy@odwill. All other changes in income tax
valuation allowances are recognized as a reduocti@mcrease to income tax expense or as a dirgastatent to additional paid-in capital as required.
Acquired in-process research and development isadiapd as an intangible asset and amortized ibls@stimated useful life.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We record goodwill and intangible assets when vegige other businesses. The allocation of the msgelprice to intangible assets and
goodwill involves the extensive use of managemesgtgnates and assumptions, and the result ofltaton process can have a significant impact
on our future operating results. We estimate tirevédue of identifiable intangible assets acquiusihg several different valuation approaches,
including relief from royalty method, and incomedanarket approaches. The relief from royalty metasslimes that if we did not own the intanc
asset or intellectual property, we would be willtogpay a royalty for its use. We generally usertiief from royalty method for estimating the valu
of acquired technology/methodology assets. Thenmrapproach converts the anticipated economic henleét we assume will be realized from a
given asset into value. Under this approach, vislumeeasured as the present worth of anticipateadutet cash flows generated by an asset. We
generally use the income approach to value custosteionship assets and non-compete
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agreements. The market approach compares the edqsset to similar assets that have been soldjewerally use the income approach to value
trademarks and brand assets.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortizegratheir useful lives while goodwill and indefiailived assets are not amortized, but rather are
periodically tested for impairment. An impairmeatiew generally requires developing assumptionspaopctions regarding our operating
performance. We have determined that all of oudgglbis associated with one reporting unit as veendt operate separate lines of business with
respect to our services. Accordingly, on an anbaals we perform the impairment assessment forwitlaat the enterprise level by comparing the
fair value of our reporting unit to its carryinglva including goodwill recorded by the reportingtuff the carrying value exceeds the fair value,
impairment is measured by comparing the impliedvfalue of the goodwill to its carrying value antyampairment determined is recorded in the
current period. If our estimates or the relatediaggions change in the future, we may be requivegc¢ord impairment charges to reduce the
carrying value of these assets, which could be niaht&here were no impairment charges to goodwitbgnized during the years ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013 or 2012 .

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coynganeived several letters of intent from unreldatédi-parties to purchase its mobile
operator analytics division "CSWS". As of DecemBgr 2014, the Company determined that it had neeh#id for sale criteria as defined in
Accounting Standard Codification 360: Property, flaand Equipmer. As such, the Company presents assets and liebilield for sale related to
CSWS on its Consolidated Balance Sheet. HowevalWE8oes not qualify for discontinued operationsificial presentation, as it expects to have
continuing involvement with CSWS by providing céntaervices to the buyer. The Company recorded a@lion impairment charge during the
year ended December 31, 2014, which reduced thgimgramount of CSWS intangible assets to zeroveas calculated as the difference betw
the letters of intent that the Company has recearetithe carrying value of CSWS.

During the three months ended June 30, 2012, thep@oy noted a significant decline in revenues fAdR8group (“ARS”), which the
Company acquired in February 2010. As a resultCibipany performed an impairment test of the lowned assets of ARS. The long-lived assets of
ARS consist of customer relationships and acquinethodologies and technology. The first step ititgghe long-lived assets of ARS for
impairment was to compare the sum of the undisealicash flows expected to result from the use aadteal disposition of ARS to the carrying
value of ARS’s long-lived assets. Based on thidyais the Company determined as of June 30, 20d2he sum of the expected undiscounted cash
flows to be generated from ARS was less than theiog value of the ARS intangible assets. As sitlich,Company concluded that the ARS
intangible assets were impaired as of June 30,.Z04 theasure the amount of the impairment, the Gomphen estimated the fair value of the
intangible assets as of June 30, 2012. In detengithie fair value of the intangible assets, the gamy prepared a discounted cash flow (“DCF”)
analysis for each intangible asset. In prepariegdfF analysis, the Company used a combinationocafme approaches including the relief from
royalty approach and the excess earnings appr@ethrmining fair value requires the exercise ohgigant judgment, including judgments about
appropriate discount rates, terminal growth rat@glty rates and the amount and timing of expefiteate cash flows. The cash flows employed in
the DCF analysis were based on the Company’s reostit budgets, forecasts and business plans aasvgidbwth rate assumptions for years beyond
the current business plan period. Significant aggioms used include a discount rate of 18.5%, whidiased on an assessment of the risk inher
the future revenue streams and cash flows of ABSyedl as a royalty rate of 3.0%, which is base@omnalysis of royalty rates in similar, market
transactions. Based on the DCF analysis, the Coyngstimated the fair value of the intangible ase€®RS to be $2.5 million as of June 30, 2012,
which resulted in an impairment charge of $3.3iomllduring the year ended December 31, 2012. Tipaimment charge had a negative impact on
net loss of $3.3 million and an impact on earnipgsshare of $0.10 per share during the year eDdedmber 31, 2012. In addition, these intangible
assets are being amortized over a remaining esttmegeful life of eighteen months, beginning Jyl2d12. There were no impairment charges to
intangible assets recognized during the year ebéeg¢mber 31, 2013.

Long-lived assets

Our long-lived assets primarily consist of propeatyd equipment and intangible assets. We evalbateetoverability of our long-lived assets
for impairment whenever events or changes in cistantes indicate the carrying value of such assaysnot be recoverable. If an indication of
impairment is present, we compare the estimatetcodnted future cash flows to be generated by#iset to its carrying amount.

Recoverability measurement and estimation of undisted cash flows are grouped at the lowest lereihich identifiable cash flows are
largely independent of the cash flows of othersard liabilities. If the undiscounted future célslvs are less than the carrying amount of thetass
group, we record an impairment loss equal to tleeex of the asset group’s carrying amount ovéaiitvalue. The fair value is determined based on
valuation techniques such as a comparison to &iires of similar assets or using a discounted flaghanalysis. Although we believe that the
carrying values of our long-lived assets are appatgly stated, changes in strategy or market d¢mmdi or significant technological developments
could significantly impact these judgments and negadjustments to recorded asset balances. Qtherthe impairment charge for
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CSWS and ARS discussed above, there were no impairoharges recognized during the years ended Deredd, 2014 , 2013 or 2012 .

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We manage credit risk on accounts receivable bippaing credit evaluations of our customers forséirg customers coming up for renewe
well as all prospective new customers, by reviewdngaccounts and contracts and by providing apfatgpallowances for uncollectible amounts.
Allowances are based on management’s judgmentwdunsiders historical experience and specific Kadge of accounts that may not be
collectible. We make provisions based on our hisébibad debt experience, a specific review ofg@hificant outstanding invoices and an assess
of general economic conditions. If the financiahdition of a customer deteriorates, resulting inmapairment of its ability to make payments,
additional allowances may be required.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset abilitfjamethod. We estimate our tax liability thrdugalculations we perform for the
determination of our current tax liability, togettveith assessing temporary differences resultiognfthe different treatment of items for income tax
and financial reporting purposes. These differemesslt in deferred tax assets and liabilities,clibdre recorded on our balance sheets. We then
assess the likelihood that deferred tax assetdwitecovered in future periods. In assessing ¢lee for a valuation allowance against the defetar
assets, we consider factors such as future regesbakisting taxable temporary differences, tagabtome in prior carryback years, if carryback is
permitted under the tax law, tax planning strategied future taxable income exclusive of reversémgporary differences and carryforwards. In
evaluating projections of future taxable income,ceasider our history of profitability, the compgté environment, the overall outlook for the oe
marketing industry and general economic condititmsddition, we consider the time frame over whtcliould take to utilize the deferred tax assets
prior to their expiration. To the extent we canoanhclude that it is more-likely-than-not that trenbfit of such assets will be realized, we estaldis
valuation allowance to adjust the carrying valusuéh assets.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , we recordedhtialu allowances against certain deferred tax asge80.9 million and $1.2 million ,
respectively. At December 31, 2014 , the valuatibowance was related to the deferred tax assatagply net operating loss carryforwards) of our
foreign subsidiary in Spain that is a loss compamg ,deferred tax asset related to the U.S. cdpgalcarryforwards, and the deferred tax assatae
to certain state net operating loss carryforwatdd®ecember 31, 2013 , the valuation allowance reteted to the deferred tax assets (primarily net
operating loss carryforwards) of the foreign suiasids that are either loss companies or are iin sti@tup phases, including entities in Spain anc
Czech Republic, the deferred tax asset relateldettS. capital loss carryforwards and the defaiardisset related to certain state net operabissy |
carryforwards.

As of December 31, 2013, we concluded that it m@tsmore-likely-than-not that a substantial portadrour deferred tax assets related to
certain state and foreign net operating lossesavoelrealized and that an increase to the valuatiowance of $0.1 million was necessary. We also
concluded that it was more-likely-than-not thatiastantial portion of our deferred tax assets maae other foreign jurisdictions, primarily the
Netherlands, would be realized and determineditheds appropriate to release the valuation allagasf$2.9 million In making that determination,
we considered the income generated in these fopeigulictions during 2013 , the guaranteed pnwoiitrgins in place for these entities as a result of
our transfer pricing model, the tax impact of thstructuring that is currently being implementée, current overall economic environment, and the
projected income of these entities in future yelmrsiddition, during 2013 , we wrote-off certairfeteed tax assets related to net operating losses t
will never be realized. As these deferred tax asisatl a full valuation allowance recorded agaimsitt, the associated valuation allowance of $0.1
million was released.

As of December 31, 2014 , we estimate our federdistate net operating loss carryforwards for tappses are approximately $27.8 million
and $34.1 million , respectively. These net opegaldss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2028 federal income tax purposes and in 2015 for
state income tax purposes. In addition, at Decei®bgP014, we estimate our aggregate net operftisgcarryforwards for tax purposes related to
our foreign subsidiaries is $15.0 million , whichgins to expire in 2017.

The exercise of certain stock options and the ngsif certain restricted stock awards during theryended December 31, 2014 and 2013
generated income tax deductions equal to the exdeke fair market value over the exercise pricgrant date fair value, as applicable. A deferred
tax asset cannot be recognized for the excess oivier book stock compensation deductions untitalxedeductions reduce current income taxes
payable. Since we have not historically paid incdax@s in jurisdictions where these excess tax c@ms arise, a deferred tax asset related to the
additional net operating losses generated fromwvihdfall tax deductions associated with the exerciEstock options and the vesting of restricted
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stock awards has not been recorded in the accormgaognsolidated financial statements. As of Decendd, 2014 and 2013, the cumulative
amount of net operating losses relating to sucloopxercises and vesting events that have be&rded in the gross net operating loss
carryforwards above is $24.1 million and $32.5 imnill, respectively. As we utilize these net opetbsses to reduce current income taxes payable,
the tax benefit will be recorded as an increassdifitional paid-in capital. During the years en@etember 31, 2014 and 2013, we recognized
windfall tax benefits of approximately $5.8 milli@md $0.1 million, respectively, which were recatds an increase to additional paid-in capital.

During the year ended December 31, 2013 , certagk ®ptions were exercised and certain sharetetketa restricted stock awards vested at
times when our stock price was substantially lothan the fair value of those shares at the tingranfit. As a result, the income tax deduction rdlate
to such shares is less than the expense previmadgnized for book purposes. Such shortfalls re@uldlitional paid-in capital to the extent windfall
tax benefits have been previously recognized. Asrileed above, we recognized a portion of the veilhdiix benefits in 2013 and recorded an
increase to additional paid-in capital. Theref@&@,1 million of shortfalls was not included in inne tax expense but reduced additional paid-in
capital for the year ended December 31, 2013. &hmining impact of the shortfalls totaling $0.9loit was included in income tax expense.
Looking forward we cannot predict the stock compding shortfall impact because of dependency upturé market price performance of our st

For uncertain tax positions, we use a more-likagrtnot recognition threshold based on the techmeaits of the tax position taken. Tax
positions that meet the more-likely-than-not redtign threshold are measured as the largest anafuak benefits determined on a cumulative
probability basis, which are more-likely-than-note realized upon ultimate settlement in the famrstatements. As of December 31, 2014 , 2013
and 2012 , we had unrecognized tax benefits of §lllibn on a tax-effected basis. It is our polimyrecognize interest and penalties related to
income tax matters in income tax expense. As oebBdser 31, 2014 and 2013, the amount of accruedesitand penalties on unrecognized tax
benefits was $0.6 million and $0.7 million , resipedy. We or one of our subsidiaries files incotag returns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction and
various state and foreign jurisdictions. For incdapereturns filed by us, we are no longer subjedi.S. Federal examinations by tax authorities for
years before 2011 or state and local tax examimatyy tax authorities for years before 2010, algotax attribute carryforwards generated pric
these years may still be adjusted upon examinatyalax authorities.

Stocl-Based Compensation

We estimate the fair value of share-based awardsendate of grant. The fair value of stock optiendetermined using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. The fair value of market-bdstock options and restricted stock units is deitged using a Monte Carlo simulation embedded
in a lattice model. The fair value of restrictedcst awards is based on the closing price of ourmomstock on the date of grant. The determination
of the fair value of stock option awards and restd stock awards is based on a variety of fadta@tading, but not limited to, the our common stock
price, expected stock price volatility over the esjed life of awards, and actual and projectedatseibehavior. Additionally we estimate forfeitures
for share-based awards at the dates of grant lmesbkitorical experience, adjusted for future exgidan. The forfeiture estimate is revised as
necessary if actual forfeitures differ from theséreates.

We issue restricted stock awards whose restrictegpee upon either the passage of time (serviding@sachieving performance targets, or
some combination of these restrictions. For thes&icted stock awards with only service conditjoms recognize compensation cost on a straight-
line basis over the explicit service period. Fomads with both performance and service conditiarsstart recognizing compensation cost over the
remaining service period when it is probable théguenance condition will be met. Stock awards ttattain performance or market vesting
conditions, are excluded from diluted earningssterre computations until the contingency is metfabe end of that reporting period. If factors
change and we employ different assumptions in éupariods, the compensation expense we record ifiay significantly from what we have
previously recorded.

At December 31, 2014 , total estimated unrecognizedpensation expense related to unvested stoddlzasards granted prior to that date
was $27.2 million , which is expected to be recagdiover a weighted-average period of 0.90 years .

The actual amount of stodkased compensation expense we record in any fiscald will depend on a number of factors, inclgdihe numbe
of shares subject to restricted stock and/or stmtions issued, the fair value of our common statcthe time of issuance and the expected volatility
of our stock price over time. In addition, changesur incentive compensation plan that heavilyfastock-based compensation are expected to
cause stock-based compensation expense to inérealssolute dollars. If factors change and we esndifferent assumptions in future period, the
compensation expense we record may differ sigmiflgdrom what we have previously recorded.
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Seasonality
Historically, a higher percentage of our custonierge renewed their subscription products with uthduthe fourth quarter.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected consolidatatements of operations data as a percentagtabfevenues for each of the periods
indicated.

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Revenues 100.C % 100.C % 100.C %
Cost of Revenues 290.¢ 31.: 33.€
Selling and marketing expenses 31.t 34.¢ 36.C
Research and development 18.2 14.2 13.z
General and administrative 19.1 16.2 14.¢
Amortization of intangible assets 2.2 2.8 3.7
Impairment of intangible assets 3.C — 1.3
Settlement of litigation 0.8 (0.5 —
Total expenses from operations 104.5 98.¢ 103.1
Income (loss) from operations (4.5) 1.1 (3.7
Interest and other expense, net (0.9) (0.9 (0.3
Gain (loss) from foreign currency transactions 0.2 — (0.3
(Loss) income before income tax benefit (provision) (4.€) 0.7 (3.7
Income tax benefit (provision) 1.€ (1.5 (0.9)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders 3.0% (0.8)% (4.6)%
Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Efdleckmber 31, 2013
Revenues
Year Ended
December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ %
(In thousands)
Revenues $ 329,15. $ 286,86( $ 42,29 14.7%

Total revenues increased by approximately $42.Bamitluring the year ended December 31, 2014 apaced to the year end&kcember 3.
2013 . We attribute the revenue growth to increasdels to our existing customer base and contigemath of our customer base during the period.
Revenue from existing customers increased $44 bmirom $257.3 million for the year ended DecemBg, 2013 to $301.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2014 , while revenue from netomers decreased $2.1 million from $29.5 millionthe year ended December 31, 2013 to
$27.4 million for the year ended December 31, 20Révenue from existing customers increased dae increased focus on the selling of new
products, especially vCE, to our existing custobrase. Revenue from new customers decreased dighttehels of penetration in our mature
markets and lower introductory price points for neignts in less mature markets.

We experienced continued revenue growth in sulis@mnipevenues, which increased by approximately.G4dllion during the year ended
December 31, 2014 , from $249.8 million in the pyiear period. We experienced a decrease in reveoneour project-based revenues which
decreased by approximately $5.6 million duringytbar ended December 31, 2014 , from $37.0 milliothe prior year period.

Revenues from U.S. customers were $232.1 millioritfe year ended December 31, 2014 , or approxiynalés of total revenues, while
revenues from customers outside of the U.S. werel$illion for the year ended December 31, 20d4approximately 29% of total revenues. Our
focus on organic growth efforts in internationalrkeds resulted in increased international reverfi€d 3.0 million , comprised of increases of $7.3
million in Europe, $2.9 million in Asia and $2.9liitn in Latin America, $0.9 million in Canada, e#t by a decrease of $1.0 million in the Middle
East during the year ended December 31, 2014 agarexhto the prior year period.
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Operating Expenses

The majority of our operating expenses consistngbleyee salaries and related benefits, stock cosgiem expense, professional fees, ren
other facility related costs, depreciation expeasegrtization, impairment of acquired intangiblsets and litigation-related expenses. Our single
largest operating expense relates to our peoplarder to effectively motivate our employees angrovide them with proper long-term incentives,
we pay the vast majority of our annual bonus areaments using our common stock. In addition, twowfsenior executives have agreed to receive
shares of our stock instead of a cash salary.

Our total operating expenses increased by appra&lyn$60.2 million , or approximately 21% , duritite year ended December 31, 2014 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 ifdrmase is primarily attributable to increasextktcompensation of $14.9 million, increased
expenditures for third-party data costs to supgf@tenhancement of new products of $14.5 millinoréased impairment of intangible assets of $9.7
million, increased expenditures for employee sataand related benefits of $9.2 million associati our increased headcount, increased data and
bandwidth costs of $5.4 million and increased exiteres for litigation settlements of $4.1 million.

Cost of Revenues

Year Ended
December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ %
(In thousands)
Cost of revenues $ 97,467 $ 89,96: $ 7,50¢ 8.2%
As a percentage of revenues 29.6% 31.2%

Cost of revenues consists primarily of expenseged|to operating our network infrastructure, pdg our products, and the recruitment,
maintenance and support of our consumer panelerises associated with these areas include théesalaenefits, stock-based compensation, and
related personnel expenses of network operatiomgeyg operations, custom analytics and technigapstt, all of which are expensed as they are
incurred. Cost of revenues also includes data ctidie costs for our products, operational coste@ased with our data centers, including
depreciation expense associated with computer sripthat supports our panel and systems, andaédidoverhead, which is comprised of rent and
other facilities related costs, and depreciatigmesse related to general purpose equipment ansaseft

Cost of revenues increased by $7.5 million durirgytear ended December 31, 2014 compared to thegdad December 31, 2013 . This
increase is primarily attributable to thipduty data and bandwidth costs of $5.4 million e&ged with our data collection efforts, increaseuployee
salaries, benefits and related benefits of $3.8anibnd increased stock compensation expense.dfrillion. These increases were offset by a
decrease of $1.6 million associated with reducedj@®f third-party customer service providers adeeease of $1.2 million associated with a
higher level of products that qualify for capitaliion.

Cost of revenues decreased as a percentage ofiessdaring the year ended December 31, 2014 asarethfo the year ended December 31,
2013 due to increased operating leverage and #tlecation of certain operating resources to reteand development activities.

Selling and Marketing Expense

Year Ended
December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ %
(In thousands)
Selling and marketing $ 103,52¢ $ 99,947 $ 3,57¢ 3.6%
As a percentage of revenues 31.5% 34.&%

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarilyadéries, benefits, commissions, bonuses, an#l-ssed compensation paid to our direct
sales force and industry analysts, as well as cektted to online and offline advertising, indystonferences, promotional materials, public
relations, other sales and marketing programsafladated overhead, which is comprised of rent@heér facilities related costs, and depreciation
expense related to general purpose equipment diwebse. All selling and marketing costs are experse they are incurred. Commission plans are
developed for our account managers with criteré sine of sales quotas that vary depending upomthieidual's role. Commissions are expensed as
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selling and marketing costs when a sales contsaetécuted by both the customer and us. Sellingrearleting expenses have increased because we
hired additional salespeople in order to suppderimational growth, especially in our Digital Aneikyand vCE product offerings.

Selling and marketing expenses increased by $3l®mduring the year ended December 31, 2014 coethto the year ended December 31,
2013 . This increase is primarily attributablerioreased employee salaries and related benefi®.0fmillion, increased professional fees paid to
resellers of $1.1 million and increased commissemmd sales incentives of $0.9 million. These insesavere offset by a decrease in employee
severance costs of $0.4 million.

Selling and marketing expenses decreased as anpegeeof revenues during the year ended Decembh@03% as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2013 due to revenue growth.

Research and Development Expent

Year Ended
December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ %
(In thousands)
Research and development $ 60,36« $ 41,028 $ 19,33¢ 47.1%
As a percentage of revenues 18.2% 14.2%

Research and development expenses include newagirdelelopment costs, consisting primarily of delrbenefits, stock-based
compensation and related costs for personnel agedowvith research and development activities, [iedd to third parties to develop new products
and allocated overhead, which is comprised of aedtother facilities related costs, and depreciatixpense related to general purpose equipment
and software.

Research and development expenses increased (8/$l%on during the year ended December 31, 2G1dampared to the year ended
December 31, 2013 . This increase is primarilyitattable to increased expenditures for third-pdeta costs to support the enhancement of existing
products of $14.5 million associated with non-cashenditures on data that we plan to incorpordteonr product offerings in 2015, increased
employee salaries and related benefits of $2.6anilkissociated with activities to support the depalent and implementation of new products, and
increased stock compensation expense of $1.1 mélr@ increased rent, other facility related casts depreciation of $1.3 million.

Research and development expenses increased eeatpge of revenues for the year ended Decembh@034 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2013 due to significant third-partiadaxpenditures for research and development ties\and the reallocation of human and data
resources to research and development activities.

General and Administrative Expenses

Year Ended
December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ %
(In thousands)
General and administrative $ 62,92: $ 46,44¢ % 16,47 35.5%
As a percentage of revenues 19.1% 16.2%

General and administrative expenses consist piliynafrsalaries, benefits, stock-based compensatind,related expenses for executive
management, finance, accounting, human capita) kg other administrative functions, as well exfgssional fees, overhead, including allocated
overhead, which is comprised of rent and othetifes related costs, and depreciation expens¢etkd general purpose equipment and software,
and expenses incurred for other general corporajgopes.

General and administrative expenses increased & $illion during the year ended December 31, 284 4ompared to the year ended
December 31, 2013 . This increase is primarilyilattable to increased stock compensation of $12lbmassociated with market-based grants
issued in November 2014 and high levels of achi@rgmertaining to our 2014 management performaoogensation plans, increased employee
salaries, benefits and related costs of $1.3 millissociated with our increased headcount, incddaese debt expense of $1.3 million due to longer
collection cycles related to some of our newer potsiand increased travel costs of $0.5 milliomeissed with increased travel activity by key
members of management.
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General and administrative expenses increasegacantage of revenues during the year ended Dexe3dh2014 as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2013 , due to the market-basatsgssued in November 2014 and increased heaticou

Amortization Expenst¢

Year Ended December 31, Change
2014 2013 $ %
(In thousands)
Amortization expense $ 7,23C $ 7951 $ (727) (9.)%
As a percentage of revenues 2.2% 2.&%

Amortization expense consists of charges relatedg@mortization of intangible assets associatéd acquisitions.

Amortization expense decreased by $0.7 millionmuthe year ended December 31, 2014 , as compated year ended December 31, 2013 ,
due to the impact of impairment charges recognizgthg 2014.

Impairment of Intangible Asset

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coynganeived several letters of intent from unrelatedi-parties to purchase its mobile
operator analytics division "CSWS". As of DecemBgy 2014, the Company determined that it had neeh#id for sale criteria as defined in
Accounting Standard Codification 360: Property, flaand Equipmer. As such, the Company presents assets and liebitield for sale related to
CSWS on its Consolidated Balance Sheet. HowevelW&8oes not qualify for discontinued operationafficial presentation, as it expects to have
continuing involvement with CSWS by providing cémtaervices to the buyer. The Company recorded adélion impairment charge during the
year ended December 31, 2014, which reduced thgirgramount of CSWS intangible assets to zeroveas calculated as the difference betw
the letters of intent that the Company has recearetithe carrying value of CSWS.

Interest and Other Expense, N
Interest and other income/expense, net, consistgéerest income, interest expense and gains setosn disposals of fixed assets.
Interest income consists of interest earned froncash and cash equivalent balances. Interest sgpgincurred due to capital leases pursuant

to several equipment loan and security agreemetiisance the lease of various hardware and oftp@ipenent purchases and our revolving credit
facility. Our capital lease obligations are securga senior security interest in eligible equiptnen

Interest and other expense, net, increased by sippately $0.3 million, as compared to the year eénBecember 31, 2014. This increase
pertains to increasing principal balances for asets financed through the use of capital leases.

Settlement of litigation, Ne

Settlement of litigation, net consists of lossesrfithe settlement related to our privacy classadttigation offset by gains from our patent
litigation settlements. The loss is net of insumpmceeds.

Settlement of litigation, net for the year ended®uaber 31, 2014 resulted in a net loss of $2.4anitompared to a $1.4 million net gain for
the year ended December 31, 2013. The net losslueat expenditures for the settlement of certaivapy litigation lawsuits, net of insurance
recoveries, and reduced by gains related to thiesents of certain patent litigation lawsuits éonet increase of $4.1 million.

Gain (loss) From Foreign Currency

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaiethe local currency. All assets and liabilitege translated at the current exchange rates
the end of the period, and revenues and expensdraaslated at average rates in effect duringpénied. The gain or loss resulting from the process
of translating the foreign currency financial staénts into U.S. dollars is included as a componénther comprehensive (loss) income.

We recorded a transaction gain of $0.8 milliontfar year ended December 31, 2014 as comparedansattion loss of $0.1 million during
the year ended December 31, 2013 . This increases@xiated with a strengthening US dollar againstmost commonly used foreign currencies,
such as the euro.

45




Table of Contents

Provision for Income Taxe:!

As of December 31, 2014 , we had federal and s&tteperating loss carryforwards for tax purpogespproximately $27.8 million and $34.1
million , respectively. These net operating lossydfarwards begin to expire in 2023 for federalante tax purposes and begin to expire in 2015 for
state income tax purposes. In the future, we intendilize any carryforwards available to us tduee our tax payments. A portion of our net
operating loss carryforwards are subject to an anlimitation under Section 382 of the Internal Beue Code. We do not expect that this limitation
will impact our ability to utilize all of our netperating losses prior to their expiration. We ratngd an income tax benefit of approximately $5.3
million during the year ended December 31, 2014ickvis comprised of current tax expense of $6.0anirelated to and state income tax liabiliti
$1.7 million of foreign income tax expense, anceeded tax benefit of approximately $13.1 milli@tated to temporary differences between the tax
treatment and financial reporting treatment fotaiaritems. Included within the total current tagpense of $7.7 million is $5.8 million of non-cash
tax expense related to excess tax benefits frook $tased compensation. Also, included within theltdeferred tax benefit of $13.1 million is a $3.5
million deferred tax benefit related to the establishméatdeferred tax asset for the outside basis diffee of our investment in CSWS as we ex
to realize the asset in the foreseeable futuraaltiee assets being held for sale.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Efdleckmber 31, 2012

Revenues
Year Ended
December 31, Change
2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)
Revenues $ 286,86( $ 255,19: $ 31,66 12.4%

Total revenues increased by approximately $31.liamitluring the year ended December 31, 2013 agaced to the year end&kcember 3:
2012 . We attribute the revenue growth to increasdes to our existing customer base and contigumath of our customer base during the period.
Revenue from existing customers increased $291&mirom $228.0 million for the year ended Decem®#, 2012 to $257.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013, while revenue from nestomers increased $2.3 million from $27.2 million the year ended December 31, 2012 to
$29.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013

We experienced continued revenue growth in sulisznipevenues, which increased by approximately.&&8llion during the year ended
December 31, 2013, from $216.0 million in the psiear period. We experienced a decrease in revieoneour project-based revenues which
decreased by approximately $2.2 million duringytbar ended December 31, 2013, from $39.2 milliothe prior year period.

Revenues from U.S. customers were $202.7 millioritfe year ended December 31, 2013 , or approxiynaiss of total revenues, while
revenues from customers outside of the U.S. wedeldillion for the year ended December 31, 20aB8approximately 29% of total revenues. Our
focus on organic growth efforts in internationalrk@ds resulted in increased international revemdiéd 2.3 million , comprised of increases of $6.0
million in Europe, $3.2 million in Asia, $2.7 mitih in Latin America and $1.0 million in Canada,seff by a decrease of $0.6 million in the Middle
East and Africa during the year ended DecembeR@13 as compared to the prior year period.

Operating Expenses

The majority of our operating expenses consistngbleyee salaries and related benefits, stock cosgiem expense, professional fees, ren
other facility related costs, depreciation expease, amortization and impairment of acquired inialegassets. Our single largest operating expense
relates to our people. In order to effectively maté our employees and to provide them with prégag-term incentives, we pay the vast majority of
our annual bonus arrangements using our commok.dtoaddition, two of our senior executives hageegd to receive shares of our common stock
instead of a cash salary.

Our total operating expenses increased by appraglyn$20.8 million , or approximately 8% , durirfietyear ended December 31, 2013 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 ifdrsase is primarily attributable to increasedenditures for employee salaries and related
benefits of $11.0 million associated with our iresed headcount, increased commissions and saegiies of $5.4 million related to compensating
our employees and strategic partners to continggiyer new clients and better serve our existilegts with our expanding suite of products,
increased use of professional services firms iratheunt of $4.2 million associated with obtainimg@unting and legal services to support our
rapidly
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growing global business and for certain ongoirigdtion, increased rent and other facilities relatests and depreciation expense of $2.6 million.
These increases were partially offset by proceemis the settlements of litigation in the amoun$f4 million and decreased amortization expense
of $1.3 million.

Cost of Revenues

Year Ended
December 31, Change
2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)
Cost of revenues $ 89,96: $ 86,37¢ $ 3,58¢ 4.1%
As a percentage of revenues 31.2% 33.%

Cost of revenues consists primarily of expensededl|to operating our network infrastructure, pdg our products, and the recruitment,
maintenance and support of our consumer panelerseas associated with these areas include théesaktock-based compensation, and related
personnel expenses of network operations, survesatipns, custom analytics and technical suppbrf ahich are expensed as they are incurred.
Cost of revenues also includes data collectionsdostour products, operational costs associatéul euir data centers, including depreciation expense
associated with computer equipment that supportpanel and systems, and allocated overhead, viiwbmprised of rent and other facilities
related costs, and depreciation expense relatgdrteral purpose equipment and software.

Cost of revenues increased by $3.6 million durmgytear ended December 31, 2013 compared to thegdad December 31, 2012 . This
increase is primarily attributable to third-pariyta costs of $2.6 million associated with our datiéection efforts, increased depreciation expesfse
$1.2 million, and employee salaries and relatedfiesnof $1.0 million. These increases were offset decrease of $1.2 million associated with
reduced usage of third-party customer service pdeyei

Cost of revenues decreased as a percentage ofiesvdaring the year ended December 31, 2013 asarechfp the year ended December 31,
2012 due to increased operating leverage and #tlecation of certain operating resources to reteand development activities.

Selling and Marketing Expense

Year Ended
December 31, Change
2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)
Selling and marketing $ 99,947 $ 91,84¢ $ 8,09¢ 8.8%
As a percentage of revenues 34.&% 36.(%

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarilyatéries, benefits, commissions, bonuses, an#l-ssed compensation paid to our direct
sales force and industry analysts, as well as cektted to online and offline advertising, indystonferences, promotional materials, public
relations, other sales and marketing programsa#iadated overhead, which is comprised of rentathér facilities related costs, and depreciation
expense related to general purpose equipment diwcase. All selling and marketing costs are expersethey are incurred. Commission plans are
developed for our account managers with criteréhsire of sales quotas that vary depending upomtiieidual's role. Commissions are expensed as
selling and marketing costs when a sales contsaetécuted by both the customer and us. Sellingrearleting expenses have increased because we
hired additional salespeople in order to suppdaérimational growth, especially in our Digital Antikyand vCE product offerings.

Selling and marketing expenses increased by $8libmiuring the year ended December 31, 2013 coethto the year ended December 31,
2012 . This increase is primarily attributablerioreased commissions and sales incentives of $ilidmmelated to compensating our employees and
strategic partners to continually garner new cteard better serve our existing clients with oyragxding suite of products and increased revenues
coupled with an increase in employee salaries aladed benefits of $4.0 million. These costs wéfget by a decrease in stock-based compensation
of $1.3 million associated with a change in ouesahcentive plans that took effect in 2013.

Selling and marketing expenses decreased as anpegeeof revenues during the year ended Decembh@03B as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 due to faster than expected vevgrowth.
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Research and Development Expen:

Year Ended
December 31, Change
2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)
Research and development $ 41,028 % 33,99: % 7,031 20.7%
As a percentage of revenues 14.2% 13.%%

Research and development expenses include newqgirdelvelopment costs, consisting primarily of Selgrbenefits, stock-based
compensation and related costs for personnel adedaivith research and development activities, fieéd to third parties to develop new products
and allocated overhead, which is comprised of aedtother facilities related costs, and depreciatixpense related to general purpose equipment
and software.

Research and development expenses increased bgniiio@ during the year ended December 31, 2018caspared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 . This increase is primarilyilaitable to employee salaries and related benafitg.9 million associated with activities to
support the development and implementation of nesslycts, and increased stock compensation expéiielomillion and increased rent, other
facility related costs and depreciation of $0.7lionil.

Research and development expenses increased eceatpge of revenues for the year ended Decembh@03B compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 due to the reallocation of huraaaurces to research and development activities.

General and Administrative Expenses

Year Ended
December 31, Change
2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)
General and administrative $ 46,44¢ $ 38,13: $ 8,31¢ 21.8%
As a percentage of revenues 16.2% 14.%%

General and administrative expenses consist piliynafrsalaries, benefits, stock-based compensadind,related expenses for executive
management, finance, accounting, human capita) kegd other administrative functions, as well exfgssional fees, overhead, including allocated
overhead, which is comprised of rent and othetifes related costs, and depreciation expens¢eetk® general purpose equipment and software,
and expenses incurred for other general corporagopes.

General and administrative expenses increased Byri8lion during the year ended December 31, 284 8ompared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 . This increase is primarilyitaitable to the use of professional services fimthe amount of $4.2 million associated with
obtaining accounting and legal services to suppartapidly growing global business and for certaigoing litigation, increased stock compensz
of $1.4 million associated with high levels of amlément pertaining to our 2013 management perfocenaampensation plans, increased employee
salaries, benefits and related costs of $1.2 millissociated with our increased headcount. Thess were partially offset by a decrease in bad debt
expense of $1.0 million associated with more eiflectollections practices in 2013.

General and administrative expenses increasegacantage of revenues during the year ended Dexre3db2013 as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2012 , due to increased hedadpoofessional services fees, ongoing litigatiod an increase in our stock compensation.

Amortization Expens¢

Year Ended December 31, Change
2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)
Amortization expense $ 7951 $ 9,28¢ $ (1,339 (14.9%
As a percentage of revenues 2.8% 3.7%
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Amortization expense consists of charges relatedg@mortization of intangible assets associatéd acquisitions.

Amortization expense decreased by $1.3 millionmuthe year ended December 31, 2013 , as compated year ended December 31, 2012 ,
due to the impact of the disposition of the ARS Ntwalth-Copy-Testing and Equity Tracking business.

Impairment of Intangible Asset

During the three months ended June 30, 2012, wedreosignificant decline in revenues from ARS, Whie acquired in February 2010. As a
result, we performed an impairment test of the {imgd assets of ARS. The long-lived assets of ARRBsist of customer relationships and acquired
methodologies and technology. The first step itingghe long-lived assets of ARS for impairmensvia compare the sum of the undiscounted cash
flows expected to result from the use and evertisplosition of ARS to the carrying value of ARSad-lived assets. Based on this analysis, we
determined as of June 30, 2012 that the sum ahtpected undiscounted cash flows to be generabed ARS was less than the carrying value of the
ARS intangible assets. As such, we concluded tairttangible assets of ARS were impaired. To ntesthie amount of the impairment, we then
estimated the fair value of the ARS intangible &sas of June 30, 2012. In determining the faine@alf the intangible assets, we prepared a
discounted cash flow (“DCF”) analysis for each img#ble asset. In preparing the DCF analysis, wel aseombination of income approaches,
including the relief from royalty approach and geess earnings approach. Determining fair valgaires the exercise of significant judgment,
including judgments about appropriate discounts;aterminal growth rates, royalty rates and thewamand timing of expected future cash flows.
The cash flows employed in the DCF analysis aredbas our most recent budgets, forecasts and lasspians as well as growth rate assumptions
for years beyond the current business plan pe8aphificant assumptions used include a discouet0atl8.5%, which is based on an assessment of
the risk inherent in the future revenue streamscastt flows of ARS, as well as a royalty rate 608, which is based on an analysis of royalty rates
in similar, market transactions. Based on the D@d&yasis, we have estimated the fair value of thengible assets of ARS to be $2.5 million as of
June 30, 2012, which resulted in an impairmentghaf $3.3 million during the year ended Decemider2®12. In addition, these intangible assets
will be amortized over a remaining estimated uskfiellof eighteen months, beginning July 1, 2012.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, wepdeted the sale of certain assets related to ®8 Non-Health Copylesting and Equit
Tracking business. In connection with the dispositive received total proceeds of $1.0 millionaditition, we entered into a license agreement in
which we will retain the right to use the necessatgllectual property to continue to provide thR& Copy-Testing and Equity Tracking services to
our Health related customers and recorded an iftkngsset of $1.2 million based on the estimatédvilue of the licensed intellectual property. In
determining the fair value of the intangible astiet, Company prepared a discounted cash flow (“D@Ralysis using a combination of income
approaches including the relief from royalty appioand the excess earnings approach. The cashélowkyed in the DCF analysis were based on
the Companys most recent budgets, forecasts and businessgdamsll as growth rate assumptions for years betyfom current business plan peri
Significant assumptions used include a discouet 0&.8.5%, which is based on an assessment oisthanherent in the future revenue streams and
cash flows associated with the health related costs of ARS, as well as a royalty rate of 3.0%,clhi§ based on an analysis of royalty rates in
similar, market transactions. This intangible agg#tbe amortized on a straight-line basis overastimated useful life of 3 years beginning April
2013. The assets disposed of included computepewait, furniture and fixtures, intellectual propesnd the intangible assets associated with the
ARSgroup. Due to the fact that we will continugptovide the ARS Copy-Testing and Equity Tracking/ges to its Health related customers and
have therefore not eliminated the operations astl laws of the ARSgroup, we have concluded thatdisposition does not qualify for presentation
as discontinued operations. In connection with tisiesaction we recorded a gain on the disposifd0.2 million.

Interest and Other Expense, N
Interest and other income/expense, net, consistgéerest income, interest expense and gains setosn disposals of fixed assets.

Interest income consists of interest earned froncash and cash equivalent balances. Interest sgpeincurred due to capital leases pursuant
to several equipment loan and security agreemetiisance the lease of various hardware and oftp@ipenent purchases and our revolving credit
facility. Our capital lease obligations are securga senior security interest in eligible equiptnen

Interest and other expense, net remained relato@igtant for the years ended December 31, 201®andmber 31, 2012 with a net expense
of $0.9 million .
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Loss From Foreign Currency

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaiiethe local currency. All assets and liabilitags translated at the current exchange rates
the end of the period, and revenues and expensdraaslated at average rates in effect duringpéhimd. The gain or loss resulting from the process
of translating the foreign currency financial staénts into U.S. dollars is included as a componénther comprehensive (loss) income.

We recorded a transaction loss of $0.1 milliontfar year ended December 31, 2013 as compareddasattion loss of $0.7 milliaturing the
year endeDecember 31, 2012 .

Provision for Income Taxe:!

As of December 31, 2013, we had federal and s&tteperating loss carryforwards for tax purpodespproximately $37.2 million and $38.3
million , respectively. These net operating lossydfarwards begin to expire in 2022 for federalante tax purposes and begin to expire in 2014 for
state income tax purposes. In the future, we intendilize any carryforwards available to us tduee our tax payments. A portion of our net
operating loss carryforwards are subject to an anlimitation under Section 382 of the Internal Beue Code. We do not expect that this limitation
will impact our ability to utilize all of our netperating losses prior to their expiration. We retpgd income tax expense of approximately $4.4
million during the year ended December 31, 2018ickvis comprised of current tax expense of $0.ianirelated to federal alternative minimum
tax and state income tax liabilities, $1.5 millioihforeign income tax expense, and deferred taees@ of approximately $2.4 million related to
temporary differences between the tax treatmenfiaadcial reporting treatment for certain itemscluded within the total deferred tax expense of
$2.4 million is $2.3 million of deferred tax expen®lated to the establishment of a deferred &billfy for Subpart F income that will be recogrize
in a future year and $2.9 million of deferred tan#fit related to the release of valuation allovesnia certain foreign jurisdictions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes our cash flows:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

(In thousands)

Consolidated Cash Flow Data

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 49,497 $ 4457  $ 44,87.
Net cash used in investing activities (11,54 (4,439) (7,590
Net cash used in financing activities (59,099 (32,88Y (14,289
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (3,639 (1,227 69¢€
Net (decrease) increase in cash and equivalents (24,78() 6,031 23,69:

Our principal uses of cash historically have cdesi®f cash paid for stock repurchases, busineggsitions, payroll and other operating
expenses and payments related to the investmeatgiipment primarily to support our consumer pamel technical infrastructure required to
support our customer base. As of December 31, 2004 principal sources of liquidity consisted @f3$0 million in cash, the majority of which
represents cash generated from operating activiiesf December 31, 2014 , $14.5 million of th&$®million in cash on hand was held by foreign
subsidiaries that would be subject to tax withhajdbayments if it is repatriated to the U.S. itnanagement's current intention that all foreign
earnings will be indefinitely reinvested in thesesign countries and will not be repatriated toth8. However, if management were to repatriate
these funds to the U.S., they would be subjeat¢orne tax payments ranging from 5% to 15% of thewarhrepatriated.

On September 26, 2013, we entered into a Crediééxgent (the “Credit Agreement”) with several baftke "Lenders") with Bank of
America, N.A. (“Bank of America”) as administratiagent and lead lender. The Credit Agreement pesvidr a five-year revolving credit facility of
$100.0 million, which includes a $10.0 million simbit for issuance of standby letters of credit,1®$ million sublimit for swing line loans and a
$10.0 million sublimit for alternative currency ing. The maturity date of the Credit Agreemergéptember 26, 2018. The Credit Agreement also
contains an expansion option permitting the Compamgquest an increase of the credit facility ajp aggregate additional $50 million, subject to
certain conditions. Borrowings under the Revolv@rgdit Facility shall be used towards working calpiind other general corporate purposes as well
as for the issuance of letters of credit. On Ju1e2014, the Company executed the First Amendnaetfiet Credit Agreement. This amendment reset
the equity repurchase limit to $50.0 million andmpits the Company to repurchase equity interestsérCompany outside the $50.0 million limit
during the remainder of the five-year revolver tepmovided that certain financial thresholds ar¢.me
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Base rate loans and swing line loans will bearé@diat the Base rate plus the Applicable Ratsyels terms are defined in the Credit
Agreement and summarized below. The Base Rate isitfinest rate of the following: (a) the Federahdrate plus 0.50%, (b) the publicly
announced Bank of America prime rate, and (c) the&urrency rate as defined in the Credit Agreempérg 1.0%. The Applicable Rate for base
loans and swing line loans is 0.50% to 1.50% dejpgnoh the Company's funded debt-to-EBITDA ratidhat end of each fiscal quarter. Amounts
supporting letters of credit bear interest at tipplicable Rate for revolving loans. Each Eurocuckerate loan will bear interest at the Eurocurrency
Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plusipplicable Rate ranging from 1.50% to 2.50% depegdin our funded debt-to-EBITDA ratio at
the end of each fiscal quarter. Beginning Septer@beP013 through the five-year revolver term, we@bligated to pay a fee, payable quarterly in
arrears, based on the average unused portion af/timble amounts under the Credit Agreementrateaof 0.20% to 0.35% per annum depending
on the Company's funded debt-to-EBITDA ratio atéhe of each fiscal quarter.

Under the terms of the Credit Agreement, we argestito various usual and customary covenantsidtcy, but not limited to: financial
covenants requiring maximum funded debt-to-EBITR#&a, cash flow-to-fixed charge ratios and a mimmliquidity during equity repurchase
periods as well as covenants relating to the Cowlpatility to dispose of assets, make certain ia@épns, be acquired, incur indebtedness, grant
liens and make certain investments. As of DecerBhbeR014 , we were in full compliance with all caaats contained in the Credit Agreement.

As of December 31, 2014 , there were no amounttanding under our Credit Agreement.

We maintain letters of credit in lieu of securigpbsits with respect to certain office leases. A8exember 31, 2014 , $3.6 million in letters of
credit were outstanding, leaving $6.4 million ashle for additional letters of credit. These lettef credit may be reduced periodically provideat th
we meet the conditional criteria of each relatedéagreement.

Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are sigaifitly influenced by our investments in persorared infrastructure to support the anticipe
growth in our business, increases in the numbeustomers using our products and the amount anddiof payments made by these customers.

We generated approximately $49.5 million of nethdasm operating activities during the year endet&nber 31, 2014 . Our cash flows from
operations were driven by our net loss of $9.9iarilbffset by $65.1 million in non-cash items sashdepreciation, impairment of intangible assets,
amortization, provision for bad debts, stock-basemipensation, and a non-cash deferred tax provisiceddition, our operating cash flows were
positively impacted by a $9.1 million increase efatred revenue related to increased transactibmepand the collection of cash in advance of
revenue recognition, and a $5.0 million increasacicounts payable. Cash flows from operations wegatively impacted by a $16.7 milliamcreas
in accounts receivable associated with our inckeseenues, especially during the fourth quarted, & $3.1 milliorincrease in prepaid expenses
other current assets.

We generated approximately $44.6 million of nethdasm operating activities during the year endet@nber 31, 2013 . Our cash flows from
operations were driven by our net loss of $2.3iaril| offset by $54.8 million in non-cash items s&s depreciation, impairment of intangible assets,
amortization, provision for bad debts, stock-basemipensation, and a non-cash deferred tax provisiceddition, our operating cash flows were
positively impacted by a $7.4 million increase efatred revenue related to increased sales antbileetion of cash in advance of revenue
recognition, a $5.7 million increase in accountgaiide, and a $2.4 million increase in deferred cerg to tenant allowances related to our leases.
Cash flows from operations were negatively impatted $22.6 million increase in accounts receivasociated with our increased revenues,
especially during the fourth quarter, and a $0.figniincrease in prepaid expenses and other cuassets.

We generated approximately $44.9 million of nethdasm operating activities during the year endest&nber 31, 2012. Our cash flows from
operations were driven by our net loss of $11.8ieni] offset by $55.1 million in noash items such as depreciation, impairment oh@itde asset
amortization, provision for bad debts, stock-basewipensation, and a non-cash deferred tax provisicaddition, our operating cash flows were
positively impacted by a $11.6 million increaseal&ferred revenue and amounts collected from cus®imedvance of when we recognize revenue,
a $1.3 million increase in deferred rent due taterallowances related to our leases and a $1llmiecrease in prepaid expenses and other curren
assets. Cash flows from operations were negatiwvghacted by a $7.8 million decrease in accountsipi@y accrued expense and other liabilities
associated with the timing of payments associatéd annual bonuses paid in the first quarter ofytbar and professional fees accrued as of
December 31, 2011, and a $4.9 million increaseaoants receivable associated with our increasashrees.

Investing Activities

Our primary regularly recurring investing activibave consisted of purchases of computer netwgpripment to support our Internet user
panel and maintenance of our database, furnitwteegnipment to support our operations, purchases
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and sales of marketable securities, and paymelatedeto the acquisition of several companies. éscoistomer base continues to expand, we expec
purchases of technical infrastructure equipmeggréov in absolute dollars. The extent of these itmests will be affected by our ability to expand
relationships with existing customers, grow ourteo®r base, introduce new digital formats and m&eeour international presence.

We used $11.5 million of net cash in investing\atiis during the year ended December 31, 2(dsbociated with the purchase of property
equipment to maintain and expand our technologgétfucture.

We used $4.4 million of net cash in investing\atiis during the year ended December 31, 2018qaated with the purchase of property and
equipment to maintain and expand our technologgétfucture.

We used $7.6 million of net cash in investing\atiis during the year ended December 31, 2012cesed with the purchase of property and
equipment to maintain and expand our technologgétfucture.

We expect to achieve greater economies of scal®p@iting leverage as we expand our customergvabatilize our Internet user panel and
technical infrastructure more efficiently. While waticipate that it will be necessary for us totomre to invest in our Internet user panel, tecainic
infrastructure and technical personnel to suppatcombination of an increased customer base, nedupts, international expansion and new dit
market intelligence formats, we believe that thesestment requirements will be less than the regegrowth generated by these actions. This sl
result in a lower rate of growth in our capital erditures to support our technical infrastructimeany given period, the timing of our incremental
capital expenditure requirements could impact @st of revenues, both in absolute dollars and@ereentage of revenues.

Financing Activities

We used $59.1 million of cash during the year erldedember 31, 2014 for financing activities. Thmisliuded $15.7 million for shares
repurchased by us pursuant to the exercise by @toektive plan participants of their right to eléx use common stock to satisfy their tax
withholding obligations. We also used $37.2 milltorrepurchase shares under our share repurchagepr. In addition we used $12.1 million to
make payments on our capital lease obligationgblg $0.1 millionin proceeds from the exercise of our common stgtions. These cash outflo
were partially offset by $5.8 million of excess taenefits from stock-based compensation.

We used $32.9 million of cash during the year erdedember 31, 2013 for financing activities. Tmisluded $9.3 million for shares
repurchased by us pursuant to the exercise by @toektive plan participants of their right to eléx use common stock to satisfy their tax
withholding obligations. We also used $13.1 milltorrepurchase shares under our share repurchagepr. In addition we used $10.2 million to
make payments on our capital lease obligationgblfg $0.2 million in proceeds from the exercis®@of common stock options. Also, during the
year endeDecember 31, 2013 , we received $4.0 millietated to borrowings under our revolving creddilfty and repaid this amount during 20

We used $14.3 million of cash during the year erdedember 31, 2012 for financing activities. Thisluded $7.4 million for shares
repurchased by us pursuant to the exercise by stoektive plan participants of their right to délex use common stock to satisfy their tax
withholding obligations. In addition we used $7.0lion to make payments on our capital lease oliiges offset by $0.2 million in proceeds from
the exercise of our common stock options. Alsoirduthe year ended December 31, 2012, we receideldrillion related to borrowings under our
revolving credit facility. The total amount borroshevhich was denominated in euros, was repaid poi@ecember 31, 2012 and translated to $4.3
million.

Contractual Obligations and Known Future Cash Requiements

Set forth below is information concerning our knogamtractual obligations as of December 31, 2044 dhe fixed and determinable.

More
Less Than 3-5 Than 5
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years Years Years
(In thousands)
Capital lease obligations, including interest 27,84( 14,39¢ 13,44¢ 85 —
Operating lease obligations 66,03: 10,31¢ 18,67 15,86: 21,18:
Total 93,87: 24,71¢ 32,12( 15,94¢ 21,18:

Our principal lease commitments consist of obligagi under leases for office space and computeted@cbmmunications equipment. In
current and prior years, we financed the purchéseme of our computer equipment under
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capital lease arrangements over a period of eBéar 42 months. Our purchase obligations relataitetanding orders to purchase computer
hardware and software, are typically small and #heyot materially impact our overall liquidity.

We have a lease financing arrangement with Baférica Leasing & Capital, LLC in the amount of $8. 2nillion , of which the Company
can utilize approximately $7.4 million as of DecenB1, 2014 for future capital leases. This arrangement le&s kestablished to allow us to final
the purchase of new software, hardware and othrapater equipment as we expand our technology iméretsire in support of our business growth.
During the year ended December 31, 2014 we incu#®ed million of additional borrowings under thiedncing arrangement. Some of the amounts
the Company has utilized to date under this arnawege have not lowered the amount available forrutiapital leases, because those amounts have
been assigned by Banc of America Leasing & CapitaG under separate third-party arrangements. ABexfember 31, 2014 , we have total
outstanding amounts under this and other arrangesmeth Banc of America of approximately $18.3 noifi . These leases bear an interest rate of
approximately 5% per annum. The base terms foetlez=ses range from three years to three and gdwi$ and include a nominal charge in the
event of prepayment. Lease payments, under theioechlrrangements, are approximately $8.7 millienygar. Assets acquired under the
equipment lease secure the obligations. In additaur leasing arrangement with Banc of America,have also entered into a number of capital
lease arrangements with various equipment vendors.

As of December 31, 2014 , $3.6 million in lettef€@dit were outstanding, leaving $6.4 million #éakle for additional letters of credit. These
letters of credit may be reduced periodically pded we meet the conditional criteria of each reléase agreement.

As noted in the liquidity and capital resourcegisec in September 2013, we entered into a $100ll®mrevolving credit facility. As of
December 31, 2014 and February 19, 2015 , no ameere outstanding under the terms of our Revol@regit Facility.

Future Capital Requirements

Our ability to generate cash is subject to ourgrennce, general economic conditions, industrydseand other factors. To the extent that our
existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term investsnand operating cash flow are insufficient tedfour future activities and requirements, we may
need to raise additional funds through public drgie equity or debt financing. If we issue equEgcurities in order to raise additional funds,
substantial dilution to existing stockholders magur.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

Recent accounting pronouncements are detailed i@ Rt our Consolidated Financial Statements dexduin Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements (asedefintem 303 of Regulation S-K).

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that magauot our financial position due to adverse chamgésancial market prices and rates. We do
not hold or issue financial instruments for tradpgposes or have any derivative financial instmis.eTo date, most payments made under our
contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars and we hat experienced material gains or losses asut i&f transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. As of December 31, 2014 , our cashvesavere maintained in bank deposit accountsingt&i43.0 million .

Foreign Currency Risk, Interest Rate Sensitivity aml Liquidity Risk

A portion of our revenues and expenses from busiopsrations in foreign countries are derived ftmansactions denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of our operaionthose countries. We operate in several casin South America, including Brazil, Chile and
Argentina, as well as countries in Europe and thiédd Kingdom. As such, we have exposure to adweraages in exchange rates associated with
revenues and operating expenses of our foreigratipes but we believe this exposure to be immdtatithis time. We do not currently engage in
any transactions that hedge foreign currency exgdaate risk.

As we grow our international operations, and agoompanies with established business in intermalieegions, our exposure to foreign
currency risk could become more significant. Faaragle, at the beginning of 2014, the U.S. Dollagtioo exchange rate was approximately $1.(
€0.73 . However, during 2014, the U.S. Dollar toceexchange rate dropped as low
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as $1.00 to €0.72 and rose as high as $1.00 t@ €@8ring the year end December 31, 2014, theageet).S. Dollar to euro exchange rate was
approximately $1.00 to €0.75 . There can be noantee that exchange rates will remain constant theelong-term. In addition to the impact from
the U.S. Dollar to euro exchange rate movementgrea@lso impacted by movements in the exchange between the U.S. Dollar and various
South American currencies as well as the Poundir8ein addition, cash held overseas would beexttp income tax withholding payments if it
was repatriated to the United States. As of Decerdbge2014, $14.5 million of the $43.0 million inagh on hand was held by foreign subsidiaries
would be subject to income tax withholding paymehitswas repatriated to the United States. Ifwuere to repatriate these funds to the United
States, they would be subject to income tax paysnmiging from 5% to 45% of the amount repatriated.

The cash is held for working capital purposes. \®lebe that we do not have any material exposuchémges in the fair value as a result of
changes in interest rates. Declines in interessrdtowever, will reduce future investment incotheverall interest rates fell by 1% during the yea
ended December 31, 2014, our interest income wuaNeé declined by less than $0.1 million, assumonsistent investment levels.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of comSdo®

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of comScore, Inc. (the Company) as oémber 31, 2014 and 2013, and the
related consolidated statements of operations amgpiehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and clastsffor each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2014 . These financial statsnaeatthe responsibility of the Company’s managen@ur responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omwdits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiqUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaiainents are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidenpgorting the amounts and disclosures in thenéigh statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significannestes made by management, as well as evaluatirayérall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable Basisur opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedte, donsolidated financial position of comScore,
Inc. at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the ciolased results of its operations and its cash flw®ach of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2014 , in conformity with U.S. gerlgratcepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Blo@snited States), comScore, Inc.’s
internal control over financial reporting as of @ader 31, 2014 , based on criteria establishextérial Controlntegrated Framework issued by
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd®@ommission (2013 Framework) and our report de&gtuary 20, 2015 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

McLean, Virginia
February 20, 2015
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COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2014

2013

(In thousands, except share

and per share data)

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 43,01t $ 67,79¢

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $2,07®$h 667, respectively 08,18t 90,04(

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 11,01¢ 10,16:

Deferred tax assets 20,97¢ 10,80:

Assets held for sale 5,69 —
Total current assets 178,88 178,79¢
Property and equipment, net 42,36 37,99:
Other non-current assets 1,017 1,12¢
Long-term deferred tax assets 12,36¢ 9,24¢
Intangible assets, net 15,79: 32,93¢
Goodwill 103,52! 103,31
Total assets $ 353,95, $ 363,41:
Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 3,421 % 3,37¢

Accrued expenses 37,21 33,47

Deferred revenues 92,01: 86,60°

Deferred rent 1,73¢ 1,15¢

Deferred tax liabilities — 10

Capital lease obligations 13,35: 10,35:

Liabilities held for sale 3,87¢ —
Total current liabilities 151,61( 134,97
Deferred rent, long-term 9,73¢ 11,747
Deferred revenue, long-term 2,06: 2,85¢
Deferred tax liabilities, long-term 1,182 59t
Capital lease obligations, long-term 13,07 13,33(
Other long-term liabilities 1,02z 1,107
Total liabilities 178,68 164,61
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share; 3)00Ghares authorized at December 31, 2014 ¢

December 31, 2013; no shares issued or outstaatlidgcember 31, 2014 and December 31, 20 — —

Common stock, $0.001 par value per share; 100,00G;06ares authorized at December 31, 201«

December 31, 2013; 35,919,340 shares issued ahd43466 shares outstanding as of December 31,

2014 and 35,699,508 shares issued and 35,216,@vdssbutstanding as of December 31, 2013,

respectively 36 36

Additional paid-in capital 324,17¢ 293,32.

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (5,59 1,72¢

Accumulated deficit (93,07¢) (83,179)

Treasury stock, at cost, 1,744,874 and 483,43 &stas of December 31, 2014 and December 31,

2013, respectively (50,280 (13,109
Total stockholders’ equity 175,26! 198,80:.
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 353,95, $ 363,41:

The accompanying notes are an integral part obthessolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE LOSS

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenues $ 329,15: $ 286,86( 255,19:
Cost of revenues (excludes amortization of intalegidssets resulting from

acquisitions shown below) (1) 97,46 89,96: 86,37¢
Selling and marketing (1) 103,52! 99,94° 91,84¢
Research and development (1) 60,36+ 41,02¢ 33,99
General and administrative (1) 62,92:¢ 46,44¢ 38,13
Amortization of intangible assets 7,23( 7,957 9,28¢
Impairment of intangible assets 9,72: — 3,34¢
Gain on asset disposition — (219 —
Settlement of litigation 2,70C (1,360 —
Total expenses from operations 343,93: 283,76 262,99:
Income (loss) from operations (14,780) 3,09: (7,80))
Interest and other expense, net (1,247 (93¢) (870
Gain (loss) from foreign currency transactions 80¢ (62 (744
Income (loss) before income tax benefit (provision) (15,219 2,09: (9,41%)
Income tax benefit (provision) 5,31t (4,426 (2,374
Net loss $ (9,909 $ (2,339 (11,789
Net loss per common share:

Basic $ 0.29) % (0.07) (0.35)

Diluted $ 029 ¢ (0.07) (0.3%)
Weighted-average number of shares used in per shim@ation - common
stock:

Basic 33,689,66 34,443,12 33,244,79

Diluted 33,689,66 34,443,12 33,244,79
Comprehensive loss:

Net loss $ (9,909 $ (2,339 (11,789
Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Foreign currency cumulative translation adjustment (7,317 (99 1,20¢
Total comprehensive loss $ 17,220 $ (2,437) (10,587)
(1) Amortization of stock-based compensatioimétuded in the line items above as follows:

Cost of revenues $ 4007 $ 3,34¢ 2,481
Selling and marketing 10,77¢ 11,06: 12,28
Research and development 4,61( 3,021 1,91¢
General and administrative 22 57¢ 9,60¢ 8,21:

The accompanying notes are an integral part obthessolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated

Balance at January 1, 201z
Net loss

Foreign currency translatiol
adjustment

Exercise of common stock
options

Exercise of common stock
warrants

Issuance of restricted stock
Restricted stock canceled
Restricted stock units vested

Common stock received fol
tax withholding

Excess tax benefits from
stock based compensation,
net

Amortization of stock base(
compensation

Balance at December 31,
2012

Net loss

Foreign currency translation
adjustment

Exercise of common stock
options

Issuance of restricted stock
Restricted stock canceled
Restricted stock units vested

Common stock received fol
tax withholding
Repurchase of common
stock

Amortization of stock base(
compensation

Balance at December 31,
2013

Net loss

Foreign currency translation
adjustment

Exercise of common stock
options

Issuance of restricted stock
Restricted stock canceled
Restricted stock units vested

Common stock received fol
tax withholding
Repurchase of common
stock

Excess tax benefits from

stock-based compensation
net

Common Stock Additional Other Accumulated Total
Paid-In Comprehensive Stockholders’ Treasury stock, Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit at cost Equity
(In thousands, except share data)

34,015,43 34 258,96° $ 617 $ (69,05) $ — 8 190,56°
— — — — (11,789 — (11,789
— — — 1,20¢ — — 1,20¢
367,23« — 23¢ — — — 23¢
19,89¢ — — — — — —
1,706,901 2 @ — — — _
(233,90 — — — — — —
168,21t — — — — — —
(364,34%) — (7,362) — — — (7,365)
— — (51) — — — (51)
— — 22,83 — — — 22,83:
35,679,43 36 274,62: 1,82¢ (80,84() — 195,64:
— — — — (2,339 — (2,339
— — — (99) — — (99)
52,06 — 227 — — — 227
484,05; — — — — — —
(206,36() — — — — — —
200,65: — — — — — —
(510,329 — (9,31 — — — (9,317)
(483,43) — — — — (13,109 (13,109
— — 27,78t — — — 27,78¢
35,216,07 36 293,32 1,72¢ (83,179 (13,109 198,80:
— — — — (9,909 — (9,909
— — — (7,31)) — — (7,31))
27,24 — 10¢€ — — — 10¢€
233,54 — — — — — —
(34,677) — — — — — —
467,82 — — — — — —
(474,11Y) — (15,713 — — — (15,712
(1,261,43) — — — — (37,179 (37,17))
— — 5,751 — — — 5,751



Amortization of stock based

compensation — 40,70: — — — 40,70:
Balance at December 31,
2014 34,174,446 $ 36 $ 32417t % (5,59) $ (93,07¢) $ (50,280 % 175,26!

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activities
Net loss

Year ended December 31,

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby operating activities:

Depreciation

Amortization of intangible assets resulting frongaisitions

Impairment of intangible assets

Provision for bad debts

Stock-based compensation

Amortization of deferred rent

Deferred tax (benefit) provision

Loss (gain) on asset disposal

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and othelitlegi

Deferred revenues

Deferred rent
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities
Proceeds from asset disposition
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options
Repurchase of common stock (withholding taxes)
Repurchase of common stock (treasury shares)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Principal payments on capital lease obligations
Proceeds from financing arrangements
Principal payments on financing arrangements
Debt issuance costs
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Interest paid
Net income tax paid
Supplemental noncash investing and financing actities
Capital lease obligations incurred
Leasehold improvements acquired through lease fivesn
Accrued capital expenditures

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)

$ (9,909 $ (2,33) $ (11,789
17,98: 16,77 14,15¢
7,23(C 7,957 9,28¢
9,72: — 3,34¢
2,57¢ 1,24¢ 1,42¢
41,97 27,03t 24,89¢
(1,419 (340 934
(13,069 2,381 89¢€
75 (267) 14C
(16,709 (22,56() (4,936)
(3,089 (712) 1,46¢
4,95¢ 5,67: (7,840)
9,11¢ 7,36¢ 11,56¢
36 2,35% 1,31:
49,49’ 44,57: 44,87
— 16C —
(3,896) — —
(7,649 (4,597 (7,590
(11,545 (4,437 (7,590
10¢€ 227 23€
(15,719 (9,319 (7,362
(37,17) (13,109 —
5,757 — —
(12,08)) (10,21 (7,019
— 3,98¢ 4,131
— (3,985 (4,280)
— (479 —
(59,099 (32,88Y) (14,285
(3,639 (1,22)) 69€
(24,780) 6,031 23,69:
67,79¢ 61,76« 38,07:
$ 43,01 $ 67,798 % 61,76¢
$ 1,312 $ 75€ $ 778
$ 2,14¢ % 1332 % 997
$ 15,20 $ 19,38: $ 8,54¢
$ 58 $ 227 % 1,282
$ 1,85¢ 1,451 % 93C

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtheasolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

comsScore, Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corpgoreincorporated in August 1999, provides digitadia analytics that enables its
customers to make well-informed, data-driven deaisito effectively manage their business, builccessful digital strategies and tactics, and
optimize their marketing and advertising investrsefihe Company is a technology-driven companyriegisures what people do as they navigate
the digital world across multiple technology plaifs including personal computers, smartphonesgtsftielevisions and interact with digital media,
including Web sites, apps, video programming andgising. The Company aspires to measure allaigiteractions across all major digital
platforms, at scale, on a global basis.

The Company's products and services provide itomers with deep and actionable insight into coresupehavior including objective,
detailed information about consumer usage of digitatent and advertising coupled with informat@nconsumer demographic characteristics,
attitudes, lifestyles and offline behavior. The Qamy is skilled in combining proprietary Companyadaith its clients’ own data, as well as data
from partners, to provide uniquely valuable digiteédia analytics. We deliver on-demand and reag-fimoducts and services through a scalable
Software-as-Service delivery model which suppoath iCompany branded products and also partner ptedhtegrating the Company's data and
services.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policie

Basis of Presentation and Consolidatic

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiectade the accounts of the Company and its whaliyred subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany transactions and accounts have baemated upon consolidation. The Company consddislaivestments where it has a controlling
financial interest. The usual condition for conlirg financial interest is ownership of a majorifythe voting interest and, therefore, as a genete)
ownership, directly or indirectly, of more than 5@¥the outstanding voting shares is a conditiaticating consolidation. All of the Company's
subsidiaries are wholly owned.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting priresplequires management to make estir
and assumptions that affect the reported amourdssats and liabilities and the reported amountsvanue and expense during the reporting
periods. Significant estimates and assumptioninéegent in the analysis and the measurement efidef tax assets, the identification and
quantification of income tax liabilities due to @mtain tax positions, recoverability of intangilalesets, other long-lived assets and goodwill, atsru
related to outstanding litigation, the collectabibf accounts receivable and the determinatiothefallowance for doubtful accounts. The Company
bases its estimates on historical experience asuhgstions that it believes are reasonable. Acesllts could differ from those estimates.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company evaluates the fair value of certaietasand liabilities using the fair value hierarchgir value is an exit price representing the
amount that would be received to sell an asseaiat tp transfer a liability in an orderly transactibetween market participants. As such, fair vidue
a market-based measurement that should be deteti@sed on assumptions that market participantddwwse in pricing an asset or liability. As a
basis for considering such assumptions, the Comappljes the three-tier value hierarchy which piies the inputs used in measuring fair value as
follows:

Level 1 — observable inputs such as quoted pricesiive markets;
Level 2 — inputs other than the quoted prices tivaanarkets that are observable either directlindirectly;
Level 3 — unobservable inputs of which there ielior no market data, which require the Compangeteelop its own assumptions.

The Company does not currently have any assetshilities that are measured at fair value on améoeg basis. However, cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and othefsaascounts payable, accrued expenses, defewedue, deferred rent and capital lease
obligations reported in the consolidated balaneethequal or approximate their respective fainesl

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fdirevan an infrequent basis include fixed assetangible assets and goodwill. The Company
recognizes these items at fair value when thegamsidered to be impaired or upon initial recogmitiDuring the year ended December 31, 2014 ,
the Company recorded an impairment charge of $8libmrelating to CSWS, which reduced the carryfgCSWS intangible assets to zero , based
on Level 2 inputs. During the year ended 2012 Gbmpany recorded a $3.3 million impairment charjated to ARS, which reduced the carrying
amount of the ARS intangible assets to $2.5 millibased on Level 3 inputs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liguestments with an original maturity of three nfenor less at the time of purchase. Cast
cash equivalents consist primarily of bank depasitounts.



Interest income on investments was $0.2 milliof.2%nillion and $0.1 million for the years endedcBmber 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

Accounts Receivabl

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoicedwentnand are non-interest bearing. The Companyrgiygrants uncollateralized credit
terms to its customers and maintains an allowaoicddubtful accounts to reserve for potentially altectible receivables. Allowances are based on
management’s judgment, which considers historigpegence and specific knowledge of accounts whellectability may not be probable. The
Company makes provisions based on historical batelgerience, a specific review of all significantstanding invoices and an assessment of
general economic conditions. If the financial coiodi of a customer deteriorates, resulting in apairment of its ability to make payments,
additional allowances may be required. Includedhiwitccounts receivable are unbilled accounts vabé, which relate to situations in which the
Company has recognized revenue prior to invoicicgsitomer. Typically, unbilled accounts receivednie invoiced in the following period.

The following is a summary of activities in theaallance for doubtful accounts for the fiscal yeadidated:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Beginning Balance $ (1,667 $ 1,119 $ (903
Additions (2,576 (1,249 (1,429
Recoveries and write-offs 2,164 69¢ 1,21t
Ending Balance $ (2,079 $ (1,667 $ (1,119

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment is stated at cost, net@franlated depreciation. Property and equipmengsetiated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, ranging fitmee to five years . Assets under capital leasesegorded at their net present value at the tiaep
of the lease and are included in the appropriaetastegory. Assets under capital leases andhlel@senprovements are amortized over the shorter
of the related lease terms or their useful livanoftization of assets under capital leases is deduvithin the expense category in which the &asset
deployed. Replacements and major improvementsaguiéatized; maintenance and repairs are chargeggense as incurred. Certain salary and
related costs are capitalized as internal-use sofw

Business Combination

The Company recognizes all of the assets acquiadiljties assumed, contractual contingencies, @mtingent consideration at their fair va
on the acquisition date. Acquisition-related c@stsrecognized separately from the acquisitionesqmensed as incurred. Restructuring costs incurrec
in periods subsequent to the acquisition datexgeresed when incurred. Subsequent changes to thiegse price (i.e., working capital adjustments)
or other fair value adjustments determined durirgrheasurement period are recorded as an adjusiongoddwill. All subsequent changes to an
income tax valuation allowance or uncertain taxitumsthat relate to the acquired company and egisit the acquisition date that occur both within
the measurement period and as a result of factsiesuinstances that existed at the acquisition dageecognized as an adjustment to goodwill. All
other changes in income tax valuation allowancesergognized as a reduction or increase to incamexpense or as a direct adjustment to
additional paid-in capital as required.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of identifiable assets acgliaind liabilities assumed when a business is
acquired. The allocation of the purchase pricentanigible assets and goodwill involves the use afiagement’s estimates and assumptions, and the
result of the allocation process can have a siganifiimpact on future operating results. The atioceof the purchase price to intangible assets is
done at fair value. The Company estimates thevfdire of identifiable intangible assets acquireidgisarious valuation methods, including the
excess earnings and relief from royalty methods.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortizeératheir useful lives while goodwill is not amaed but is evaluated for potential impairment
at least annually by comparing the fair value oéporting unit to its carrying value including gadtl recorded by the reporting unit. If the carrgin
value exceeds the fair value, impairment is meakhiyecomparing the implied fair value of the gooliita its carrying value, and any impairment
determined is recorded in the current period. Tom@any has one reporting unit. Accordingly, on anual basis the Company performs the
impairment assessment for goodwill at the entegdasel. The Company completed its annual impaitraealysis as of October 1st for each of the
years ended December 2014 , 2013 and 2012 and determined that therenwampairment of goodwill.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortizaethg the straight-line method over the followingfus lives:

Useful

Lives

(Years)
Acquired methodologies/technology 3to
Customer relationships 3to7
Panel 7
Intellectual property 7 to 1
Trade names 2 to 1(

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

The Company’s long-lived assets primarily consfgtroperty and equipment and intangible assets.Qdrmapany evaluates the recoverability
of its long-lived assets for impairment whenevegrgs or changes in circumstances indicate theiogrialue of such assets may not be recoverable.
If an indication of impairment is present, the Ca@myp compares the estimated undiscounted futureftagh to be generated by the asset to its
carrying amount. Recoverability measurement arichesion of undiscounted cash flows are groupeti@tawest level for which identifiable cash
flows are largely independent of the cash flowstbEr assets and liabilities. If the undiscountgdrie cash flows are less than the carrying amot
the asset group, the Company records an impairtogsiequal to the excess of the asset group’siongraynount over its fair value. The fair value is
determined based on valuation techniques sucltasparison to fair values of similar assets orgisimiscounted cash flow analysis. Although the
Company believes that the carrying values of itgtved assets are appropriately stated, chamgssdtegy or market conditions or significant
technological developments could significantly iropéaese judgments and require adjustments todedassset balances. During the year ended
December 31, 2014, the Company recorded an impatrofarge of $9.7 million related to certain intérhg assets of CSWS as described in Note 6.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coypanorded an impairment charge of $3.3 milliomtedl to certain intangible assets of the
ARSgroup. There were no impairment charges recedriziring the year ended December 31, 2013 .

Lease Accounting

The Company leases its facilities and accountthiose leases as operating leases. For facilitg$edmt contain rent escalations or rent
concession provisions, the Company records thérertiapayable during the lease term on a strdigbtbasis over the term of the lease. The
Company records the difference between the redtgad the straight-line rent as a deferred rebtliip. Leasehold improvements funded by
landlord incentives or allowances are recorde@asdhold improvement assets and a deferred rbitityiavhich is amortized as a reduction of rent
expense over the term of the lease.

The Company records capital leases as an assenastaligation at an amount equal to the presentevaf the minimum lease payments as
determined at the beginning of the lease term. Aizaiion of capitalized leased assets is computed siraight-line basis over the term of the lease
and is included in depreciation and amortizatiopesse.
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Foreign Currency

The functional currency of the Company’s foreigbsidiaries is the local currency. All assets andilities are translated at the current
exchange rate as of the end of the period, andhuegeand expenses are translated at average erdataeg in effect during the period. The gain or
loss resulting from the process of translatingifpreurrency financial statements into U.S. doliareflected as foreign currency cumulative
translation adjustment and reported as a compaferdcumulated other comprehensive loss.

The Company recorded foreign currency transactansgof $0.8 million in the year ended December2B1l4 , and losses of $0.1 millipand
$0.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2801id2012, respectively. The gains and losses areetlt of transactions denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency ef@mpany’s foreign subsidiaries.

Operating Segment Information

The Company has concluded that it has one opersgiggent based on the fact that its Chief Exec@ifieer, who is also its chief operating
decision maker, continues to evaluate performandawake operating decisions based on consolidataddial data. Additionally, there are no
managers who are held accountable by the chiehtipgrdecision maker, or anyone else, for an opeyameasure of profit or loss for any operating
unit below the consolidated unit level.

Revenue Recognitio

The Company recognizes revenues when the follolvindamental criteria are met: (i) persuasive evigesf an arrangement exists,
(ii) delivery has occurred or the services haventreadered, (i) the fee is fixed or determinalaied (iv) collection of the resulting receivable is
reasonably assured.

The Company generates revenues by providing ateelse Company’s online database or deliveringrinfition obtained from the database,
usually in the form of periodic reports. Revenuestgpically recognized on a straight-line basisrahe period in which access to data or reports is
provided, which generally ranges from three to tiydour months . Sales taxes remitted to governraettiorities are recorded on a net basis.

Revenues are also generated through survey sewndes contracts ranging in term from two montherie year. Survey services consist of
survey and questionnaire design with subsequeatatdiection, analysis and reporting. At the outfetn arrangement, total arrangement
consideration is allocated between the developmithte survey questionnaire and subsequent datectioh, analysis and reporting services based
on relative selling price. Revenue allocated todsimeey questionnaire is recognized when it isvededid and revenue allocated to the data collection,
analysis and reporting services is recognized stnaéght-line basis over the estimated data cadagieriod once the survey or questionnaire design
has been delivered. Any change in the estimatedatdlection period results in an adjustment tereies recognized in future periods.

Certain of the Company’s arrangements contain pielélements, consisting of the various servicesibmpany offers. Multiple element
arrangements typically consist of either subsaipito multiple online product solutions or a suiption to the Company’s online database
combined with customized services. The Companywatsdor these arrangements in accordance witmegiabAccounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2008;Multiple Deliverable Revenue Arrangementghich requires the Company to allocate
arrangement consideration at the inception of eangement to all deliverables, if they represesggarate unit of accounting, based on their raativ
selling prices. The guidance establishes a hieyawhdetermine the selling price to be used fayadting arrangement consideration to deliverables:
(i) vendor-specific objective evidence of fair val(fVSOE"), (ii) third-party evidence of sellingipe (“TPE”") if VSOE is not available, or (iii) an
estimated selling price (“ESP”) if neither VSOE Ad?E are available. VSOE generally exists only wienCompany sells the deliverable separately
and is the price actually charged by the Companyhiat deliverable on a stand-alone basis. ESEatsfthe Company’s estimate of what the selling
price of a deliverable would be if it was sold rigly on a stand-alone basis.

The Company has concluded it does not have VSOthése types of arrangements and TPE is genematlgvailable because the Company’s
service offerings are highly differentiated and @@mpany is unable to obtain reliable informationtiee products and pricing practices of the
Company’s competitors. As such, ESP is used teakothe total arrangement consideration at trgement inception based on each element’s
relative selling price.

The Company’s process for determining ESP involsasagement’s judgments based on multiple factatsntiay vary depending upon the
unique facts and circumstances related to eactuptatite and deliverable. The Company determir& By considering several external and
internal factors including, but not limited to, cemt pricing practices, pricing concentrations fsas industry, channel, customer class or geogjaphy
internal costs and market penetration of a produservice. The total arrangement considerati@tlégsated to each of the elements based on the
relative selling price. If the ESP is determinedhaange of selling prices, the mid-point of thega is used in the relative-selling-price methodc®©
the total
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arrangement consideration has been allocated todsiverable based on the relative allocatiorhefarrangement fee, the Company commences
revenue recognition for each deliverable on a stdade basis as the data or service is deliver8®. ill be analyzed on an annual basis or more
frequently if management deems it likely that ctesn the estimated selling prices have occurred.

Generally, contracts are non-refundable and nogatahle. In the event a portion of a contract farrdable, revenue recognition is delayed
until the refund provisions lapse. A limited numbé&customers have the right to cancel their catdrly providing a written notice of cancellation.
In the event that a customer cancels its conttlaetcustomer is not entitled to a refund for pservices, and will be charged for costs incurrec pl
services performed up to the cancellation date.

Advance payments are recorded as deferred revemtieservices are delivered or obligations are aret revenue can be recognized. Deferred
revenues represent the excess of amounts invoi@damounts recognized as revenues.

Multiple contracts with a single counterparty thegt negotiated simultaneously and are considenetgeoraneous are accounted for as one
arrangement. If there are multiple contracts witle counterparty that are deemed independent chother, they are accounted for as separate
arrangements.

The Company also generates revenue through softisareses, professional services (including sofen@arstomization, implementation,
training and consulting services), and maintenamektechnical support contracts. The Company’s\gaments generally contain multiple elements,
consisting of the various service offerings. TherPany recognizes software license arrangementéntiatie significant modification and
customization of the software in accordance wittSBAccounting Standards Codification (ASC) 985-685ftware Recognitionand ASC 605-35,
Revenue Recogniti-Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Cacts, using either the percentage-of-completion or deteg-contract
method. Under the percentage-of-completion metti@Company uses the input method to measure m®grbich is based on the ratio of costs
incurred to date to total estimated costs at cotigpieThe percentage-of-completion method is ushdnareliable estimates of progress, including
customer acceptance, and completion under theamirgan be made. Under the completed-contract mellilings and costs (to the extent they are
recoverable) are accumulated on the balance dheatp profit or income is recorded before useeptance of the software license. The completed-
contract method is used when reliable estimatessifto complete cannot be made or other termsruhdeontract require it. To the extent estim
costs are expected to exceed revenue, the Companyea for costs immediately. The Company considemntract to be completed when all
performance obligations have been delivered andubtomer provides formal acceptance in the form ‘tfser Acceptance Testing" certificate and
the Company applies this policy on a consistenisb&®sr certain customers with contacts for thgped of revenues that have multiple deliverables,
the Company has VSOE of fair value for post contsapport services. For the remainder of the custemwith contracts, the Company does not |
VSOE for the multiple deliverables and accountdibelements in these arrangements as a singl®tiadcounting, recognizing the entire
arrangement fee as revenue over the service pefit last delivered element.

The Company accounts for nonmonetary transactiodsruUASC 845Nonmonetary TransactiongNonmonetary transactions with commercial
substance are recorded at the estimated fair whlassets surrendered including cash, if castssstlean 25% of the fair value of the overall
exchange, unless the fair value of the assetsvesté more clearly evident, in which case the¥alue of the asset received is used to estimate fa
value for the exchange.

In 2013, the Company entered into an agreementdisaemge certain data assets with a corporatioQ4i2014, the Company and the
corporation modified the existing agreement, whbeeparties will provide additional data assetsnémber of the Company’s Board of Directors
also serves as a member of the Board of Directiditsap corporation and therefore, we have consitilte corporation to be a related party. The
transaction was considered to have commercial anbstunder the guidance in ASC 845 and the Comgstitmated the fair value of the services
delivered based on similar monetary transactiortis third parties. No cash was exchanged in thissaction. The Company also considered the
guidance in ASC 85(Related Party Disclosures

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 208 ompany recognized $16.3 million and $3.2 onillj respectively, in revenue related
to nonmonetary transactions, of which $10.7 milliord $1.8 million , respectively, was attributatiieéhe related party transaction. During 2014 and
2013, the Company recognized $16.3 million and #iilBon , respectively, in expense attributablentmmonetary transactions, of which $14.3
million and $0 , respectively, was attributablehe related party transaction. Due to timing déferes in the delivery and receipt of the respective
nonmonetary assets exchanged, revenue and expdnss dffset each other equally in each periocented.

Costs of Revenues

Cost of revenues consists primarily of expensededlto the operating network infrastructure amdrétruitment, maintenance and support of
consumer panels. Expenses associated with thesg iactude the salaries, stock-based
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compensation, benefits and related expenses obrletwperations, survey operations, custom analgintstechnical support departments, and are
expensed as they are incurred. Cost of revenuessteprimarily of expenses related to the opegatietwork infrastructure and the recruitment,
maintenance and support of consumer panels. Expasseciated with these areas include the salat@kbased compensation, benefits and rel
expenses of network operations, survey operatmmgpm analytics and technical support departm@ast of revenues also includes data collection
costs for the products and operational costs astsacwith the Company’s data centers, includingelgption expense associated with computer
equipment that supports its panel and systemsallochted overhead, which is comprised of rentdejteciation expense generated by general
purpose equipment and software.

Deferred contract costs represent incremental o@sts paid to a third party and the internal €a$temployees directly related to the delivery
of an item that cannot be accounted for separé&iahy the undelivered items for certain of the Comps significantly customized software sales or
other long-term in nature projects. These costsearegnized as cost of revenues ratably over time ggeriod that deferred revenue is recognized as
revenues. The Company analyzes the recoverabilityege costs each reporting period.

Selling and Marketing

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarilyadéiries, stock-based compensation, benefits, éssions and bonuses paid to the direct
sales force and industry analysts, as well as cekgtted to online and offline advertising, prodogtnagement, seminars, promotional materials,
public relations, other sales and marketing prograand allocated overhead, including rent and dtwilities related costs, and depreciation. All
selling and marketing costs are expensed as tleeyneurred.

Research and Developme

Research and development expenses include newagirdelelopment costs, consisting primarily of delrstock-based compensation,
benefits and related costs for personnel associgtbdesearch and development activities, andcatled overhead, including rent and other facilities
related costs, and depreciation.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist pliynafrsalaries, stock-based compensation, berafitkrelated expenses for executive
management, finance, accounting, human capita),l@gormation technology and other administrafiwections, as well as professional fees,
overhead, including allocated rent and other fiedlirelated costs, and depreciation and expensagéd for other general corporate purposes.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject@@npany to concentrations of credit risk consighprily of cash equivalents and accounts
receivable. The Company maintains cash depositsfimiancial institutions that at times exceed aggie insurance limits. The Company reduces
this risk by maintaining such deposits with higtality financial institutions that management bedisare creditworthy. With respect to accounts
receivable, credit risk is mitigated by the Compamngoing credit evaluation of its customers’ fic&al condition.

Advertising Cost:

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred.efiting expense includes costs associated widitdinarketing but does not include the cost
of attendance at events or trade shows. Advertesipgnse, which is included in sales and marketipense, totaled $0.3 million , $0.2 million and
$0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2020113 and 2012 , respectively.

Stocl-Based Compensation

The Company estimates the fair value of share-baseads on the date of grant. The fair value oflstuptions with only service conditions is
determined using the Black-Scholes option-priciradel. The fair value of markdtased stock options and restricted stock unitetisrchined using
Monte Carlo simulation embedded in a lattice mod@ke fair value of restricted stock awards is basethe closing price of the Compasyommor
stock on the date of grant. The determination efftir value of the Company’s stock option awanas gestricted stock awards is based on a variety
of factors including, but not limited to, the Comg& common stock price, expected stock price udlabver the expected life of awards, and actual
and projected exercise behavior. Additionally, @@mpany has estimated forfeitures for share-basadds at the dates of grant based on historical
experience, adjusted for future expectation. Thiefiure estimate is revised as necessary if adtutditures differ from these estimates.
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The Company issues restricted stock awards wheteéctéons lapse upon the passage of time (seméséing), achieving performance targets,
or some combination of these restrictions. Forehestricted stock awards with only service condgi the Company recognizes compensation cost
on a straight-line basis over the explicit serpeeiod. For awards with both performance and serganditions, the Company starts recognizing
compensation cost over the remaining service pewben it is probable the performance conditior &l met. For stock awards that contain market
vesting conditions the Company recognizes compmseabst over the original estimate of the derigedvice period, based on its initial valuation
analysis regardless of market performance. Foksta@rds that contain performance or market vestorglitions, the Company excludes these
awards from diluted earnings per share computatiotisthe contingency is met as of the end of tkeabrting period.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the assdtadility method. Deferred income taxes are prodifier temporary differences in recogniz
certain income, expense and credit items for firmeporting purposes and tax reporting purpoSesh deferred income taxes primarily relate tc
difference between the tax bases of assets arititieesband their financial reporting amounts. Deéel tax assets and liabilities are measured by
applying enacted statutory tax rates applicabtbeduture years in which deferred tax assetsatiilities are expected to be settled or realized.

The Company records a valuation allowance wheatérthines, based on available positive and negatiikence, that it is more-likely-than-
not that some portion or all of its deferred tageds will not be realized. The Company determihegealizability of its deferred tax assets prittyari
based on the reversal of existing taxable tempatéfgrences and projections of future taxable medqexclusive of reversing temporary differences
and carryforwards). In evaluating such projectidghs,Company considers its history of profitabjlitye competitive environment, the overall outl
for the online marketing industry and general eooiccconditions. In addition, the Company considbestimeframe over which it would take to
utilize the deferred tax assets prior to their esqon.

For certain tax positions, the Company uses a tikeb-than-not threshold based on the technicalitsef the tax position taken. Tax
positions that meet the more-likely-than-not redtign threshold are measured at the largest amafulaix benefits determined on a cumulative
probability basis, which are more-likely-than-note realized upon ultimate settlement in the famrstatements. The Company’s policy is to
recognize interest and penalties related to incaxenatters in income tax expense.

Earnings Per Share

Basic net loss per common share excludes dilubopdtential common stock issuances and is compatetividing net loss income by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstguhdlirihe period.

The following table provides a reconciliation oéthumerators and denominators used in computirig bad diluted net loss per common
share:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands, except share data)

Calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share

Net loss $ (9,909 $ (2,33) $ (11,789
Net loss per common share:
Basic (0.29 (0.07) (0.3
Diluted (0.29 (0.07) (0.3%)
Weighted-average shares outstanding-common stask; bnd diluted 33,689,66 34,443,12 33,244,79

The Company uses the two-class method for earrliogggions between the Company's restricted staceds, as they are a participating
security, and the Company's common stock. Theiddwffect of stock options and restricted stock @07,602 , 688,659 and 1,547,077 were not
included in the computation of diluted net loss g@mmon share for the years ended December 31,,200¥3 and 2012respectively, as their effe
would be anti-dilutive.
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Recent Pronouncementi

In April 2014, FASB issued Accounting Standards bied"ASU") 2014-08Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205) Broperty,
Plant, and Equipment (Topic 360): Reporting Discomed Operations and Disclosures of Disposals ah@onents of an EntitThe amendments in
this Update improve the definition of discontinugzkrations by limiting discontinued operations mipg to disposals of components of an entity
that represent strategic shifts that have (orhvéille) a major effect on an entity’s operations famehcial results. Under current U.S. GAAP, many
disposals, some of which may be routine in natagereot a change in an entigystrategy, are reported in discontinued operatibhe amendments
this update also require expanded disclosuresisopdtinued operations. In addition, for individyagignificant components of an entity that doet
qualify for discontinued operations reporting, thedate requires the entity to disclose the pretafitpr loss of the component. Publicly-traded
entities are required to prospectively apply thiglgnce for all disposals (or classifications dsl fier sale) of components that occur within annual
periods beginning on or after December 15, 2014 iaterim periods within those years. Early adapi®permitted, but only for disposals (or
classifications as held for sale) that have nohlyeported in financial statements previously igsoieavailable for issuance. The Company is
currently evaluating the new standard and the impiihe Company's adoption of this standard omdanl, 2015.

In May 2014, FASB issued Accounting Standards Up@&SU") 2014-09Revenue (Topic 606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
which will replace existing revenue recognitionnstards and significantly expand the disclosureirequents for revenue arrangements. The new
standard will be effective for the Company begignim January 1, 2017 (i.e., beginning with thet figgarter 2017 interim financial statements). The
new standard may be adopted retrospectively fqraalbds presented, or adopted using a modifiedspéctive approach. Under the retrospective
approach, the calendar year 2016 and 2015 finasigitdments would be adjusted to reflect the effetapplying the new standard to those periods.
Under the modified retrospective approach, the siandard would only be applied for the period beigig January 1, 2017 to new contracts and
those contracts that are not yet complete at Jardy&017, with a cumulative catch-up adjustmenorded to beginning retained earnings for
existing contracts that still require performantiee Company is currently evaluating the methodasdwiption allowed by the new standard and the
impact the standard is expected to have on the @oy'wfinancial statements and related disclosures.

3. Business Combination

The Company uses its best estimates and assumpsangpart of the purchase price allocation proeascurately value assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the business combinatior,dest estimates and assumptions are inherentlgrtain and subject to refinement. As a result,
during the preliminary purchase price allocatioriqgu which may be up to one year from the busimessbination date, the Company records
adjustments to the assets acquired and liabikisssimed, with the corresponding offset to goodwile Company records adjustments to assets
acquired or liabilities assumed subsequent to thiehase price allocation period in its operatirgphes in the period in which the adjustments were
determined. None of the goodwill is deductibletx purposes.

Acquisition of MdotLabs

On August 4, 2014 the Company entered into ancedlas a definitive Stock Purchase Agreement (theckSPurchase Agreement") with
M.Labs, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("MdotLab®hn August 4, 2014 comScore completed its purchfia# of the outstanding capital stock of
MdotLabs, and MdotLabs became a wholly-owned sidngicbf comScore. MdotLabs is a SaaS security @latfdesigned to combat invalid activity
in web and mobile advertising, such as non-humedficr The aggregate amount of the consideratiod pgthe Company upon the closing of the
transaction was $4.5 million , which was comprisatirely of cash.

The acquisition of MdotLabs resulted in goodwillagfproximately $3.2 million , none of which is detlble for tax purposes. This amount
represents the residual amount of the total puechédse after determining the fair value for neteds and identifiable intangible assets acquirée. T
amount recorded as goodwill is consistent withGleenpany’s intentions for the acquisition of Mdotksa@he Company acquired MdotLabs to
enhance its capabilities in the marketplace fontifieation and eradication of non-human traffic.

Definite-lived intangible assets, consisting of Mdabs developed technology, was assigned a val$8.@fmillion and a useful life of five
years. No value was assigned to customer relatijpsish trade name

Included in revenue for the period from August @12 to December 31, 2014 was $0.2 million relatellitiotLabs.
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The purchase price is allocated as follows (in samals):

Cash and cash equivalents $ 517
Accounts Receivable, net 23¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1
Property and equipment, net 10
Accounts payable (98
Accrued expenses (92
Net tangible assets acquired 571
Definite-lived intangible assets acquired 722
Goodwill 3,207
Total purchase price $ 4,50(

There were $0.1 million in transaction related sdst the year ended December 31, 2014.

4. Asset Disposition
Disposition of the ARSgroup

In 2013, the Company and its wholly-owned subsydR8C The Quality Measurement Company (also knasvARSgroup), sold certain assets
related to its ARS Non-Health Copy-Testing and Bgliracking business to MSW.ARS LLC, a Delawareit@d liability company ("Buyer").

In connection with the disposition, the Companyereed total proceeds of $1.0 million in cash. Inliidn, the Company entered into a license
agreement in which it will retain the right to ube necessary intellectual property to continuprtwvide the ARS Copy-Testing and Equity Tracking
services to its Health related customers and recbath intangible asset of $1.2 million based orestenated fair value of the licensed intellectual
property. In determining the fair value of the mgéble asset, the Company prepared a discountédficas (‘DCF”) analysis. In preparing the DCF
analysis, the Company used a combination of incappeoaches including the relief from royalty apptoand the excess earnings approach.
Determining fair value requires the exercise ohgigant judgment, including judgments about appiate discount rates, terminal growth rates,
royalty rates and the amount and timing of expefiiade cash flows. The cash flows employed inDi@F analysis were based on the Company’s
most recent budgets, forecasts and business @amelbas growth rate assumptions for years beyoadurrent business plan period. Significant
assumptions used include a discount rate of 18.&#6ch is based on an assessment of the risk inh&re¢he future revenue streams and cash flows
associated with the health related customers of AR Svell as a royalty rate of 3.0% , which is loage an analysis of royalty rates in similar, méarke
transactions. This intangible asset will be amedinn a straight-line basis over its estimateduldié of 3 years beginning April 1, 2013. The eiss
disposed of included computer equipment, furniaumd fixtures, intellectual property and the intdhgiassets associated with the ARSgroup. Due to
the fact that the Company will continue to provide ARS Copy-Testing and Equity Tracking serviceis Health related customers and has
therefore not eliminated the operations and cashsflof the ARSgroup, management has concludedtbatisposition does not qualify for
presentation as discontinued operations.

As a result of the disposition, during the threenthe ended March 31, 2013, the Company recordednaon the disposition of $0.2 million ,
determined as follows (in thousands):

Cash proceeds received at closing, net $ 16C
Proceeds receivable (placed in escrow) 75C
Fair value of licensed intellectual property 1,182

2,09z
Carrying value of assets disposed (1,436
Goodwill allocated to disposition (289)
Fair value of accelerated equity awards (157)
Gain on disposition $ 21C

There were no material asset dispositions duriag/éars ended December 31, 2014 and 2012.
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5. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, including equipment undeital lease obligations, consists of the following

Computer equipment

Computer software, including internal-use softwafr&3,331 and $0, respectively

Office equipment and furniture

Automobiles

Leasehold improvements

Total, including capital leases of $56,419 and $48, respectively

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortizatiaiding capital leases of $31,510 and $22 ¢

respectively

December 31,

2014 2013
(In thousands)

$ 72,40 $ 60,67
10,26( 5,76¢
5,57¢ 5,15¢
1,44( 1,64+
15,83¢ 15,78¢
105,51¢ 89,02:
(63,152 (51,02)
$ 42,36F % 37,99t

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 20E3Company capitalized $0.1 million and $2.3 imillrespectively, of leasehold
improvements, furniture and fixtures and office ipquent associated with landlord allowances receimembnnection with its Reston, New York and

London office leases (see Note 9).

For the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 &2l 20tal depreciation expense was $18.0 milli$hg.8 million and $14.2 million ,

respectively.

6. Goodwill and Intangible Asset:

The change in the carrying value of goodwill foe frear ended December 31, 2014 is as follows @nghAnds):

Balance as of January 1, 2013

Goodwill allocated to ARS disposition

Translation adjustments
Balance as of December 31, 2013

Acquisition of MdotLabs

Translation adjustments
Balance as of December 31, 2014

Acquired methodologies/technoloy $
Customer relationships

Panel

Intellectual property

Trade names

$ 102,90(
(28¢)
703
103,31«
3,201
(2,996
$ 103,52!
The carrying values of the Company’s amortizablguaed intangible assets are as follows (in thodsan
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Gross Net Gross Net

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying

Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
6,61z $ (5,180 $ 1,43 $ 7,77C  $ 5,47) $ 2,29¢
19,20: (12,970 6,231 35,77¢ (15,34¢) 20,42¢
1,617 (1,527 96 1,65( (1,31¢) 334
13,56: (5,529 8,03¢ 13,57¢ (3,999 9,571
1,69( (2,690 — 2,90¢ (2,609 30C
42,68. $ (26,889 $ 15,79: $ 61,67 $ (28,73¢) $ 32,93¢

Amortization expense related to intangible assets approximately $7.2 million , $8.0 million and.3$®illion for the years ended

December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.
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The weighted-average remaining amortization pebiypdajor asset class as of December 31, 20145, fidlaws:

(In years)
Acquired methodologies/technology 2.7
Customer relationships 25
Panel 0.4
Intellectual property 6.7

The estimated future amortization of acquired igtbale assets as of December 31, 2014 is as follows:

(In thousands)

2015$% 5,037

2016 4,03¢

2017 3,07(C

2018 1,10¢

2019 51€

Thereafter 2,02¢
$ 15,79:

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coyneaneived several letters of intent from unrelatédi-parties to purchase its mobile
operator analytics division "CSWS". As of DecemBgr 2014, the Company determined that it had neeh#id for sale criteria as defined in
Accounting Standard Codification 360: Property, flaand Equipmer. As such, the Company presents assets and liebilield for sale related to
CSWS on its Consolidated Balance Sheet. HowevalWE8oes not qualify for discontinued operationsificial presentation, as it expects to have
continuing involvement with CSWS by providing céntaervices to the buyer. The Company recorded a®@lion impairment charge during the
year ended December 31, 2014, which reduced thgimgramount of CSWS intangible assetzero and was calculated as the difference between
the letters of intent that the Company has recearetithe carrying value of CSWS.

During the three months ended June 30, 2012, thep@ony noted a significant decline in revenues fAdR8group (“ARS”), which the
Company acquired in February 2010. As a resultCibipany performed an impairment test of the lowned assets of ARS. The long-lived assets of
ARS consist of customer relationships and acquinethodologies and technology. The first step ititgghe long-lived assets of ARS for
impairment was to compare the sum of the undisealicash flows expected to result from the use aadteal disposition of ARS to the carrying
value of ARS’s long-lived assets. Based on thidyais the Company determined as of June 30, 20d2he sum of the expected undiscounted cash
flows to be generated from ARS was less than theiog value of the ARS intangible assets. As sitich,Company concluded that the ARS
intangible assets were impaired as of June 30,.Z04d theasure the amount of the impairment, the Gomphen estimated the fair value of the
intangible assets as of June 30, 2012. In detengithie fair value of the intangible assets, the Gamy prepared a discounted cash flow (“DCF”)
analysis for each intangible asset. In prepariegdEF analysis, the Company used a combinationocafme approaches including the relief from
royalty approach and the excess earnings appr@athrmining fair value requires the exercise ofgigant judgment, including judgments about
appropriate discount rates, terminal growth rat@glty rates and the amount and timing of expefiadre cash flows. The cash flows employed in
the DCF analysis were based on the Company’s mosht budgets, forecasts and business plans aaswglbwth rate assumptions for years beyond
the current business plan period. Significant aggioms used include a discount rate of 18.5% , wisdased on an assessment of the risk inherent
in the future revenue streams and cash flows of A#RSvell as a royalty rate of 3.0%vhich is based on an analysis of royalty ratesirimilar, marke
transactions. Based on the DCF analysis, the Coyngpstimated the fair value of the intangible ass€#RS to be $2.5 million as of June 30, 2012,
which resulted in an impairment charge of $3.3iomillduring the year ended December 31, 2012.
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7. Accrued Expense
Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2014 2013
(In thousands)

Payroll and payroll related $ 11,45: $ 9,21:
Stock-based compensation 7,177 6,061
Cost of revenues 6,261 5,641
Income, sales and other taxes 4,46( 4,71¢
Professional fees 2,10¢ 3,06¢
Other 5,752 4,77

$ 37,21: $ 33,47:

8. Long-term Debt and Other Financing Arrangemen
Capital Leases

The Company has a lease financing arrangementBaitlc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC in the amboh$12.5 million , of which the
Company can utilize approximately $7.4 million &December 31, 2014 , for future capital leasess @lrangement allows the Company to lease
new software, hardware and other computer equipaittexpands its technology infrastructure inpgwpof its business growth. Under this
arrangement, the Company may enter into new cdp#aks prior to February 28, 2015. Some of theuatsdche Company has utilized to date under
this arrangement have not lowered the amount dlaifar future capital leases, because those armdwave been assigned by Banc of America
Leasing & Capital, LLC under separate third-pargagements. In addition, the Company enters iapital leases under non-committed
arrangements, typically directly with equipment mifacturers. Future minimum payments under camtadés with initial terms of one year or more
are as follows:

(In thousands)

2015 $ 14,30"
2016 9,99¢
2017 3,45¢
2018 66
2019 19
Total minimum lease payments 27,84(
Less amount representing interest (1,415
Present value of net minimum lease payments 26,42¢
Less current portion 13,35¢
Capital lease obligations, long-term $ 13,07:

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012018, the Company acquired $14.9 million and $14ildon , and $7.8 million
respectively, in computer hardware and softwareugh the issuance of capital leases. This non-icasisting activity has been excluded from the
consolidated statement of cash flows, as it pesteirthe purchase of property and equipment.

Revolving Credit Facility

On September 26, 2013, the Company entered intedittAgreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with sealdranks (the "Lenders"). Bank of
America, N.A. (“Bank of America”)s the administrative agent, and lead lender af B@volving Credit Facility. The Credit Agreemenbyides for ¢
five-year revolving credit facility of $100.0 mitlnh , which includes a $10.0 million sublimit fosisance of standby letters of credit, a $10.0 millio
sublimit for swing line loans and a $10.0 millisablimit for alternative currency lending. The nrétfudate of the Credit Agreement is Septembel
2018. The Credit Agreement also contains an expamgption permitting the Company to request amgase of the credit facility up to an aggregate
additional $50.0 million , subject to certain cdrafis. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Fagihall be used
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towards working capital and other general corpopat@oses as well as for the issuance of lettecsanfit. On June 23, 2014, the Company executed
the First Amendment to the Credit Agreement. Thi®adment reset the equity repurchase limit to $50l@n and permits the Company to
repurchase equity interests in the Company outkiel&50.0 million limit during the remainder of tfiee-year revolver term, provided that certain
financial thresholds are met.

Base rate loans and swing line loans will bearédiat the Base Rate plus the Applicable Ratsyels terms are defined in the Credit
Agreement and summarized below. The Base Rate isitfinest rate of the following: (a) the Federatdsurate plus 0.50% , (b) the publicly
announced Bank of America prime rate, and (c) the&urrency rate, as defined in the Credit Agredmérs 1.0% . The Applicable Rate for base
rate loans and swing line loans is 0.50% to 1.5@¥edding on the Company’s funded debt-to-EBITDAorat the end of each fiscal quarter.
Amounts supporting letters of credit bear inteetshe applicable rate for revolving loans. EachoEurrency rate loan will bear interest at the
Eurocurrency Rate plus the Applicable Rate ranfiom 1.50% to 2.50% depending on the Company'sddmtkbt-to-EBITDA ratio at the end of
each fiscal quarter. Beginning on September 263 20tbugh the maturity date of the five-year reeolterm, the Company is obligated to pay a fee,
payable quarterly in arrears, based on the avenagged portion of the available amounts under tlegliCAgreement at a rate of 0.20% to 0.35% per
annum depending on the Company’s funded debt-toFBBIratio at the end of each fiscal quarter.

The Credit Agreement contains various usual antbouery covenants, including, but not limited taifincial covenants requiring maximum
funded debt-to-EBITDA ratio, cash flow-foced charge ratios and a minimum liquidity durieguity repurchase periods as well as covenantsmg
to the Company’s ability to dispose of assets, nwaktain acquisitions, be acquired, incur indebésdngrant liens and make certain investments. As
of December 31, 2014 the Company was in full coamgle with all covenants contained in the Creditefgnent and remains so as of the date of this
report.

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company did not lawveutstanding balance under the Credit Agreement.

The Company maintains letters of credit in liewsefurity deposits with respect to certain officsks as well as to satisfy performance
guarantees under certain contracts. As of DeceBhe2014 , $3.6 million in letters of credit wenetstanding, leaving $6.4 million available for
additional letters of credit. These letters of drethy be reduced periodically provided the Compamgets the conditional criteria of each related
lease agreement.

9. Commitments and Contingencie
Leases

In addition to equipment financed through capiéaldes, the Company is obligated under various moetable operating leases for office
facilities and equipment. These leases generatlyige for renewal options and escalation incredSetire minimum payments under noncancelable
lease agreements with initial terms of one yeanore are as follows:

(In thousands)

2015 $ 10,31¢
2016 9,471
2017 9,201
2018 8,47¢
2019 7,38t
Thereafter 21,18:
Total minimum lease payments $ 66,03

Total rent expense, under non-cancellable operstemes, was $9.0 million , $8.9 million and $8iliam for the years ended December 31,
2014 , 2013 and 2012, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 20E3CGompany recorded $0.1 million and $2.3 milljsaspectively, of deferred rent and
capitalized assets as a result of landlord allowame connection with its Reston, New York and Lamdffice leases. The deferred rent will be
applied to rent expense recognized by the Compuaeytbe lease terms.

Contingencies

In June 2013 the Company settled certain pategation lawsuits that we initiated against certhiind-parties. The Company recognized a net
gain of $1.4 million and $0.8 million , respectiyetluring 2013 and 2014 related to these settlesnent
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On August 23, 2011, the Company received noticeNtile Harris and Jeff Dunstan, individually and leehalf of a class of similarly situated
individuals, filed a lawsuit against the Companyhia United States District Court for the North®&istrict of Illinois, Eastern Division, alleging,
among other things, violations by the Company ef$tored Communications Act, the Electronic Comrmoatinns Privacy Act, Computer Fraud and
Abuse Act and the lllinois Consumer Fraud and D#eefPractices Act as well as unjust enrichmenOatober 2012, the plaintiffs filed an amended
complaint which, among other things, removed tlantirelating to alleged violations of the lllindnsumer Fraud and Deceptive Practices Act
April 2, 2013, the District Court issued an ordertifying a class for only three of the fotlaims, refusing to certify a class for unjust ehment. O
May 30, 2014, the Company and the plaintiffs pregba tentative settlement subject to approval byDistrict Court, and on October 1, 2014, the
Court issued its final approval of those termsm8gore was required to establish a $14 milliolesant fund from which class member claims,
attorneys’ fees and incentive awards, costs, andrastrative expenses will be paid. The Company igsshsurers contributed to the fund. The
settlement also requires the Company to alter ioepartions of our privacy policy and implementteém additional protocols to ensure that our
privacy practices remain consistent with its disal@s to consumers. During the year ended DeceBih@014 , the Company recorded a los$35
million related to the settlement.

From time to time, the Company is exposed to umgst@otential claims encountered in the normals®wf business. Although the outcome
of any legal proceeding cannot be predicted wittegty, management believes that the final outcamat resolution of current matters, if any will
not materially affect the Company’s consolidatetaficial position or results of operations.

10. Income Taxe:
The components of (loss) income before incomedaxhie years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 arl&@las follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)
Domestic $ (7,329 $ 1,94 $ (6,35()
Foreign (7,895 15C (3,065
Total $ (15,219 $ 2,09 $ (9,415)

Income tax (benefit) provision is comprised of thikowing:

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)
Current:
Federal $ 4,812 % 152 $ (70)
State 1,22¢ 373 114
Foreign 1,71z 1,52( 1,43¢
Total 7,74¢ 2,04t 1,47¢
Deferred:
Federal (8,85¢) 3,51¢ 1,27¢
State (4,079 39z (63%)
Foreign (139 (1,529 258
Total (13,069 2,381 89¢
Income tax (benefit) provision $ (5,31 $ 4,42¢ $ 2,37¢

73




Table of Contents

A reconciliation of the statutory United Statesdme tax rate to the effective income tax rate iflgws:

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Statutory federal tax rate 35.C% 35.C% 35.C%
State taxes, net of federal benefit 8.7 23.¢ 3.€
Nondeductible items (6.9) 56.€ (15.5)
Foreign rate differences (25.9 96.5 (2.9)
Change in statutory tax rates (0.5) 4.3 (0.9)
Change in valuation allowance 0.2 (144.9 (10.6)
Stock compensation shortfalls — 41.2 4.9
True-ups and other adjustments 1.7 (5.7 (0.9)
Subpart F income recapture — 96.3 —
Market-based stock awards — — (27.¢)
Outside basis differences 23.1 — —
Foreign tax withholding (0.2) 4.3 (0.9)
Uncertain tax positions (0.9 3.7 (0.€)
Effective tax rate 34.€% 2115 % (25.29%

The Company recognized an income tax benefit ofagimately $5.3 million during the year ended Debem31, 2014 which is comprised «
current tax expense of $6.0 million related to fatland state income tax liabilities, $1.7 milliohforeign income tax expense, and a deferred tax
benefit of approximately $13.1 million related &mrtporary differences between the tax treatmenfiaadcial reporting treatment for certain items.
Included within the total current tax expense off#million is $5.8 million of non-cash tax expenstated to excess tax benefits from stock-based
compensation. Also, included within the total deddrtax benefit of $13.1 million is a $3.5 millioleferred tax benefit related to the establishmént o
a deferred tax asset for the outside basis difteref our investment in CSWS as the Company expectslize the asset in the foreseeable future
due to the assets being held for sale.

The Company recognized income tax expense of appabely $4.4 million during the year ended Decen®er2013 , which is comprised of
current tax expense of $0.5 million related to fatlalternative minimum tax and state income takilities, $1.5 million of foreign income tax
expense, and deferred tax expense of approximé2edymillion related to temporary differences bedwéehe tax treatment and financial reporting
treatment for certain items. Included within thtataleferred tax expense of $2.4 million is $2.8ioni of deferred tax expense related to the
establishment of a deferred tax liability for Sultgaincome that will be recognized in a future y@ar and $2.9 millionf deferred tax benefit relat
to the release of valuation allowances in certairifn jurisdictions, which have a statutory rat@gproximately 20% .

The Company recognized income tax expense of appately $2.4 million during the year ended Deceniker2012 , which is comprised of
current tax expense of $0.1 million related to fetlalternative minimum tax and state income takilities, $1.4 million of foreign income tax
expense, and a deferred tax expense of approxiy®@ed million related to temporary differencesvibetn the tax treatment and financial reporting
treatment for certain items. Included within theataeferred tax expense of $0.9 million is $2.@ion of deferred tax expense associated with the
write-off of a deferred tax asset related to cartaarket-based stock awards that will never bezegidue to the expiration of the stock awardsrprio
to vesting.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettermporary differences between the carrying amotiassets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for in¢armeeporting purposes. Significant componenthief@ompany’s net deferred income taxes are
as follows:

December 31,
2014 2013

(In thousands)
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 457t % 6,65¢
Capital loss carryforwards 812 77¢
Tax credits — 1,817
Allowance for doubtful accounts 682 50¢€
Accrued salaries and benefits 2,58¢ 724
Deferred revenues 1,632 922
Capital leases 10,82¢ 8,95¢
Deferred compensation 12,03¢ 7,17(
Deferred rent 4 59: 4,937
Outside basis differences 3,51: —
Intangible assets 4,072 —
Transaction costs 1,57 36¢
Other 782 653
Gross deferred tax assets 47,68t 33,48¢
Valuation allowance (930 (1,199
Net deferred tax assets 46,75¢ 32,28¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets — (752)
Property and equipment (11,130 (9,387
Subpart F income recapture (2,409 (2,310
Prepaid maintenance (252) (317)
Other (802) (81)
Total deferred tax liabilities (14,599 (12,84°)
Net deferred tax asset $ 32,16 $ 19,44

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the Companwhahdtion allowances of $0.9 million and $1.2 roitli, respectively, against certain
deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance &eoémber 31, 201#lates to the deferred tax assets (primarily petating loss carryforwards) o
foreign subsidiary that is a loss company, the da®ital loss carryforwards and certain state petating loss carryforwards. To the extent the
Company determines that, based on the weight dlisd@ evidence, all or a portion of its valuati@ifowance is no longer necessary, the Company
will recognize an income tax benefit in the persath determination is made for the reversal of/tiieation allowance. If management determines
that, based on the weight of available evidends,ritore-likely-than-not that all or a portion bktnet deferred tax assets will not be realizesl, th
Company may recognize income tax expense in tfiegeuch determination is made to increase theatialu allowance. It is possible that any such
reduction of or addition to the Company’s valuat@lowance may have a material impact on the Coripassults from operations.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company concludetdittivas not more-likely-than-not that a portionitsfdeferred tax assets related to certain
state and foreign net operating losses would Hezegband that an increase to the valuation all@gaof $0.1 million was necessary. The Company
also concluded that it was more-likely-than-not thaubstantial portion of our deferred tax assetertain other foreign jurisdictions, primarilyet
Netherlands, would be realized and determineditheds appropriate to release valuation allowamd¢$2.9 million . In making that determination,
the Company considered the income generated ie floesign jurisdictions during 2013, the guarantpegfit margins in place for these entities as a
result of the Company's transfer pricing model,ttheimpact of the restructuring that is currertiing implemented, the current overall economic
environment, and the projected income of theseiesiin future years. In addition, during 2013, @@mpany wrote-
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off certain deferred tax assets related to netadjyey losses that will never be realized. As traeferred tax assets had a full valuation allowance
recorded against them, the associated valuatiowatice of $0.1 million was released.

The following is a summary of activities in the eeed tax asset valuation allowance for the figeals indicated:

December 31,
2014 2013

(In thousands)
Deferred Tax Valuation Allowance

Beginning Balance $ 1,19) $ (4,045
Additions — (132)
Reductions 267 2,98(
Ending Balance $ (930) $ (1,199

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had fededhktate net operating loss carryforwards for tappses of approximately $27.8 million
and $34.1 million , respectively. As of Decembey 3113 , the Company had federal and state neatipgross carryforwards for tax purposes of
approximately $37.2 million and $38.3 million , pestively. These net operating loss carryforwatgitbto expire in 2023 for federal income tax
purposes and begin to expire in 2015 for statenmectax purposes. At December 31, 2014 , the Compadyan aggregate net operating loss
carryforward for tax purposes related to its fonesgibsidiaries of $15.0 million , which begins ipiee in 2017. In addition, at December 31, 2014 ,
the Company had alternative minimum tax creditydfarwards of $1.7 million which can be carried fama indefinitely and research & development
credit carryforwards of $0.7 million which begineapire in 2025 .

The exercise of certain stock options and the ngsif certain restricted stock awards during theryended December 31, 2014 and 2013
generated income tax deductions equal to the exdebe fair market value over the exercise pricgrant date fair value, as applicable. A deferred
tax asset cannot be recognized for the excess aivier book stock compensation deductions untitalxedeductions reduce current income taxes
payable. Since the Company has not historicallg paiome tax in jurisdictions where these excessl&luctions arise, a deferred tax asset relat
the additional net operating losses generated fhenwindfall tax deductions associated with thereigse of these stock options and the vesting of the
restricted stock awards has not been recordectindbompanying consolidated financial statemergofAdecember 31, 2014 and December 31,
2013, the cumulative amounts of net operatingel®sslating to such option exercises and vestiegts\that have been included in the gross net
operating loss carryforwards above are $24.1 miltind $32.5 million , respectively. As the Compatilzes these net operating losses to reduce
current income taxes payable, the tax benefitléltecorded as an increase in additional paidpitalaDuring the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013, the Company recognized windfall tax benef approximately $5.8 million and $0.1 milligmespectively, which were recorded as an
increase to additional paid-in capital.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, certagk ®ptions were exercised and certain sharetetkta restricted stock awards vested at
times when the Company’s stock price was substbnliaver than the fair value of those shares attime of grant. As a result, the income tax
deduction related to such shares is less thantense previously recognized for book purposesh Shortfalls reduce additional paid-in capital to
the extent windfall tax benefits have been previptscognized. As described above, the Companygreézed a portion of the windfall tax benefits
2013 and recorded an increase to additional pagdynital. Therefore, $0.1 million of shortfalls waat included in income tax expense but reduced
additional paid-in capital for the year ended DelbenB1, 2013. The remaining impact of the shosfaitaling $0.9 million was included in income
tax expense.

Under the provisions of Internal Revenue Code 8r@B2, certain substantial changes in the Comgaswhership may result in a limitation
on the amount of U.S. net operating loss carryfodeahat could be utilized annually to offset ftaxable income and taxes payable. A portion of
the Company’s net operating loss carryforwardssatgect to an annual limitation under Section 3Bthe Internal Revenue Code. We do not expect
that this limitation will impact our ability to dize all of our net operating losses prior to theipiration. Additionally, despite the net opergtloss
carryforwards, the Company may have a future &hility due to alternative minimum tax, foreign taxstate tax requirements.

The Company intends and has the ability to indedipireinvest the undistributed earnings from defgn subsidiaries. As of December 31,
2014 , the Company has not recorded U.S. incomexpe&nse related to undistributed foreign earnofggpproximately $8.8 million .
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For uncertain tax positions, the Company uses &+ikely-than-not recognition threshold based amtéchnical merits of the tax position
taken. Tax positions that meet the more-likely-thahrecognition threshold are measured as thesagmount of tax benefits determined on a
cumulative probability basis, which are more-likéhan-not to be realized upon ultimate settlemerthé financial statements. As a result, the
Company has unrecognized tax benefits, which arbeaefits related to uncertain tax positions whielie been or will be reflected in income tax
filings that have not been recognized in the finalngtatements due to potential adjustments bywtaauthorities in the applicable jurisdictions. &s
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , the Company@tognized tax benefits of $1.4 million , alvdfich would affect the Company’s tax rate if
recognized. The Company anticipates that approxiy&0.2 millionof unrecognized tax benefits will reverse during tiext year due to the filing
related tax returns and the expiration of statofdsnitation. The changes in the liability for \@uognized income tax benefits as of December 31,
2014 , 2013 and 2012 resulted from the following:

December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)
Unrecognized tax benefits beginning balance $ 1,44 $ 1,41¢ $ 1,38¢
Increase related to tax positions of prior years 70 36 69
Increase related to tax positions of the curreat ye 42 45 4
Decrease related to tax positions of prior years (36) (22) 27)
Decrease due to settlements — (4) —
Decrease due to lapse in statutes of limitations (59) (32) (14
Unrecognized tax benefits ending balance $ 1,46C $ 1,44: $ 1,41¢

The Company recognizes interest and penaltiesrbtatincome tax matters in income tax expensaf/Aecember 31, 2014 and 2013,
accrued interest and penalties on unrecognizebdaagfits were $0.6 million and $0.7 million , resipeely. The Company or one of its subsidiaries
files income tax returns in the U.S. federal juididn, and various states and foreign jurisdicsioRor income tax returns filed by the Company, the
Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal exations by tax authorities for years before 201&tate and local tax examinations by tax
authorities for years before 2010, although tarttatte carryforwards generated prior to these yaaag still be adjusted upon examination by tax
authorities.

11. Stockholders’ Equity
1999 Stock Option Plan and 2007 Equity IncentiveaRlI

Prior to the effective date of the registratiortesteent for the Company’s initial public offering0O”) on June 26, 2007, eligible employees
and non-employees were awarded options to purdteses of the Company’s common stock, restricteekstr restricted stock units pursuant to the
Company’s 1999 Stock Plan (the “1999 Plan”). Udun éffective date of the registration statemernhefCompanys IPO, the Company ceased us
the 1999 Plan for the issuance of new equity awdsgdsn the closing of the Company’s IPO on Julg@)7, the Company established its 2007
Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2007 P&t together with the 1999 Plan, the “Plans”). TB89 Plan will continue to govern the terms
and conditions of outstanding awards granted thmetery but no further shares are authorized for asards under the 1999 Plan. As of
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Ptamiled for the issuance of a maximum of appr@taty 11.4 million shares and 9.9 million
shares, respectively, of common stock. In additibe,2007 Plan provides for annual increases imtimeber of shares available for issuance
thereunder on the first day of each fiscal yeairbegg with the 2008 fiscal year, equal to the éess: (i) 4% of the outstanding shares of the
Company’s common stock on the last day of the imately preceding fiscal year; (i) 1,800,000 shsaw@ (iii) such other amount as the Company’s
board of directors may determine. The vesting gkoiooptions granted under the Plans is determiyetthie Board of Directors, although, for service-
based options the vesting has historically beebhaiover a four -year period. Options generallgiex10 years from the date of the grant. Effective
January 1, 2014, the shares available for grant@sed by 1,408,642 pursuant to the automatic sbaeeve increase provision under the Plans.
Accordingly, as of December 31, 2014 , a total 668,114 shares were available for future graneutite 2007 Plan.

The Company determines the fair value of stockaoptiwards using the Black-Scholes option-pricimgiida and a single option award
approach. The fair value of market-based stoclkoaptand restricted stock units is determined uailpnte Carlo simulation embedded in a lattice
model. The fair value of restricted stock awardsased on the closing price of our common stoctherdate of grant. The Company then amortizes
the fair value of awards expected to vest on dhatstraight-line basis over the requisite serpiegods of the awards, which is generally the pkrio
from the grant date to the end of the vesting gerio
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During the three months ended December 31, 204 Citmpany granted markie&sed options and restricted units to its namedutive
officers and other key management personnel of14%3 and 283,356 , respectively.

These markebased grants were designed to motivate managemeinive enterprise value toward a significantlytdg market capitalizatic
over the next three years . In addition, the 88y-price average and bifurcated vesting provisidescribed below were intended to pror
sustainability of the achievement.

The awards were granted effective as of Novemb@0T4, with an exercise price and fair value attthe of grant of $42.9per share, tt
closing price of the Comparsg’'common stock as reported by the NASDAQ Globalkdaon November 7, 2014. Each of the awards isestilt§
market-based vesting, as follows:

* 66% of the shares subject to each option avaard,48%of the restricted stock units will vest in the ewvérat the closing price of t
Company’s common stock as reported by the NASDAGb&I Market exceeds an average of $48 per shadonsecutive thirtyday
period prior to November 7, 2017. Such target regmés a 25% increase over the 30 -day averagenglgsice of the Company’
common stock as reported by the NASDAQ Global Maekeling on the date of award.

* 10% of the shares subject to each option avaard,10%of the restricted stock units will vest in the ewvérat the closing price of t
Company’s common stock as reported by the NASDAGb&I Market exceeds an average of $50 per shadonsecutive thirtyday
period prior to November 7, 2017.

* 14% of the shares subject to each option avaard,22%of the restricted stock units will vest in the ewvérat the closing price of t
Company’s common stock as reported by the NASDAGb&I Market exceeds an average of $55 per shadonsecutive thirtyday
period prior to November 7, 2017.

* 10% of the shares subject to each option avaard,20%0of the restricted stock units will vest in the ewvérat the closing price of t
Company’s common stock as reported by the NASDAGb&I Market exceeds an average of $60 per shadonsecutive thirtyday
period prior to November 7, 2017.

During the three months ended March 31, 2012, tragany granted 210,000 time-based restricted stewgeds to the Company's former
Chief Executive Officer that vest ratably over #hgeears and 380,000 time-based restricted stockdawa members of executive management that
vest ratably over four years. In addition, the Campgranted its Executive 580,000 shares of thepgaoryls common stock in the form of restricted
stock and restricted stock units (the “Performafvamrd”). The Performance Award represents the marinmumber of shares that can vest over a
three year period. The Performance Awards vestddwdhvest based on achievement of revenue anasteli EBITDA goals during 2012, 2013 and
2014, with the revenue and adjusted EBITDA milestoeach carrying a 50% weight. Assuming achievewiet®0% of the target performance
metrics in each case over a three -year period; eeutive would be eligible to vest in 290,00Gtahares, and in any given year 96,666 shares.
Assuming achievement of 200% of the target perfoiceanetrics in each case over a three -year pahiednaximum number permitted under the
arrangement, the Executive would be eligible td ire§80,000 total shares, and in any given ye28,334 shares. During the year ended
December 31, 2013, no stock options were granted.

The following are the weighted-average assumptiesl in valuing the stock options granted durirgytsar ended December 31, 2014 and a
discussion of the Company’s assumptions. No stptiks were issued during the years ended Dece&ihe2013 or December 31, 2012.

Year Ended
December 31,
2014
Dividend yield 0.0(%
Expected volatility 34.1%
Risk-free interest rate 0.9¢%
Expected life of options (in years) 3.0C

Dividend yield— The Company has never declared or paid dividendss common stock and has no plans to pay didsiémthe foreseeable
future.

Expected volatility —olatility is a measure of the amount by whichraaficial variable such as a share price has fluedu@tistorical
volatility) or is expected to fluctuate (expectealatility) during a period. The expected volatilisy
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calculated based on the weekly closing price Mdlabf the Company’s common stock for the perioai its initial public offering until the grant
date.

Risk-free interest rate -Fhe Company used rates on the grant date of zanperogovernment bonds with maturities over permlgering the
term of the awards, converted to continuously caumpled forward rates.

Expected life of the optiors- This is the period of time that the options geahare expected to remain outstanding.

A summary of the Plans is presented below:

Weighted-

Average

Number of Exercise

shares Price

Options outstanding January 1, 2012 1,507,51' $ 13.0z
Options granted — —
Options exercised (367,23 0.6t
Options forfeited (1,048,47) 18.1:
Options expired (1,255 2.7¢
Options outstanding December 31, 2012 90,55: 4.3¢
Options granted — —
Options exercised (52,067) 4.37
Options forfeited — —
Options expired (25E) 9.7:
Options outstanding December 31, 2013 38,23« 4.37
Options granted 1,969,45: 42.9:;
Options exercised (27,247 3.9¢
Options forfeited — —
Options expired (137) 9.2¢
Options outstanding at December 31, 2014 1,980,30¢ $ 42.7]
Options exercisable at December 31, 2014 10,85 $ 5.34

®OWeighted-average grant date fair value of optigasigd during the year ended December 31, 20148:88 . There were no options granted
during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

The following table summarizes information aboutiaps outstanding at December 31, 2014 :

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted
Weighted Average Weighted Average
Average Remaining Average Remaining
Options Exercise Contractual Options Exercise Contractual
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Price Life (Years) Exercisable Price Life (Years)
$1.09 - $4.25 4,63¢ $ 4.17 0.8¢ 4,63 $ 4.17 0.8¢
$4.26 - $7.50 4548 $ 5.0¢€ 1.2¢ 454 3 5.0¢€ 1.2¢
$7.51 - $13.66 1,67 % 9.3t 2.3¢ 1,67¢ $ 9.3t 2.3¢
$42.92 1,969,45 $ 42.9: 9.8¢ — 3 — —
1,980,30: 42.71 9.81 10,85 % 5.3¢ 1.2t

The intrinsic value of exercised stock optionsédkualated based on the difference between the iseepcice and the quoted market price of our
common stock as of the close of the exercise d&ie.aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisedhe years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013
and 2012 was $0.9 million , $1.0 million and $5.illion , respectively. The aggregate intrinsic \afor all options outstanding and exercisable were
$7.4 million and $0.4 million , respectively, undee Company’s stock plans as of December 31, 20h¢ weighted average remaining contractual
lives for all options outstanding and exercisab&e9.81 years and 1.25 years, respectively, uhdeCompany’s stock plans as of December 31,
2014 . As of December 31, 2014, total unrecogna@dpensation expense related to outstanding opaind€xercisable options was $11.8 million
and zero , respectively, which will be fully recézgd during 2015.
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The Company's nonvested stock awards are compfaedtricted stock and restricted stock units. fidwricted stock only represents
participating securities. The Company has a riglnepurchase on such shares that lapse at a radenfy-five percent (25)% of the total shares
awarded at each successive anniversary of thalinitiard date, provided that the employee contitu@sovide services to the Company. In the
event that an employee terminates their employméhtthe Company, any shares that remain unvestdatansequently subject to the right of
repurchase shall be automatically reacquired byCrapany at the original cash purchase price paithd employee, if any. During the year ended
December 31, 2014 , 34,671 shares of restrictaik stere forfeited and were subsequently retiredummary of the status for nonvested stock
awards as of December 31, 2014 is presented asvill

Weighted
Number of Average
Restricted Shares Grant-
Restricted Stock Underlying Date Fair
Nonvested Stock Awards Stock Units Awards Value
Nonvested at January 1, 2012 1,385,42 419,09 1,804,551 $ 19.7¢
Granted 1,706,901 445,36! 2,152,26: 20.8¢
Vested (888,70 (168,211 (1,056,92) 18.81
Forfeited (233,90 (229,42) (463,321) 21.3¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2012 1,969,71 466,82« 2,436,53 $ 20.8:
Granted 484,05: 1,025,06! 1,509,11 19.9¢
Vested (1,196,79) (200,65)) (1,397,44) 17.91
Forfeited (206,36() (156,311 (362,672) 20.71
Nonvested at December 31, 2013 1,050,611 1,134,92 2,18553 $ 22.1(
Granted 233,54 912,60t 1,146,15 33.0%
Vested (772,49) (467,82 (1,240,32) 24.5¢
Forfeited (34,67) (169,127 (203,79)) 24.3¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2014 476,99: 1,410,58 1,887,57. $ 26.8¢

The aggregate intrinsic value for all non-vestearsh of restricted common stock and restricteckstioits outstanding as of December 31,
2014 was $87.6 million . The aggregate intrinsilugaof restricted stock vested during the yearedrdecember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $41.2
million , $25.9 million and $21.2 million , respeetly. The weighted-average remaining contractifialfor all non-vested shares of restricted
common stock and restricted stock units as of Déeer8l, 2014 was 1.2 years.

The Company granted nonvested stock awards atstdaececipients during the years ended Decembe2@®14 , 2013 and 2012 . As of
December 31, 2014 , total unrecognized compensatipanse related to non-vested restricted stockestdcted stock units was $27.2 million ,
which the Company expects to recognize over a weilyhverage period of approximately 0.9 years. [Toteecognized compensation expense may
be increased or decreased in future periods faesuent grants or forfeitures.

Of the 1,240,322 shares of the Company’s restfisteck and restricted stock units vesting durirgytear ended December 31, 2014 , the
Company repurchased 474,115 shares at an aggmgatese price of approximately $15.7 million puanst to the stockholder’s right under the
Plans to elect to use common stock to satisfy téxhwlding obligations. The repurchased shares wabsequently retired.

Shares Reserved for Issuan

At December 31, 2014 , the Company had reservefiifore issuance the following shares of commonlstgpon the exercise of options and
warrants:

Common stock available for future issuances urueiPlans 1,563,11.
Common stock reserved for outstanding options astticted stock units 3,390,88
4,954,00:

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
None
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12. Share Repurchase
June 2013 Share Repurchase Progi

On June 3, 2013 the Company announced that itsllmdatirectors had approved the repurchase of @50 million of our common stock.
Such repurchases may be made from time to timesutg pre-determined price and volume guidelirstgldished by our board of directors. This
repurchase program concluded on May 29, 2014 andteel in the repurchase of $49.4 million of shdassmeasured at the time of repurchase).

As part of this share repurchase program, shargdmaurchased in open market transactions or paotga any trading plan that may be
adopted in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 of the EmghaAct. The timing, manner, price and amount gf @purchases were determined at the
Company's discretion, and the share repurchasegmogay have been suspended, terminated or modifiady time for any reason. Shares
repurchased are classified as Treasury Stock. IBeifahe share repurchases during year ended Omre®d, 2014 under the June 2013 share
repurchase program were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014
(Amounts in millions, except share and per shata)da
Total number of shares repurchased 1,237,572
Average price paid per share $29.33
Total value of shares repurchased (as measuredeabf repurchase) $36.3

June 2014 Share Repurchase Progi

On June 5, 2014 the Company announced that itsllwbatirectors had approved the repurchase of gmtadditional $50.0 million of our
common stock. Such repurchases may be made froentéitime subject to pre-determined price and velgidelines established by our board of
directors and commenced on June 6, 2014. As ofrbleee31, 2014 , there were $49.1 million remaininder the share repurchase program.

As part of the share repurchase program, sharedbmpyrchased in open market transactions or potrsoi@ny trading plan that may be
adopted in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 of the EmghaAct. The timing, manner, price and amount gf @purchases will be determined at our
discretion, and the share repurchase program maydpended, terminated or modified at any timefgrreason. Shares repurchased are classified
as Treasury Stock. Details of the share repurchsiisg the year ended December 31, 2014 undehuhe 2014 share repurchase program were as
follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014
(Amounts in millions, except share and per shata)da
Total number of shares repurchased 23,865
Average price paid per share $37.71
Total value of shares repurchased (as measuredeabf repurchase) $0.9

13. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has a 401(k) Plan for the benefitld) 8. employees who meet certain eligibility reguients. This plan covers substantially
of the Company’s full-time U.S. employees. The Campmade approximately $0.6 million , $0.5 milliand $0.5 million in contributions to the 401
(k) Plan for the years ended December 31, 20143 20d 2012 , respectively.
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14. Geographic Information

The Company attributes revenues to customers lmas#te location of the customer. The compositiothefCompany’s sales to unaffiliated
customers between those in the United States ase ih other locations for each year is set foello:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)
United States $ 232,10¢ $ 202,74. $ 183,38
Europe 56,76( 49,48( 43,45¢
Canada 13,53( 12,65t 11,62¢
Other 26,75: 21,98: 16,73:
Total Revenues $ 329,15. $ 286,86( $ 255,19:

The composition of the Company’s property and eqaipt between those in the United States and timosthér countries as of the end of each
year is set forth belov

December 31,

2014 2013
(In thousands)
United States $ 38,24( $ 32,37(
Europe 3,37¢ 4,65k
Canada 19t 25€
Other 55k 714
Total $ 42,36 $ 37,99¢
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15. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

2014
First Second Third Fourth
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenues $ 76,89¢ $ 80,01 $ 82,13¢ $ 90,10:
Cost of revenues (1) 23,44 23,23: 24,49 26,30:
Selling and marketing (1) 26,06¢ 26,60( 26,12¢ 24,73¢
Research and development (1) 12,47 12,93: 13,78¢ 21,17:
General and administrative (1) 13,34 14,64: 14,96¢ 19,97:
Amortization of intangible assets 1,95¢ 1,91¢ 1,912 1,44¢
Gain on asset disposition — — — —
Settlement of litigation (80) 2,94( (80) (80)
Impairment of intangible assets — — 6,942 2,78(
Total expenses from operations 77,20 82,26« 88,14( 96,32«
Loss from operations (309 (2,257 (6,009 (6,227
Interest and other expense, net (203) (309 (382) (35¢)
Gain (loss) from foreign currency transactions (159) (169 57C 55€
Loss before income taxes (660) (2,719 (5,81¢) (6,027
(Provision) benefit for income taxes (122) (481) 2,55¢ 3,363
Net loss $ (782) $ (3,200 $ (3,26)) $ (2,660
Net loss available to common stockholders per commc
share:

Basic $ 0.02) $ (0.09 % 0.100 $ (0.0¢)

Diluted $ (0.02) $ (0.09 $ 0.100 $ (0.0¢)
Weighted-average number of shares used in per share
calculations:

Basic 33,822,83 33,688,94 33,502,53 33,649,20
Diluted 33,822,83 33,688,94 33,502,53 33,649,20

(1) Amortization of stock-based compensation isuided in the line items above as follows:
Cost of revenues $ 728 3 1,00z $ 944 % 1,33¢
Selling and marketing 2,39¢ 3,667 3,12¢ 1,587
Research and development 72k 85¢ 99¢ 2,03(
General and administrative 3,37 3,53t 5,08¢ 10,57¢
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2013
First Second Third Fourth
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenues $ 68,84¢ $ 69,91 $ 71,60¢ $ 76,49¢
Cost of revenues (1) 22,55¢ 21,61( 21,60: 24,19¢
Selling and marketing (1) 24,45¢ 25,49! 24,25! 25,74
Research and development (1) 10,22 9,80: 10,44: 10,55¢
General and administrative (1) 9,01: 11,23¢ 12,49: 13,707
Amortization of intangible assets 2,151 1,93¢ 1,95¢ 1,91/
Gain on asset disposition (210 — (4) —
Settlement of litigation — (1,160 — (200)
Total expenses from operations 68,18¢ 68,91¢ 70,74 75,91¢
Income from operations 66( 99: 863 577
Interest and other expense, net (169 (16¢) (23¢) (36¢)
Gain (loss) from foreign currency transactions (340 93 82 103
Income before income taxes 15€ 91¢ 707 31z
Provision for income taxes (2,179 (1,316 (789) (142)
Net income (loss) $ (2,029 $ (39 $ 82 $ 17¢C
Net loss available to common stockholders per commo
share:

Basic $ (0.06) $ (0.0)) $ — $ =

Diluted $ (0.0¢6) $ 0.0y $ — % —
Weighted-average number of shares used in per share
calculations:

Basic 34,113,78 34,414,30 34,502,45 35,487,04
Diluted 34,113,78 34,414,30 34,502,45 35,770,45

(1) Amortization of stock-based compensation iduided in the line items above as follows:
Cost of revenues $ 7€ $ 83z $ 887 $ 911
Selling and marketing 2,81z 3,21¢ 2,487 2,54:
Research and development 614 602 947 85¢
General and administrative 85¢ 2,497 2,92 3,33¢

16. Subsequent Ever

Strategic Alliance and Acquisition

On February 11, 2015 the Company entered into mahtifinitive agreements with WPP plc ("WPP"). Tdagreements provide for: 1) a strategic
alliance between the Company and WPP, and itseaffdl, including The Kantar Group; 2) the acquisitdf a portion of WPP's internet audience
measurement business in Europe for 4.46%he Company's outstanding shares ("consideratianes"). Further, WPP has commenced a tendei
to purchase up to 15.45% of the Company's comnumk sif the consideration shares plus the shareshpsed in the tender offer does not result in
WPP obtaining a minimum of 15% of the Company's wmm stock, the Company is obligated to issue sttareasure WPP achieves a total
ownership percentage of 15% . The shares, if ailybavsold by the Company to WPP at the tendegrgffice of $46.13 . The Company expects to
close on these agreements over the following mamths the resolution of customary closing condgion
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Finandidficer, after evaluating the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (thectiange Act”) Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ab@®nd of the period covered by this report
(the “Evaluation Date”), have concluded that athefEvaluation Date, our disclosure controls amat@dures are effective, in all material respeots, t
ensure that information required to be disclosetthénreports that we file and submit under the Brge Act (i) is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported as and when required and (ii) is aotated and communicated to our management, inaduoiim Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timekgcisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control dimancial reporting that occurred during the fougtrarter of 2014 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieaf, our internal control over financial reporting

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). UnHlersupervision and with the participation of oumagement, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conductedevaluation of the effectiveness of our interraitecol over financial reporting as BDfecember 3:
2014 , based on the guidelines established indat&ontrol — Integrated Framework issued by then@iittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 Framework) (COSO). Otwariral control over financial reporting includedipies and procedures that provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityneftial reporting and the preparation of finanstatements for external reporting purposes in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accoumtiimgiples. Based on that evaluation, managemeamtladed that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of DecemberZi14 .

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered pusaticounting firm, which audits our consolidatedfinial statements, has issued an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of oueinil control over financial reporting as of Decem®1, 2014 included at the end of this section.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of comScordnc.

We have audited comScore, Inc.’s internal contvardinancial reporting as of December 31, 201dséul on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Conemiof Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway @@sion (2013 Framework) (the COSO
criteria). comScore, Inc.’s management is respta$dy maintaining effective internal control ovierancial reporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financighogting included in the accompanying Managementis#al Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to exgg@n opinion on the company’s internal controlr dvencial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statelof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@q&@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corgv@r financial reporting, assessing the risk ¢hat
material weakness exists, testing and evaluatiegl@sign and operating effectiveness of internafrobbased on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necesddy aircumstances. We believe that our audit plewia reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesssuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetméor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includésse policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheanaintenance of records that, in reasonableldetai
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disgositions of the assets of the company; (2) idereasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation ofifiahstatements in accordance with generally aece@ccounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordgdordance with authorizations of management amdtdrs of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tideggction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opatétion of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procesunay deteriorate.

In our opinion, comScore, Inc. maintained, in adltarial respects, effective internal control oveaficial reporting as of December 31, 2014 ,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsda the Public Company Accounting Oversight Blo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of comScore, Inc. as of Decemb&03#, and 2013 , and the related consolidatednséatts of operations and comprehensive loss,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each efttiree years in the period ended December 31, @ddmScore, Inc. and our report dated
February 20, 2015 expressed an unqualified opitiiereon.

/sl Emst & Young LLP

McLean, Virginia
February 20, 2015
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable

PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNXCE

The information required by Item 10 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statememthfe 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, anticipated to be filed with the SE@in 120 days after the end of the fiscal yeatexhDecember 31, 2014 . Certain information
required by this item concerning our executiveasffs is set forth in Part I, Item 1 of this AnnReadport on Form 10-K under “Executive Officers of
the Registrant”.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statememthfe 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, anticipated to be filed with the SE@in 120 days after the end of the fiscal yeatexhDecember 31, 2014 .

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statemamthfe 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, anticipated to be filed with the SE@in 120 days after the end of the fiscal yeatexhDecember 31, 2014 .

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS
The following table summarizes our equity compeonsaplans as of December 31, 2014 :

Number of Weighted-
Securities to be Average Number of Securities
Issued Upon Exercise Remaining Available
Exercise of Price of for Future Issuance
Outstanding Outstanding Under Equity
Options, Options, Compensation Plans
Warrants and Warrants (Excluding Securities
Rights and Rights Reflected in Column (a))
Plan Category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrsid 3,390,88" $ 5.34 1,563,11. Q)
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechatglers — — —
Total 3,390,88" % 5.34 1,563,11.

(1) Our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan provides fonaal increases in the number of shares availablssaance thereunder on the first day of each
fiscal year, beginning with our 2008 fiscal yeaqual to the lesser of: (i) 4% of the outstandingrel of our common stock on the last day of the
immediately preceding fiscal year; (ii) 1,800,00@es; or (iii) such other amount as our boardimrfctbrs may determine.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, ANCDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statememthfe 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, anticipated to be filed with the SE@in 120 days after the end of the fiscal yeatexhDecember 31, 2014 .
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by Item 14 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statememthfe 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, anticipated to be filed with the SE@in 120 days after the end of the fiscal yeatexhDecember 31, 2014 .

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part @ #hnnual Report on Form 10-K:
(1) Financial statements and reports of our inddpetrregistered public accounting firm. See (i)eitb Consolidated Financial

Statements at Item 8 and (ii) Iltem 9A of this AnlfRaport on Form 10-K.
(2) All other schedules, for which provision is redd the applicable accounting regulations of tB€ Sare omitted, as the required
information is inapplicable or the information ieepented in the Consolidated Financial Statememtshates thereto in Item 8 of Part Il of this

Annual Report on Form 10-K.
(3) Exhibits. The exhibits filed as part of thipoet are listed under “Exhibits” at subsection @¢b}his Item 15.

(b) Exhibits

88




Table of Contents

Exhibit
No.

3.1(1)
3.2(1)
4.1(1)
10.1(1)
10.2(2)
10.3(1)
10.4(1)
10.5(1)

10.6(3)

10.7(4)*

10.8(2)

10.9(5)

10.10(5)

10.11(6)

10.12(6)
10.13(6)
10.14(7)
21.1

231

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Document

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiote Registrant (Exhibit 3.3)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (kixB8i4)

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (Exhibit 4.1)

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors aneecutive officers (Exhibit 10.1)

2007 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and resg&ptember 8, 2014 (Exhibit 10.2)

Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option under 2@Xjuity Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.7)

Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock und@®?2 Equity Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.8)

Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unitelar 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.9)

Deed of Lease between South of Market LLC (as Lenaljlland comScore, Inc. (as Tenant), dated DeceBhet007
(Exhibit 10.1)

Transition Agreement, dated May 5, 2014, by anavbeh the Registrant and Kenneth J. Tarpey (Exhhit)

Form of Change of Control and Severance Agreemdrted into between the Registrant and each ofeSdegta, Melvin
Wesley lll, Magid M. Abraham, Gian M. Fulgoni an@@eron Meierhoefer (Exhibit 10.1)

Credit Agreement among comScore, Inc., the sulrgdiaf comScore, Inc. identified therein. BankAofierica, N.A., Suntrust
Bank, and the other lenders party thereto, datpteSeer 26, 2013 (Exhibit 10.1)

Security and Pledge Agreement among comScore,thecsubsidiaries of comScore, Inc. party theratbBank of America,
N.A., dated September 26, 2013 (Exhibit 10.2)

Patent Purchase, License and Settlement Agreemerrtcbamong the Company, The Nielsen Company (WE)&nd
NetRatings LLC, dated December 20, 2011 (ExhibiL10

Purchase Agreement by and among the Company antli€lsen Company (US) LLC dated December 20, 204Hif#t 10.2)

Voting Agreement by and among the Company and Tieséh Company (US) LLC dated December 20, 201 hikx10.3)
Summary of 2013 Named Executive Offloeentive Compensation Policy (Exhibit 10.1)

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP
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Exhibit
No.

241

311

31.2

321

32.2

101.1

101.2

101.3

101.4

101.5

101.6

Exhibit
Document

Power of Attorney (see signature page)

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuao Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Bees Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of tHeaBas-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Bées Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of tHeaBas-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuantciio8&06 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuantciio8&06 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Document+

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document+

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuirte
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurten
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document+

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doeni#h

@)
@)
®)
(4)
®)
(6)
@)

XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Languagé&rmation is furnished and not filed herewith, @&t a part of a registration statement or
Prospectus for purposes of sections 11 or 12 oB#wairities Act of 1933, is deemed not filed forgmses of section 18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, and otherwise is not sulifetitibility under these sections.

Confidential treatment has been requested fooréion of this exhibit.

Incorporated by reference to the exhibitsh Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form & Bmended, dated June 26, 2007 (No. 333-
141740). The number given in parentheses indithtesorresponding exhibit number in such Form S-1.

Incorporated by reference to the exhibitshe Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qgfigctober 29, 2014 (File No. 001-33520). The
number given in parentheses indicates the correspg®exhibit number in such Form 10-Q.

Incorporated by reference to the exhibitshinRegistrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filetbfuary 5, 2008 (File No. 001-33520). The
number given in parentheses indicates the correépgmrexhibit number in such Form 8-K.

Incorporated by reference to the exhibit ® Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filedyust 5, 2014 (File No. 001-33520). The
number given in parentheses indicates the correépg®exhibit number in such Form 10-Q.

Incorporated by reference to the exhibitshiw Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q tther quarter ended September 30, 2013, filed
October 29, 2013 (File No. 001-33520). The numidegrgin parentheses indicates the correspondinipigxtumber in such Form 10-Q.

Incorporated by reference to the exhibit ® Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, fileccBmber 21, 2011 (File No. 001-33520). The
number given in parentheses indicates the correspgmrexhibit number in such Form 8-K.

Incorporated by reference to the exhibitshe Registrant’s amended Quarterly Report on For@ 1fled May 13, 2013 (File No. 0033520)
The number given in parentheses indicates the sporeling exhibit number in such Form 10-Q.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereuatyp authorized.

COM S CORE, I NC.

By: /S/ SERGE MATTA
Serge Matta

President, Chief Executive
Officer and Director

February 20, 2015

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below hereby constimigsppoints Serge Matta
and Melvin Wesley, and each of them acting indigitly as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact aggnts, with full power of each to act alone, with
full powers of substitution and resubstitution, fidm and in his name, place and stead, in any Brd@acities, to sign any and all amendmentsig
Annual Report on Form 10-K with all exhibits thereind all documents in connection therewith, wil $ecurities and Exchange Commission,
granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agentt) will power of each to act alone, full power andhority to do and perform each and every act and
thing requisite and necessary to be done in coiamettterewith, as fully for all intents and purpsses he might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirming all that said attorneysfactt and agents, or his or their substitutes, taajully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of 1
registrant and in the capacities and on the datisdted.

Signature Title Date
/ s/ SERGE M ATTA President, Chief Executive Officer and Director bfmry 20, 2015
Serge Matta (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ M ELVIN W ESLEYIII Chief Financial Officer February 20, 2015
Melvin Wesley IlI (Principal Financial and Aaaating Officer)
/s/ M AGID M. A BRAHAM Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors Feby20, 2015

Magid M. Abraham, Ph.D.

/s/ GIAN M. F ULGONI Chairman Emeritus and Director February 20, 2015
Gian M. Fulgoni
/ s/ RUSSELL FRADIN Director February 20, 2015

Russell Fradin

/ s/ W ILLIAM J. HENDERSON Director February 20, 2015
William J. Henderson

I sIWiLLIAM K ATZ Director February 20, 2015
William Katz
/s/ RONALD J. KORN Director February 20, 2015

Ronald J. Korn

/sl JOAN L EwWIS Director February 20, 2015
Joan Lewis
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference inféllewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-1432f&rtaining to the 1999 Stock Plan and the 20§Uiti Incentive Plan of comScore, Inc.;
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-155%3®rtaining to the 2007 Equity Incentive PlarcomScore, Inc.;
(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-189 H2rtaining to the 2007 Equity Incentive PlarcomScore, Inc.;
(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-168§®rtaining to the 2007 Equity Incentive PlarcomScore, Inc.;
(5) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-182&@rtaining to the 2007 Equity Incentive Planaasended and restated, of comScore, Inc.;
(6) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-1B3@2rtaining to the 2007 Equity Incentive Planaasended and restated, of comScore, Inc.;
(7) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-18% p@rtaining to the 2007 Equity Incentive Planaagended and restated, of comScore, Inc.;

(8) Registration Statement (Form S-3, No. 333-1832dr the registration of common stock, prefersgatk, warrants and debt securities of
comScore, Inc.; and

(9) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-193@ertaining to the 2007 Equity Incentive Planaagended and restated, of comScore, Inc.

of our reports dated February 20, 2Q14th respect to the consolidated financial staets of comScore, Inc. and the effectiveness efriat contrc
over financial reporting of comScore, Inc., incldde this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the yeaded December 31, 2014 .

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

McLean, Virginia
February 20, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Serge Matta, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fikomScore, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaor@ny untrue statement of a material fact or eongtate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegaks presented in this report;

4. The registran$ other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contawld procedures (as definec
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 158{{))
for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procsgdareaused such disclosure controls and procedoiige designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the petiin which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over finanaggdarting, or caused such internal control overraial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargarding the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygedeaccounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenttsi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thetrhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiEthe registrant’'s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ines\management or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrastinterna
control over financial reporting.

/s/ SERGE M ATTA
Serge Matta
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 20, 2015



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Melvin Wesley llI, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fikomScore, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaior@ny untrue statement of a material fact or eongtate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegals presented in this report;

4. The registran$ other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contawid procedures (as definec
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 158{{))
for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procsgdareaused such disclosure controls and procedoiige designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the petiin which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over finanaggdarting, or caused such internal control overraial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargarding the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygedeaccounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenttsi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thetrhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiEthe registrant’'s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ines\management or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrastinterna
control over financial reporting.

/sl MELVIN W ESLEY Il
Melvin Wesley IlI
Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 20, 2015



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of comScane, [the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period emgdDecember 31, 2014 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thetaaiof (the “Report”), |, Serge Matta, Chief ExéeaitOfficer of the Company, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 8fedsarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knalgke

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ SERGE M ATTA
Serge Matta
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 20, 2015



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of comScane, [the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period emgdDecember 31, 2014 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thetaaieof (the “Report”), I, Melvin Wesley 11, Chi&financial Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursad906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, thahyoknowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®eAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s MELVIN W ESLEY I
Melvin Wesley IlI
Chief Financial Officer

February 20, 2015



